Charles University in Prague Faculty of Mathematics and Physics

DOCTORAL THESIS



Mgr. Jakub Tichý

# Qualitative properties of solutions to equations of fluid mechanics

Department of Mathematical Analysis

Supervisor of the doctoral thesis: doc. Mgr. Petr Kaplický, Ph.D. Study programme: Physics Specialization: Mathematical and Computer Modelling

Prague 2014

## Acknowledgement

In the first place I would like to thank Petr Kaplický for his enduring support and guidance that have taken all forms possible on the scale from hand-holding to inspiration. Virtually every idea presented in this thesis originated in the stimulating discussions with him. Petr has tutored me in the course of my university years, starting from the bachelor studies, during the master programme and finishing at my doctoral studies, therefore his role of the supervisor could hardly be met with a superior implementation. I have especially appreciated his careful and patient approach, and his friendship. I am hugely indebted to Petr for introducing me to the fascinating areas of mathematics that would have otherwise stayed hidden to me.

I would also like to express my deepest gratitude to my family, in particular to my parents, not only for their support during my studies but for all they have done for me.

Finally I praise the Lord for I can ask myself the question of Paul the Apostle: "What do you have that you did not receive?" (1 Corinthians 4:7)

ii

Ad maiorem Dei gloriam.

# Declaration

I declare that I carried out this doctoral thesis independently, and only with the cited sources, literature and other professional sources.

I understand that my work relates to the rights and obligations under the Act No. 121/2000 Coll., the Copyright Act, as amended, in particular the fact that the Charles University in Prague has the right to conclude a license agreement on the use of this work as a school work pursuant to Section 60 paragraph 1 of the Copyright Act.

In Prague, 22. 6. 2014

Mgr. Jakub Tichý

Název práce: Kvalitativní vlastnosti řešení rovnic mechaniky tekutin

Autor: Mgr. Jakub Tichý

Katedra: Katedra matematické analýzy

Vedoucí disertační práce: doc. Mgr. Petr Kaplický, Ph.D.

Abstrakt: Tato práce se zabývá hraniční regularitou slabých řešení nelineárních parciálních diferenciálních rovnic, které popisují nestlačitelné proudění jisté třídy zobecněných Newtonovských tekutin v omezených oblastech. Pohybová rovnice a rovnice kontinuity jsou doplněny hraničními podmínkami dokonalého skluzu. Pro stacionární zobecněný Stokesův systém v  $\mathbb{R}^n$  s růstovými podmínkami popsanými pomocí N-funkce  $\Phi$  je ukázána existence druhých derivací rychlosti a jejich regularita až do hranice. Pro stejný systém rovnic je dokázána integrovatelnost gtadientů rychlosti.  $L^q$  odhady jsou rovněž získané pro klasický evoluční Stokesův systém pomocí interpolačně-extrapolačních škál. Hölderovská spojitost gradientů rychlosti a tlaku je ukázána pro evoluční zobecněné Navierovy-Stokesovy rovnice v  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

**Klíčová slova:** Zobecněné Stokesovy a Navier - Stokesovy rovnice, nestlačitelné tekutiny, hraniční podmínky dokonalého skluzu, regularita až do hranice

Title: Qualitative properties of solutions to equations of fluid mechanics

Author: Mgr. Jakub Tichý

Department: Department of Mathematical Analysis

Supervisor: doc. Mgr. Petr Kaplický, Ph.D.

Abstract: This thesis is devoted to the boundary regularity of weak solutions to the system of nonlinear partial differential equations describing incompressible flows of a certain class of generalized Newtonian fluids in bounded domains. Equations of motion and continuity equation are complemented with perfect slip boundary conditions. For stationary generalized Stokes system in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with growth condition described by N-function  $\Phi$  the existence of the second derivatives of velocity and their regularity up to the boundary are shown. For the same system of equations integrability of velocity gradients is proven.  $L^q$  estimates are obtained also for classical evolutionary Stokes system via interpolationextrapolation scales. Hölder continuity of velocity gradients and pressure is shown for evolutionary generalized Navier-Stokes equations in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

**Keywords:** Generalized Stokes and Navier - Stokes equations, incompressible fluids, perfect slip boundary conditions, regularity up to the boundary

vi

# Contents

1	Ger	neralized (Navier-) Stokes equations in Orlicz spaces	3
	1.1	Derivation of the model	3
	1.2	Constitutive relations	4
	1.3	Boundary conditions	7
	1.4	Formulation of the problem	8
	1.5	Structure of the thesis	12
<b>2</b>	Diff	erentiability of weak solutions to equations of steady flows	13
	2.1	Main result	13
	2.2	Quadratic potential	15
	2.3	The regularized problem	25
	2.4	Limit passage	36
3	Inte	grability of weak solutions to equations of steady flows	41
	3.1	Main theorem	41
	3.2	Approximative system on a flat boundary	43
	3.3	Flattening	51
	3.4	Comparison	53
	3.5	Proof of the main theorem	57
4	$L^q$ t	heory for classical Stokes system	61
	4.1	Introduction	61
	4.2	Dynamical systems	62
	4.3	$L^q$ theory for Stokes system $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	64
	4.4	Interpolation	67
	4.5	$L^q$ theory for generalized Stokes system	68
<b>5</b>	Full	regularity of weak solutions to equations of evolutionary	
	plar	nar flows	71
	5.1	Main theorem	71
	5.2	Quadratic potential	73
	5.3	Super-quadratic potential	77

2			

6	Con	clusion	85
A	App A.1 A.2 A.3 A.4 A 5	endix         Description of the boundary and differences         N-functions         Bogovskiĭ-type lemmata         Korn-type Inequalities         Miscellaneous	<b>87</b> 87 89 91 94 97
Lis Bil	st of bliog	Notations raphy	105 $107$

# Generalized (Navier-) Stokes equations in Orlicz spaces

### **1.1** Derivation of the model

This thesis is concerned with the qualitative properties of weak solutions to the system of nonlinear partial differential equations describing incompressible flow of a certain class of generalized Newtonian fluids.

In this introductory chapter we mention shortly physical background of the equations. We precisely formulate the problem after a few historical remarks including commentary about constitutive relations and optimal choice of boundary conditions.

We start with the derivation of the differential form of the continuity equation and equation of motion. Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded domain and I = (0, T) a finite time interval. We fix a control volume  $\mathcal{V}(0) \subset \Omega$  and define  $\mathcal{V}(t)$  as a volume occupied by this fluid at the time  $t \in I$ . We assume  $\mathcal{V}(t) \subset \overline{\mathcal{V}(t)} \subset \Omega$ .

The continuity equation represents a mass balance which says that the mass m of any control volume of fluid  $\mathcal{V}(t)$  is independent of the time t. Let  $\varrho$  denote the density and u stands for the velocity of the fluid. In this chapter we suppose that all quantities are sufficiently smooth such that all equations are well defined (for instance  $\varrho, u \in \mathcal{C}^1(I \times \Omega)$ ).

The mass conservation can be formulated as follows

$$\frac{d}{dt}m(\mathcal{V}(t)) = \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\mathcal{V}(t)} \varrho(x,t) \,\mathrm{d}x = 0.$$
(1.1)

We would like to derive the differential form of (1.1). Since  $\mathcal{V}(t)$  depends on t, we can't use the theorem about the differentiation of the integral with respect to the parameter. Instead so called transport theorem can be used. Precise formulation can be found for example in [40, Chapter III.10]. Thus,

$$\partial_t \varrho + \operatorname{div}(\varrho u) = 0. \tag{1.2}$$

If we consider incompressible flows of a homogeneous fluid, the density  $\rho$  is constant and (1.2) reduces to

$$\operatorname{div} u = 0. \tag{1.3}$$

The equations of motion are derived from the balance of linear momentum which asserts that the total force on the control volume  $\mathcal{V}(t)$  is equal to the rate which the linear momentum of the fluid in  $\mathcal{V}(t)$  is increasing plus the rate of outflow of momentum across  $\partial \mathcal{V}(t)$ , c.f. [40, Chapter V.15]. In symbols,

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\mathcal{V}(t)} (\varrho v)(x,t) \, \mathrm{d}x = \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{V}(t),t).$$
(1.4)

In order to derive the differential form of (1.4) we split the force  $\mathcal{F}$  into a body force and a surface force

$$\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{V}(t),t) = \int_{\mathcal{V}(t)} \varrho f(x,t) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial \mathcal{V}(t)} s(x,t,\nu(x)) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma, \tag{1.5}$$

where f is the density of a body force,  $\nu$  a unit outward normal and s is the stress vector expressing action of the fluid outside of  $\mathcal{V}(t)$  at the time t on the control volume  $\mathcal{V}(t)$ . Cauchy theorem, one of the central results of the continuum mechanics states that  $s(\nu)$  is linear in  $\nu$ :

**Theorem 1.1.1** (Cauchy) If  $s(x, \nu)$  is continuous in x, then there is a spatial tensor field  $\mathcal{T}$  (called the Cauchy stress) such that  $s(x, \nu) = T(x)\nu(x)$  for all  $x \in \mathcal{V}$  and arbitrary  $\nu$ .

Sometimes the Cauchy theorem contains the claim that the Cauchy stress  $\mathcal{T}$  is symmetric if and only if the balance of angular momentum is satisfied. The proof can be found in [40, Chapter V.14].

Using the transport theorem, Cauchy and Green theorems we obtain from (1.4) and (1.5) the equation of motion in the following form

$$\partial_t(\varrho u) + \operatorname{div}(\varrho u \otimes u) = \varrho f + \operatorname{div} \mathcal{T}.$$
(1.6)

The equation (1.6) can be further specified. The relations between the Cauchy stress and other quantities describing the flows are characterized by so called rheological equations. We can consider the rheological equation of the form

$$\mathcal{T} = -p\mathbb{I} + \mathcal{T}',$$

where p is the pressure,  $\mathbb{I}$  a unit tensor and  $\mathcal{T}'$  represents friction forces which are consequence of viscosity. If we consider homogeneous incompressible fluids,  $\rho$ is constant. Defining  $\pi = p/\rho$  and  $\mathcal{S} = \frac{1}{\rho}\mathcal{T}'$  we obtain

$$\partial_t u + \operatorname{div}(u \otimes u) = \varrho f - \nabla \pi + \operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}.$$
(1.7)

This formulation of equation of motion and its simplification is crucial for us in this thesis.

#### **1.2** Constitutive relations

In the previous section we briefly mentioned the derivation of equations under interest. Now we would like to discuss how the stress tensor S can depend on

other quantities. Generally we can expect the dependence between the stress tensor  $\mathcal{S}$ , the pressure  $\pi$  and the shear rate, which is represented by a symmetric part of the velocity gradient Du. These relations are called constitutive ones. We start with the linear dependence between  $\mathcal{S}$  and Du and observe the historical evolution of the mathematical description of fluid mechanics with the emphasis on the constitutive relations. Information of this section were put together from [76, Section 1.2] and [15], where the interested reader can find more details.

I. Newton stated in [74]: "The resistance arising from the want of lubricity in parts of the fluid is, other things being equal, proportional to the velocity with which the parts of the fluid are separated from one another." It can be interpreted as to give rise to the linear relationship between the stress tensor S and the shear rate Du, in which the constant of the proportionality is the viscosity. In symbols,

$$\mathcal{S} = 2\mu_0 Du, \quad \mu_0 \in (0, \infty). \tag{1.8}$$

The mathematical description of the fluid motion came relatively late. In the year 1822 the French engineer C.M.L.H. Navier suggested a certain system of partial differential equations as a model describing flows of viscous incompressible fluids. However, his assumptions, under which he deduced the system from molecular physics, appeared to be unrealistic. Surprisingly, G. G. Stokes obtained in 1945 exactly the same system by more rigorous approach, i.e. the system (1.3) and (1.7) with the linear relation between S and Du (1.8).

Modern mathematical attempts to study this system go back to the twenties of the last century. Swedish mathematician and physicist C. W. Oseen [73] studied mostly the system with linearised convective term, but he was also the first one who proposed a weaker version of the formulation to the problem. French mathematician J. Leray followed Oseen's ideas and proved existence and uniqueness of a classical solution in the case when  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^2$  in [63]. However, he failed in the case when  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^3$  and therefore he proposed another approach, which is nowadays known as a weak formulation. J. Leray proved in [64] existence of such solutions for  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^3$ . He was not able to decide, whether these solutions are unique and whether they are smooth if data are so.

After the second world war J. Leray didn't continue in work in mathematical fluid mechanics. A new generation represented by E. Hopf [45], O. A. Ladyzhenskaya [62] or J.-L. Lions [65] appeared. Previous results were extended to many other boundary value problems with similar results as for the Cauchy problem. In particular, in two space dimensions regularity and uniqueness was proven, in three space dimensions only the existence of weak solutions with partial results in the direction of regularity and uniqueness.

Up to this time we have mentioned only the linear relation between the stress tensor S and the shear rate Du. Fluids characterized by the linear dependence (1.8) are called Newtonian. In case of nonlinear relations we talk about non-Newtonian or generalized Newtonian fluids. O. A. Ladyzhenskaya was one of the first ones who suggested to study fluids described by the power-law relation instead of the linear one. On her lecture at International Mathematical Congress in 1966 she suggested among others to study the system (1.7) described by the power-law relation

$$S = 2\mu_0 (1 + |Du|^{p-2}) Du, \quad \mu_0 \in (0, \infty), \ p \in [1, \infty)$$
(1.9)

with the growth p = 4. Later she extended this first results and presented in [59], [60], [61] and [62]. Similar system was considered by J.-L. Lions in [65]. Whereas O. A. Ladyzhenskaya derived non-linear dependence of S on Du with the help of kinetic theory, J.-L. Lions used p-Laplace operator. By combination of monotone operator theory together with compactness they showed existence of the weak solution of power-law model for certain values of p.

Lots of excellent mathematicians extended these results in many directions. Power-law model can be considered as simplest generalization of classical Newtonian fluid and various generalizations such as

$$\mathcal{S} = 2\mu_0(\kappa + |Du|^2)^{\frac{p-2}{2}}, \quad \mu_0, \kappa \in (0, \infty), \ p \in \mathbb{R},$$

$$(1.10)$$

were studied in recent years.

Many results about existence of the weak solutions of (1.7) and (1.3) with some variant of (1.10) and their qualitative properties have been proven. To mention only a few of them, we can refer for example to [8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 31, 32, 34, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 67, 68, 69, 89].

Power-law model can be generalized by using the framework of N-function  $\Phi$  as follows:

$$S = \frac{\Phi'(|Du|)}{|Du|}Du \tag{1.11}$$

for given N-function  $\Phi$ . One of the advantage of this approach is that the constitutive relation (1.11) allows to describe fluids with non-polynomial growth such as

$$\mathcal{S} = \mu_0 (1 + |Du|^2)^{\frac{p-2}{2}} \ln (1 + |Du|) Du, \quad \mu_0 \in (0, \infty).$$
(1.12)

Note that the choice  $\Phi(s) = \frac{1}{p}s^p$  describes the power law model. When we are dealing with (1.9), sometimes the different approach for p > 2 and p < 2 is needed. The setting (1.11) enables to work in a unified way in some cases. Nevertheless, sometimes we still need to distinguish between the case when  $\Phi''$  is almost increasing and almost increasing, which corresponds to p > 2 and p < 2. For more details, see Chapter 2.

The relation (1.11) can be slightly modified in order to catch fluids in which the experimental data are reflected by a convex function  $\Phi$  with different polynomial upper and lower growth.

All the cases and examples of the constitutive relations mentioned above can be covered by the model of fluid with shear-dependent viscosity:

$$\mathcal{S} = \mu(|Du|)Du, \quad \mu : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+.$$
(1.13)

The dominant departure from the Newtonian behaviour, captured by the constitutive relation (1.13), are effects such as shear thickening and shear thinning. It seems to be useful to describe by this model for example the behaviour of very dilute polymeric liquids or low molecular weights biological liquids. Although we don't study more general constitutive relation than (1.13) in this thesis, for a sake of completeness we point out that recently there was developed theory for implicitly constituted incompressible fluid with response described by the implicit relation

$$G(\mathcal{S}, Du, \pi) = 0. \tag{1.14}$$

For more details and some consequences that come from this general viewpoint we refer to the original work [77, 78, 79]. In comparison with traditional models, in which S is a function of Du, the implicit equation (1.14) is capable of capturing several non-Newtonian phenomena, except shear thinning and shear thickening mentioned above also pressure thickening or various activation and deactivation criteria. A simple example that falls to the class given by (1.14) is following

$$G(S, Du) = \mu(|Du|)(\tau + (|S| - \tau)^{+})D - (|S| - \tau)^{+}S,$$
(1.15)

where  $x^+ = \max\{0, x\}$ . One can easily observe that (1.15) is equivalent to the traditional description of fluid of Bingham or Herschel-Bulkley type:

$$|\mathcal{S}| \le \tau \Leftrightarrow Du = 0, \quad |\mathcal{S}| > \tau \Leftrightarrow \mathcal{S} = \frac{\tau Du}{|Du|} + \mu(|Du|)Du$$

For the existence theory of implicitly constituted fluids and some further information about the model see [14, 15, 16].

#### **1.3** Boundary conditions

Although the system (1.3) with (1.7) together with the boundedness of the domain  $\Omega$  represents a boundary value problem, up to now we haven't been spoken about boundary conditions. We discuss briefly the influence of the boundary and appropriate choice of the boundary conditions. This section was inspired by [70, Section 4], where interested reader can find more details.

We start with the simplest case when we don't need to deal with the influence of the boundary. Sometimes we are interested in the behaviour of fluid in the interior of the domain  $\Omega$  and it is convenient to eliminate completely the presence of the boundary. It can be realized in two ways. First, assume that the fluid occupies the whole space, i.e.  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$ , and velocity vanishes at  $|x| \to +\infty$ . Then we are interested in knowing the properties of the velocity u and pressure  $\pi$  of the governing equations at any instant of the time t > 0 and any position  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Second, assume that for a positive constant L the velocity u and pressure  $\pi$  are L-periodic at each direction  $x_i$  with zero mean values. Here  $\Omega = (0, L)^n$  is a periodic cell. Advantage of this second case consist in working on a domain with a compact closure.

In most cases we can't neglect the presence of the boundary. Boundary conditions require an understanding of the nature of the bodies that are divided by the boundary. A variety of suggestions were put forward by the pioneers of the field, Bernoulli, DuBuat, Navier, Poisson, Grad, Stokes and others, as to the condition that ought to be applied on the boundary between an impervious solid and a liquid.

G. G. Stokes [84] knew from DuBuat's experiment with water flowing through a pipe that for small velocities the water near the inner surface of the pipe is at rest. In this case no-slip boundary conditions,

$$u = 0 \text{ at } \partial\Omega, \tag{1.16}$$

seems to be suitable. Nevertheless, Stokes believed that for the higher velocities the fluid is slipping at the boundary. The determination of appropriate boundary conditions was an open problem for him.

C. L. M. H. Navier [71] derived a slip boundary conditions which can be generalized to the condition

$$(1-\lambda)u \cdot \tau + \lambda[\mathcal{S}\nu] \cdot \tau = 0, \quad \lambda \in [0,1] \text{ at } \partial\Omega.$$
 (1.17)

If the boundary is impermeable, the normal component of the velocity is equal to zero and therefore we add to (1.17) the relation

$$u \cdot \nu = 0 \text{ at } \partial \Omega. \tag{1.18}$$

The above mentioned boundary conditions (1.17) with (1.18), when  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$  are referred to as the slip boundary conditions or Navier boundary conditions. If  $\lambda = 0$  we obtain classical no-slip boundary condition (1.16). If  $\lambda = 1$  we talk about perfect slip boundary conditions. We point out that in this thesis we are mostly interested in perfect slip boundary conditions.

The parameter  $\lambda$  is usually assumed to be a constant but it could however be a function of the normal stresses and the shear rate. Then the Navier's boundary conditions can be generalized to

$$u \cdot \tau + \lambda (\mathcal{S}\nu \cdot \nu, |Du|) [\mathcal{S}\nu] \cdot \tau = 0 \text{ at } \partial\Omega.$$

Another boundary conditions that are sometimes used, especially when dealing with non-Newtonian fluids, are the threshold-slip conditions, which can be expressed as follows:

$$|\mathcal{S}\nu\cdot\tau| \le \alpha |\mathcal{S}\nu\cdot\nu| \Rightarrow u\cdot\tau = 0, \quad |\mathcal{S}\nu\cdot\tau| > \alpha |\mathcal{S}\nu\cdot\nu| \Rightarrow u\cdot\tau \neq 0, \quad -\gamma \frac{u\cdot\nu}{|u\cdot\nu|} = \mathcal{S}\nu\cdot\tau,$$

where  $\alpha$  is a positive constant and  $\gamma = \gamma(S\nu \cdot \nu, u \cdot \tau, |Du|)$ . The above mentioned conditions implies that fluid will not slip until the ration of the magnitude of shear stress and the magnitude of the normal stress exceeds a certain value. When it does exceed that value, it will slip and the slip velocity will depend on both the shear and normal stresses.

## 1.4 Formulation of the problem

After physical motivation and a few historical remarks we state the problem that is studied in following chapters. Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $n \ge 2$  be a bounded domain, I = (0, T) a finite time interval and  $I \times \Omega$  a time space cylinder. We investigate qualitative properties of weak solutions to equations of flows of the incompressible generalized Newtonian fluids described by (1.7) and (1.3) complemented with perfect slip boundary conditions, i.e.

$$\partial_t u - \operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}(Du) + \operatorname{div}(u \otimes u) + \nabla \pi = f \qquad \text{in } I \times \Omega, \qquad (1.19)$$

 $\operatorname{div} u = 0 \qquad \qquad \operatorname{in} I \times \Omega, \qquad (1.20)$ 

$$u(0,\cdot) = u_0 \qquad \qquad \text{in } \Omega, \qquad (1.21)$$

$$u \cdot \nu = 0, \quad [\mathcal{S}(Du)\nu] \cdot \tau = 0 \qquad \text{on } I \times \partial \Omega.$$
 (1.22)

Recall that u is the velocity,  $\pi$  represents the pressure, f stands for the density of volume forces and S denotes the extra stress tensor. Du is the symmetric part of the velocity gradient, i.e.  $Du = \frac{1}{2} [\nabla u + (\nabla u)^{\top}]$ . By  $\nu$  we denote an outward normal vector and  $\tau$  stands for any tangent vector to  $\partial \Omega$ .

Some chapters are devoted to the stationary variant of (1.19)-(1.22) without convective term:

$$-\operatorname{div}\mathcal{S}(Du) + \nabla\pi = f \qquad \text{in }\Omega, \qquad (1.23)$$

$$\operatorname{div} u = 0 \qquad \qquad \text{in } \Omega, \qquad (1.24)$$

$$u \cdot \nu = 0, \quad [\mathcal{S}(Du)\nu] \cdot \tau = 0 \qquad \text{on } I \times \partial \Omega.$$
 (1.25)

To formulate the assumptions on the stress tensor S precisely we state some basic facts about N-functions. More information about N-functions can be found in Section A.2. We refer also to [55] or [80].

**Definition 1.4.1** A real function  $\Phi : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+$  is called N-function if the derivative  $\Phi'(s)$  exists and is right continuous for  $s \ge 0$ , positive for s > 0, non-decreasing,  $\Phi'(0) = 0$  and  $\lim_{s\to\infty} \Phi'(s) = \infty$ .

**Definition 1.4.2** N-function  $\Phi$  is said to satisfy the  $\Delta_2$ -condition, denoted  $\Phi \in \Delta_2$ , if there exists a positive constant C, such that  $\Phi(2s) \leq C\Phi(s)$  for s > 0. By  $\Delta_2(\Phi)$  we denote the smallest such constant C.

By  $(\Phi')^{-1} : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+$  we denote the function

$$(\Phi')^{-1}(s) := \sup\{t \in \mathbb{R}^+ : \Phi'(t) \le s\}.$$

The complementary function of  $\Phi$  (which is again N-function) is defined as

$$\Phi^*(s) := \int_0^s (\Phi')^{-1}(t) \,\mathrm{d}t$$

For a measurable function f we can define gauge norm as

$$||f||_{\Phi} := \inf \left\{ \lambda > 0 : \int_{\Omega} \Phi\left(\frac{|f(x)|}{\lambda}\right) \mathrm{d}x \le 1 \right\}.$$

The Orlicz space  $L^{\Phi}(\Omega)$  is defined as the set  $\{f : ||f||_{\Phi,\Omega} < \infty\}$ . We define

$$W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^n = \{\varphi_i \in W^{1,\Phi}(\Omega), i = 1, \dots, n, \varphi \cdot \nu = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega, \operatorname{div} \varphi = 0\}$$

We consider the constitutive relation for S of the form (1.13)

$$\mathcal{S} = \mu(|Du|)Du,$$

where  $\mu : [0, \infty) \mapsto [0, \infty)$  is generally non-constant function called generalized viscosity. Construct a scalar potential  $\Phi : [0, \infty) \mapsto [0, \infty)$  to the stress tensor S as follows:

$$\mathcal{S}_{ij}(A) = \partial_{ij}\Phi(|A|) = \Phi'(|A|)\frac{A_{ij}}{|A|}, \quad \mu(|A|) = \frac{\Phi'(|A|)}{|A|} \quad \forall A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}_{sym}.$$
(1.26)

By  $f \sim g$  we mean that there are positive constants c and C such that  $cf \leq g \leq Cf$ . We require the following assumption to be fulfilled:

Assumption 1.4.3 Suppose that  $\Phi \in C^{1,1}(0,\infty) \cap C^1[0,\infty)$  is an N-function,  $\Phi \in \Delta_2, \ \Phi^* \in \Delta_2 \ and \ for \ s > 0$ 

$$\Phi'(s) \sim s\Phi''(s) \tag{1.27}$$

and  $\Phi''(s)$  is almost monotone, i.e. there exists C > 0 such that for all  $s \in (0, t]$  either  $\Phi''(s) \leq C\Phi''(t)$  (almost increasing) or  $\Phi''(s) \geq C\Phi''(t)$  (almost decreasing).

**Remark 1.4.4** Every N-function  $\Phi$  satisfying  $\Delta_2$ -condition automatically satisfies

$$\Phi(s) \sim s\Phi'(s).$$

The relation (1.26) and Assumption 1.4.3 give us non-standard  $\Phi$ -growth conditions, see [22, Lemma 21].

**Corollary 1.4.5** There are constants  $C_1, C_2 > 0$  that for all  $A, B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}_{sum}$  holds

$$(\mathcal{S}(A) - \mathcal{S}(B)) \cdot (A - B) \ge C_1 \Phi''(|A| + |B|)|A - B|^2, |\mathcal{S}(A) - \mathcal{S}(B)| \le C_2 \Phi''(|A| + |B|)|A - B|.$$
 (1.28)

**Example 1.4.6** Let us mention that growth conditions (1.28) allow to consider models with a great deal of disparity, for example, power-law models

$$\mathcal{S}(Du) = \mu_0 (1 + |Du|^2)^{\frac{p-2}{2}} Du, \quad \Phi(|Du|) = \mu_0 \int_0^{|Du|} (1 + s^2)^{\frac{p-2}{2}} s \, \mathrm{d}s,$$
$$\mathcal{S}(Du) = \mu_0 (1 + |Du|)^{p-2} Du, \quad \Phi(|Du|) = \mu_0 \int_0^{|Du|} (1 + s)^{p-2} s \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

 $\mu_0 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ ,  $p \in (1, \infty)$ . Also the singular case

$$\mathcal{S}(Du) = \mu_0 |Du|^{p-2} Du, \quad \Phi(|Du|) = \mu_0 \int_0^{|Du|} s^{p-1} \,\mathrm{d}s$$

is included.

We define function V and N-function  $\Psi$  which are very well suited for expressing differentiability properties of weak solutions. Definition of the function V in the framework of Orlicz spaces was first given in [22].

For given  $\Phi$  we define the N-function  $\Psi$  by

$$\Psi'(s) := \sqrt{\Phi'(s)s}.$$

and we define V(A) such that  $\Psi(|A|)$  is a scalar potential to V(A), i.e.

$$V_{ij}(A) := \partial_{ij} \Psi(|A|) = \Psi'(|A|) \frac{A_{ij}}{|A|} \quad \forall A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}_{sym}.$$

It is shown in [22, Lemma 25] that

$$\Psi''(s) \sim \sqrt{\Phi''(s)}.\tag{1.29}$$

**Example 1.4.7** In the case of power-law models from Example 1.4.6 we have

$$V(Du) = \mu_0 (1 + |Du|^2)^{\frac{p-2}{4}} Du, \quad \Psi(|Du|) = \mu_0 \int_0^{|Du|} (1 + s^2)^{\frac{p-2}{4}} s \, \mathrm{d}s,$$
$$V(Du) = \mu_0 (1 + |Du|)^{\frac{p-2}{2}} Du, \quad \Psi(|Du|) = \mu_0 \int_0^{|Du|} (1 + s)^{\frac{p-2}{2}} s \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

 $\mu_0 \in \mathbb{R}^+, p \in (1, \infty)$ . Also the singular case

$$V(|Du|) = \mu_0 |Du|^{\frac{p-2}{2}} Du, \quad \Psi(|Du|) = \mu_0 \int_0^{|Du|} s^{\frac{p}{2}} \, \mathrm{d}s$$

is included.

Some results demand to specify the shape of the domain  $\Omega$ , thus we give the definition of axisymmetric domain in the same way as in [20, Definition-Lemma 1].

**Definition 1.4.8** Let  $\Omega$  be a smooth bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $n \geq 2$ . We say that  $\Omega$  is axisymmetric if and only if there exists a nontrivial rigid motion R which is tangent to  $\partial\Omega$ ; or equivalently, which satisfies for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$   $e^{tR}\Omega = \Omega$ . Here  $e^{tR}$  is the isometry defined via  $\frac{d}{dt}e^{tR}(x) = Re^{tR}(x)$ .

By rigid motions R we understand affine maps  $R : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^n$  whose linear part is antisymmetric. If we consider the most common dimensions n = 2 and n = 3we can use a simpler definition. A domain in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  is axisymmetric if it has a circular symmetry around some point. A domain in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  is axisymmetric if it admits an axis of symmetry, i.e. the domain is preserved by a rotation of arbitrary angle around this axis. If the domain admits two nonparallel axes of symmetry, then it is spherically symmetric around some point.

## 1.5 Structure of the thesis

In this thesis we present results which from papers [54, 66, 85]. Unlike the articles we were able to bring forward more detailed proof in some parts. An example is Section 2.2 in Chapter 2 regarding difference quotient technique. In paper [54] this section is reduced to the short paragraph. We would like to point out that the notation from the three papers is unified.

We briefly describe the main result of each chapter and connection with the other chapters. Chapter 2 is concerned with the steady generalized Stokes system (1.23) and (1.24) complemented with perfect slip boundary conditions (1.25). The nonlinear elliptic operator satisfies non-standard  $\Phi$ -growth conditions described in Assumption 1.4.3. We show the existence of the second derivatives of the velocity and their regularity up to the boundary of  $\Omega$ . These results can be also found in the paper [54].

Together with Václav Mácha we were able to extend the results from Chapter 2 and show higher integrability of the first gradient of weak solutions to the system (1.23)-(1.25). These results can be found in [66] and we bring them forward in Chapter 3. At this point we would like to accentuate that Chapter 3 consist of a joint work with Václav Mácha.

In Chapter 5 we study evolutionary generalized Navier–Stokes system (1.19)-(1.21) in two dimensions under perfect slip boundary conditions (1.22). The extra stress tensor S is assumed to possess p-potential structure with  $p \ge 2$ , therefore it is a special variant of more general setting of a framework of N-functions. Results from Chapter 2 together with Chapter 4 (which provides  $L^q$  theory for classical evolutionary Stokes system under perfect slip boundary conditions) allow us to show Hölder continuity of velocity gradients and pressure. Chapters 4 and 5 consist of the results from [85].

# 4

# Differentiability of weak solutions to equations of steady flows

#### 2.1 Main result

This chapter is concerned with steady flows of an incompressible fluid in a bounded domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $n \ge 2$  described by the system (1.23)–(1.25):

in $\Omega$ ,	$\mathcal{S}(Du) + \nabla \pi = f$	$-\operatorname{div}$
in $\Omega$ ,	$\operatorname{div} u = 0$	
on $I \times \partial \Omega$ .	$[\mathcal{S}(Du)\nu]\cdot\tau=0$	$u \cdot \nu = 0,$

Standard notation is used for Lebesgue spaces  $(L^p(\Omega), \|\cdot\|_p)$ , Sobolev spaces  $(W^{k,p}(\Omega), \|\cdot\|_{k,p}), 1 \leq p \leq \infty, k \in \mathbb{N}$ , Orlicz spaces  $(L^{\Phi}(\Omega), \|\cdot\|_{\Phi})$  and Orlicz-Sobolev spaces  $(W^{1,\Phi}(\Omega), \|\cdot\|_{1,\Phi}), \Omega$  is a domain with  $\mathcal{C}^3$  boundary.

We begin with the definition of the weak solution of the problem (1.23)-(1.25).

**Definition 2.1.1** We say that the function u is the weak solution to the problem (1.23)–(1.25) if  $u \in W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^n$  and

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du) : D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} f \cdot \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x$$

holds<sup>1</sup> for all  $\varphi \in W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^n$ .

It is well known that the weak solution exists and is unique. It could be easily proven using the monotone operator theory.

Now we are ready to state the main theorem of this chapter.

**Theorem 2.1.2** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded non-axisymmetric  $\mathcal{C}^3$  domain,

 $f \in W^{1,\Phi^*}(\Omega)^n$  and suppose Assumption 1.4.3 is fulfilled. Let u be a weak solution to (1.23)–(1.25). Then there exists constant C independent of u such that

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla V(Du)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \Big( \int_{\Omega} \Phi^*(|f|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \Phi^*(|\nabla f|) \, \mathrm{d}x \Big).$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>As we use the notation  $W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^n$  for vector-valued functions with components in the function space  $W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\Omega)$ , we use analogically the notation  $W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^{n\times n}$  for tensor-valued functions.

If moreover  $f = \operatorname{div} g$  and  $g \in L^{(\Phi^*)^q}$ ,  $q \in [1, \frac{n}{n-2}]$  for  $n \geq 3$ ,  $q \in [1, \infty)$  for n = 2, then the corresponding pressure  $\pi$  satisfies

$$\int_{\Omega} (\Phi^*(|\pi - \langle \pi \rangle_{\Omega}|))^q \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{\Omega} (\Phi^*(|g|))^q \, \mathrm{d}x + C \Big( \int_{\Omega} \Phi^*(|\nabla g|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \Phi^*(|\nabla^2 g|) \, \mathrm{d}x \Big)^q.$$

$$(2.1)$$

**Remark 2.1.3** (Assumptions on f and the domain  $\Omega$ ) For a special choice of  $\Phi$ , assumption on f could be weakened. For example if we would consider  $\Phi$  such that  $\Phi''$  is bounded and decreasing (which corresponds to the power-law model with p < 2 and non-singular case), it is sufficient to take  $f \in L^{\Phi^*}(\Omega)^n$ , cf. [52].

The assumption on the shape of  $\Omega$  is related to the boundary condition  $u \cdot \nu = 0$ on  $\partial \Omega$ . In several parts of the proof we use a stronger version of Korn's inequality, see Lemma A.4.2, which is valid if the domain  $\Omega$  is not axisymmetric (if we considered homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions, then an arbitrary shape of the domain would be admissible in the formulation of Korn's inequality).

In this part we would like to mention the paper [29], where the author obtains, with a different method, result very similar to our results. C. Ebmeyer studies the problem (1.23)-(1.25) where the equation of motion contains the convective term div $(u \otimes u)$  and  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ . He supposes that the tensor S has the *p*-potential structure and is interested in the case p < 2. The author obtains the regularity results in Sobolev spaces with fractional derivatives and in Nikolskii's spaces. Among others, he shows  $\int_{\Omega} (\kappa + |Du|)^{p-2} |\nabla Du|^2 dx < \infty$ ,  $\kappa \in \{0, 1\}$  for  $p \in (\frac{9}{5}, 2)$  in the case of power-law Navier-Stokes system and for  $p \in (1, 2)$  in the case of power-law Stokes system. He uses the fact that perfect slip boundary conditions allow to extend the solution beyond the flat boundary. Results are formulated for the flat boundary and, by the local change of coordinates for the general shape of the boundary.

In [12] the authors are concerned with the system (1.23) and (1.24) equipped with homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions. The extra stress tensor is given by a power-law ansatz with exponent  $p \ge 2$ . Among others they show that  $V(Du) \in W^{1,\frac{2q}{p+q-2}}(\Omega)^{n\times n}$  for  $q = \frac{np+2-p}{n-2}$ , if  $n \ge 3$  and for all  $q < \infty$ , if n = 2. In tangential directions they are able to improve regularity properties to  $\int_{\Omega} |\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} V(Du)|^2 dx < \infty$ , but in the normal direction there is a loss of regularity due to the absence of some special weighted version of Korn's inequality and the presence of pressure.

In [50, Theorem 3] the authors show a regularity result for non-circular domain in 2D and with an additional assumption in [50, Theorem 4] the same result is established for a circle.

The proof of Theorem 2.1.2 is divided into three main parts. In the first part, Section 2.2, we show that for the quadratic potential, i.e.  $\Phi''$  is bounded from below and from above (which corresponds to the case p = 2 in the power-law models), the solution u belongs to the space  $W^{2,2}(\Omega)^n$ . In the second part, Section 2.3, we introduce the regularized problem where instead of the generalized

viscosity  $\mu$  we consider truncated viscosity  $\mu^{\varepsilon} = \min\left(\max(\mu(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|), \varepsilon), \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)$  for  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ . Using the fact that for the regularized problem  $u^{e\varepsilon} \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)^n$ , we show that the term  $\int_{\Omega} \mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|)|\partial_n Du^{e\varepsilon}|^2 dx$  can be estimated by lower order terms and small same order terms, see Lemma 2.3.2. The main idea is to test the regularized version of (1.23) by second normal derivatives (up to some correction), which is possible due to perfect slip boundary conditions. Further we obtain similar result for the term  $\int_{\Omega} \mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|)|\partial_{\alpha}Du^{e\varepsilon}|^2 dx$ ,  $\alpha \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ , see Lemma 2.3.6. It can be done by taking tangent derivative of regularized version of (1.23) and testing by suitable function. We finish Section 2.3 by putting together estimates from Lemma 2.3.2 and Lemma 2.3.6, estimating lower order terms and absorbing small same order terms into the left hand side. Although we are using the function  $\mu^{\varepsilon}$  in Section 2.3, due to the Assumption 1.4.3 and constitutive relation (1.13) we have  $\mu(s) \sim \Phi''(s)$  and due to (1.29) we easily obtain the result in the terms of the function  $V^{\varepsilon}$ . In the third part, Section 2.4, we pass from the regularized problem to the original one.

### 2.2 Quadratic potential

In this section we will confine ourselves to the case  $\Phi''$  is bounded from below and from above. In the definition of the weak solution, Definition 2.1.1, the space  $W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^n$  reduces to  $W^{1,2}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^n$ .

**Lemma 2.2.1** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\Omega \in \mathcal{C}^3$ ,  $f \in L^2(\Omega)^n$ . Let Assumption 1.4.3 be fulfilled and  $\Phi'' \in [c_3, c_4] \subset (0, \infty)$ . Then for every weak solution to the problem (1.23)–(1.25) holds

$$u \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)^n, \quad \pi \in W^{1,2}(\Omega).$$

Proof. We will follow the proof in [68, Section 3] where the authors are dealing with the evolutionary case in 3D under homogeneous Dirichlet boundary condition. The authors are interested in the power-law model for case  $p \ge 2$ . The proof is supposed to be divided to the interior regularity and the boundary regularity. We will focus only on the boundary regularity, because the interior regularity can be easily proved by the simple modification of the computation below. The proof consist of three steps. At first we focus on boundary regularity of u in tangent direction, later we obtain similar estimate for u in normal direction and at the end we reconstruct pressure  $\pi$ .

#### Step 1 Boundary regularity in tangent direction

In this step we work in the local system of coordinates. We suppose that in a neighborhood of  $P \in \partial \Omega$  we can describe the boundary as a graph of a suitably smooth function. By  $\Omega_{R_0}$  we understand an intersection of the domain  $\Omega$  with a ball with radius  $R_0$  and center P. Let  $0 < r \leq R \leq \frac{R_0}{2}$ .  $T_{\alpha} : \Omega_R \to \Omega_{R_0}$  denotes the shift operator in tangent direction.  $\delta^+_{\alpha}$  stands for the differences, i.e.  $\delta^+_{\alpha}g(y) = g(T_{\alpha}y) - g(y)$ . For properties of differences and precise description of the boundary see Section A.1.

We start with the weak formulation

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du)(y) : D(\psi(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y = \int_{\Omega} f(y) \cdot \psi(y) \, \mathrm{d}y, \qquad (2.2)$$

which is fulfilled for  $\psi \in W^{1,2}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^n$ , supp  $\psi \subset \Omega_R$ .

The goal is to derive the identity which contains differences of each term of the equation (2.2). To reach this, we need to test by  $\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y)$  instead  $\psi(y)$ . This function doesn't belong to  $W_{\sigma}^{1,2}(\Omega)^n$  because nor div  $\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y) \neq 0$  neither  $\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y) \cdot \nu \neq 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ . That's why we introduce the following correction:

$$\varphi_{cor}(y) := \varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y) - (\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y) \cdot \delta_{\alpha}^{-}\nu(y))\nu(y) + z_{c}(y),$$

where  $z_c(y)$  is the solution to the problem

$$\operatorname{div} z_c(y) = \operatorname{div} [-\varphi(T^{-1}y) + (\varphi(T^{-1}y) \cdot \delta_{\alpha}^{-}\nu(y))\nu(y)] \quad \text{in } \Omega,$$
  
$$z_c(y) = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega,$$

 $\operatorname{supp} z_c \subset \Omega_R$ . On  $\partial \Omega$  it holds

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} \left[ -\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y) + (\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y) \cdot \delta_{\alpha}^{-}\nu(y))\nu(y) \right] \cdot \nu(y) \,\mathrm{d}y = 0.$$

Because of  $z_c(y)$  we have div  $\varphi_{cor}(y) = 0$  and we can also easily see that  $\varphi_{cor}(y) \cdot \nu(y) = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ . It means that  $\varphi_{cor}(y)$  is good test function. Putting  $\psi(y) := \varphi_{cor}(y)$  in (2.2) we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du)(y) : D(\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y)) \, \mathrm{d}y$$
  
$$- \int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du)(y) : [(D(\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y))\delta_{\alpha}^{-}\nu(y)) \otimes \nu(y)] \, \mathrm{d}y$$
  
$$- \int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du)(y) : [(\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y)D(\delta_{\alpha}^{-}\nu(y))) \otimes \nu(y)] \, \mathrm{d}y$$
  
$$- \int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du)(y) : (\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y) \cdot \delta_{\alpha}^{-}\nu(y))D(\nu(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y$$
  
$$+ \int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du)(y) : D(z_{c}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y = \int_{\Omega} f(y)\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y) \, \mathrm{d}y$$
  
$$- \int_{\Omega} f(y)(\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y) \cdot \delta_{\alpha}^{-}\nu(y))\nu(y) \, \mathrm{d}y + \int_{\Omega} f(y)z_{c}(y) \, \mathrm{d}y.$$
  
(2.3)

In the first term of (2.3) there is the derivative of the composite function  $D(\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}(y)))$ , but we need  $D\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y)$ . To reach this we apply Lemma A.1.3 which provides:

$$D(\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y)) = D\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y) + \partial_n\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y) \otimes_S (\delta_{\alpha}^{-}\nabla a).$$

In some terms we use the substitution  $y = T_{\alpha}x$ . From Section A.1 we know that dy = dx, because the Jacobian of the mapping  $T_{\alpha}$  and  $T_{\alpha}^{-1}$  is equal to 1. In (2.2) we put  $\psi(y) := \varphi(x)$  and subtract (2.2) from the resulting equation (2.3). We get

$$0 = \int_{\Omega} \delta_{\alpha}^{+} \mathcal{S}(Du)(x) : D(\varphi(x)) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
  
+ 
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du)(T_{\alpha}x) : [\partial_{n}\varphi(x) \otimes_{S} (\delta_{\alpha}^{-}\nabla a)] \, \mathrm{d}x$$
  
- 
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du)(y) : [(D(\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y))\delta_{\alpha}^{-}\nu(y)) \otimes \nu(y)] \, \mathrm{d}y$$
  
- 
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du)(y) : [(\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y)D(\delta_{\alpha}^{-}\nu(y))) \otimes \nu(y)] \, \mathrm{d}y$$
  
- 
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du)(y) : (\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y) \cdot \delta_{\alpha}^{-}\nu(y))D(\nu(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y$$
  
+ 
$$\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du)(y) : D(z_{c}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y - \int_{\Omega} \delta_{\alpha}^{+}f(x)\varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
  
+ 
$$\int_{\Omega} f(y)(\varphi(T_{\alpha}^{-1}y) \cdot \delta_{\alpha}^{-}\nu(y))\nu(y) \, \mathrm{d}y - \int_{\Omega} f(y)z_{c}(y) \, \mathrm{d}y =: \sum_{i=1}^{9} \mathcal{A}_{i}$$

valid for the test function  $\varphi \in W^{1,2}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^n$ ,  $\operatorname{supp} \varphi \subset \Omega_R$ .

We choose  $\varphi = \varphi_a + \varphi_b + \varphi_c$  such that

$$\varphi_a + \varphi_b = \frac{1}{h^2} \delta^+_{\alpha} u(x) \xi^2(x) + \frac{1}{h^2} \nu_u(x) \xi^2(x), \qquad (2.5)$$

where  $\nu_u(x) := (u(Tx) \cdot \delta^+_{\alpha} \nu(x))\nu(x), h \in (0, \frac{R_0}{2})$  and the cut-off function  $\xi(x) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(B_R(P))$  is defined as follows:

$$\xi(x) \begin{cases} = 1 & x \in B_r(P), \\ \in (0,1) & x \in B_R(P) \setminus B_r(P), \\ = 0 & x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_R(P). \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

We can easily see that condition  $(\varphi_a + \varphi_b) \cdot \nu = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$  holds and  $\operatorname{supp}(\varphi_a + \varphi_b) \subset \Omega_R$ . But generally it doesn't hold that  $\operatorname{div}(\varphi_a + \varphi_b) = 0$ . That's why the correction  $\varphi_c \in W^{1,2}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^n$  with  $\operatorname{supp} \varphi_c \subset \Omega_R$  is included in the test function  $\varphi$ . It is defined as a solution to the problem

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{div} \varphi_c &= \operatorname{div} (-\varphi_a - \varphi_b) & \text{in } \Omega, \\ \varphi_c &= 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{aligned}$$

The compatibility condition is fulfilled, since

$$0 = \int_{\partial\Omega} \varphi_c \cdot \nu \, \mathrm{d}\sigma = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \varphi_c \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} (-\varphi_a - \varphi_b) \, \mathrm{d}x =$$
$$= -\int_{\partial\Omega} (\varphi_a + \varphi_b) \cdot \nu \, \mathrm{d}\sigma = 0.$$

Bogovskii's Lemma A.3.1 provides following estimate of  $z_c$  and  $\varphi_c$ :

$$\|z_c\|_{1,r}^r \le Ch^r \|\varphi\|_{1,r}^r, \tag{2.7}$$

$$\|\varphi_c\|_{1,r}^r \le C \|\operatorname{div}(\varphi_a + \varphi_b)\|_r^r.$$
(2.8)

Using the definition of  $\varphi_a + \varphi_b$  and the incompressibility conditions div u = 0, (2.8) can be rewritten as

$$\|\varphi_c\|_{1,r}^r \le \frac{C}{h^r} \|u\|_{1,r}^r (1 + \|\nabla\xi\|_{\infty}^r).$$
(2.9)

With the knowledge (2.5) and (2.9) we get the estimate of  $z_c$ :

$$\|z_{c}\|_{1,r}^{r} \leq C\Big(\Big\|\frac{\nabla\delta_{\alpha}^{+}u}{h}\xi\Big\|_{r}^{r} + \|u\|_{1,r}^{r}(1+\|\nabla\xi\|_{\infty}^{r})\Big).$$
(2.10)

Let's estimate:

$$\mathcal{A}_1 = \int_{\Omega_R} \int_0^1 \partial_{ij} \mathcal{S}_{kl} (Du + \lambda \delta^+_\alpha Du) \delta^+_\alpha D_{ij} u D_{kl} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Using Lemma A.1.3 we get

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{1} &= \int_{\Omega_{R}} \int_{0}^{1} \partial_{ij} \mathcal{S}_{kl} (Du + \lambda \delta_{\alpha}^{+} Du) [D_{ij} \delta_{\alpha}^{+} u \\ &- \left( (\partial_{n} u) (Tx) \otimes_{S} \delta_{\alpha}^{+} \nabla a \right)_{ij} ] D_{kl} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_{\Omega_{R}} \int_{0}^{1} \partial_{ij} \mathcal{S}_{kl} (Du + \lambda \delta_{\alpha}^{+} Du) D_{ij} (\delta_{\alpha}^{+} u) D_{kl} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &- \int_{\Omega_{R}} \int_{0}^{1} \partial_{ij} \mathcal{S}_{kl} (Du + \lambda \delta_{\alpha}^{+} Du) \left( (\partial_{n} u) (Tx) \otimes_{S} \delta_{\alpha}^{+} \nabla a \right)_{ij} D_{kl} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &=: \mathcal{A}_{1.1} - \mathcal{A}_{1.2}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{1.1} = \frac{1}{h^2} \int_{\Omega_R} \int_0^1 \partial_{ij} \mathcal{S}_{kl} (Du + \lambda \delta^+_\alpha Du) D_{ij} \delta^+_\alpha u \Big[ D_{kl} \delta^+_\alpha u \xi^2(x) + 2[\delta^+_\alpha u]_k \xi \partial_l \xi + D_{kl} \nu_u \xi^2 + 2[\nu_u]_k \xi \partial_l \xi + D_{kl} \varphi_c \, \mathrm{d}x \Big] \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}x =: \sum_{i=1}^5 \mathcal{B}_i.$$

Due to growth conditions from Corollary 1.4.5 and Lemma A.4.1 we can estimate the term  $\mathcal{B}_1$ :

$$\mathcal{B}_{1} \geq \frac{2C_{1}}{h^{2}} \int_{\Omega_{R}} |D\delta_{\alpha}^{+}u|^{2}\xi^{2} dx$$
  
$$\geq 2C_{1}C_{3} \int_{\Omega_{R}} \left|\frac{\nabla\delta_{\alpha}^{+}u}{h}\right|^{2}\xi^{2} dx - 2C_{1}C_{4} \int_{\Omega_{R}} \left|\frac{\delta_{\alpha}^{+}u}{h}\right|^{2} (|\nabla\xi|^{2} + \xi^{2}) dx.$$

On the second term  $\mathcal{B}_2$  we apply  $(1.28)_2$  and Cauchy inequality with  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{B}_{2}| &\leq \frac{2C_{2}}{h^{2}} \int_{\Omega_{R}} |\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+} u| \xi |\delta_{\alpha}^{+} u| |\nabla \xi| \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \varepsilon C_{2}^{2} \int_{\Omega_{R}} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+} u}{h} \right|^{2} \xi^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ C \int_{\Omega_{R}} \left| \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^{+} u}{h} \right|^{2} |\nabla \xi|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x \leq C \left( \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_{R}} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+} u}{h} \right|^{2} \xi^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x + \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{4} + \|\nabla \xi\|_{\infty}^{4} \right). \end{aligned}$$

In the third term  $\mathcal{B}_3$  the following is used:

$$D_{ij}(\nu_u(x)) = \partial_j \{ u_k(Tx) [\delta^+_\alpha \nu]_k \nu_i(x) \} =$$
  
=  $\partial_j u_k(Tx) [\delta^+_\alpha \nu]_k \nu_i(x) + u_k(Tx) \partial_j [\delta^+_\alpha \nu] \nu_i(x) + u_k(Tx) [\delta^+_\alpha \nu] \partial_j \nu_i(x).$ 

We use Lemma A.1.4 to estimate the modulus of gradient of the normal vector or the modulus of the difference of gradient gradient of the normal vector by the constant  $C_n$ .

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{B}_3| &\leq \frac{C_2}{h^2} \int_{\Omega_R} |D_{ij} \delta^+_\alpha u D_{ij} \nu_u \xi^2| \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C_2 \int_{\Omega_R} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta^+_\alpha u}{h} \right| (|\nabla u| C_n + |u| C_n + |u| C_n^2) \xi^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C \Big( \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_R} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta^+_\alpha u}{h} \right|^2 \xi^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + \|u\|_{1,2}^2 \Big). \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{B}_4| &\leq \frac{2C_2}{h^2} \int_{\Omega_R} |\nabla \delta^+_{\alpha} u| |\nu_u| \xi |\nabla \xi| \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C_2^2 \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_R} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta^+_{\alpha} u}{h} \right|^2 \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\Omega_R} |u|^2 |\nabla \xi|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C \Big( \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_R} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta^+_{\alpha} u}{h} \right|^2 \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \|u\|_2^4 + \|\nabla \xi\|_{\infty}^4 \Big), \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{B}_{5}| &\leq C_{2} \int_{\Omega_{R}} |D_{ij} \delta_{\alpha}^{+} u D_{ij} \varphi_{c}| \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \varepsilon C_{2}^{2} \int_{\Omega_{R}} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+} u}{h} \right|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\Omega_{R}} h^{2} |\nabla \varphi_{c}|^{2} \\ &\leq C \Big( \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_{R}} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+} u}{h} \right|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x + \|u\|_{1,2}^{2} + \|u\|_{1,2}^{4} + \|\nabla \xi\|_{\infty}^{4} \Big). \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.11)$$

Corollary 1.4.5 and similar steps as before allow us to estimate the term  $\mathcal{A}_{1.2}$ .

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{A}_{1,2}| &= |\int_{\Omega_R} \int_0^1 \partial_{ij} \mathcal{S}_{kl} (Du + \lambda \delta_\alpha^+ Du) \big( (\partial_n u) (Tx) \otimes_S \delta_\alpha^+ \nabla a \big)_{ij} D_{kl} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}x | \\ &\leq \frac{C_2}{h^2} \int_{\Omega_R} |\big( (\partial_n u) (Tx) \otimes_S \delta_\alpha^+ \nabla a \big)_{ij} \big[ D_{ij} \delta_\alpha^+ u \xi^2 + 2[\delta_\alpha^+ u]_i \xi \partial_j \xi \\ &+ D_{ij} \nu_u \xi^2 + 2[\nu_u]_i \xi \partial_j \xi + D_{ji} \varphi_c \big] | \, \mathrm{d}x =: \sum_{i=6}^{10} \mathcal{B}_i. \end{aligned}$$

Applying Lemma A.1.4 and estimate (2.9) on correction  $\varphi_c$  leads to

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{B}_{6}| + |\mathcal{B}_{7}| &\leq C_{2} \int_{\Omega_{R}} |\nabla u| C_{n} \Big( \Big| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+} u}{h} \Big| \xi^{2} + \Big| \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^{+} u}{h} \Big| \xi ||\nabla \xi| \Big) \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C_{2}^{2} \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_{R}} \Big| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+} u}{h} \Big|^{2} \xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + C \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2} \\ &+ C_{2}^{2} C \int_{\Omega_{R}} \Big| \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^{+} u}{h} \Big|^{2} \xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + C \|\nabla \xi\|_{\infty}^{2} \int_{\Omega_{R}} |\nabla u|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C \Big( \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_{R}} \Big| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+} u}{h} \Big|^{2} \xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2} + \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{4} + \|\nabla \xi\|_{\infty}^{4} \Big), \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{B}_8| + |\mathcal{B}_9| &\leq C_2 \int_{\Omega_R} |\nabla u| C_n [(|\nabla u| C_n + |u| C_n + |u| C_n^2) \xi^2 + |u| C_n \xi |\nabla \xi|] \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C(||u||_{1,2}^2 + ||u||_{1,2}^4 + ||\nabla \xi||_{\infty}^4), \end{aligned}$$

On the term  $\mathcal{B}_{10}$  we use estimate (2.9).

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{B}_{10}| &\leq C_2 \int_{\Omega_R} |\nabla u| C_n h |\nabla \varphi_c| \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \frac{C_n^2}{2} \int_{\Omega_R} |\nabla u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{C_2^2 h^2}{2} \int_{\Omega_R} |\nabla \varphi_c|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C(\|\nabla u\|_2^2 + \|u\|_{1,2}^4 + \|\nabla \xi\|_{\infty}^4), \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{A}_{2}| &= |\int_{\Omega_{R}} \mathcal{S}_{kl}(Du)(Tx) \left( (\partial_{n}\varphi)(x) \otimes_{S} \delta_{\alpha}^{+} \nabla a \right)_{kl} \mathrm{d}x | \\ &= |\int_{\Omega_{R}} \int_{0}^{1} \partial_{ij} \mathcal{S}_{kl}(\lambda Du(Tx))(D_{ij}u)(Tx) \left( (\partial_{n}\varphi)(x) \otimes_{S} \delta_{\alpha}^{+} \nabla a \right)_{ij} \mathrm{d}\lambda \mathrm{d}x | \\ &\leq C_{2} \int_{\Omega_{R}} |\nabla u| \left| \nabla \left( \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^{+}u}{h} \xi^{2} + \frac{\nu_{u}}{h} \xi^{2} + h\varphi_{c} \right) C_{n} \right| \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C_{2} \int_{\Omega_{R}} |\nabla u| \left( \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+}u}{h} \right| \xi^{2} + \left| \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^{+}u}{h} \right| 2\xi \nabla \xi + |\nabla u| C_{n} \xi^{2} + |u| C_{n} \xi^{2} \\ &+ |u| C_{n}^{2} \xi^{2} + |u| C_{n} 2\xi \nabla \xi + h \nabla \varphi_{c} \right) C_{n} \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C \left( \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_{R}} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+}u}{h} \right|^{2} \xi^{2} \mathrm{d}x + \|u\|_{1,2}^{2} + \|u\|_{1,2}^{4} + \|\nabla \xi\|_{\infty}^{4} \right), \end{aligned}$$
$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{A}_{3}| &\leq C_{2} \int_{\Omega_{R}} |DuD\left[ \frac{1}{h^{2}} \delta_{\alpha}^{-} u \xi^{2} (T^{-1}y) + \frac{1}{h^{2}} \nu_{u} (T^{-1}y) \xi^{2} (T^{-1}y) + \varphi_{c} \right] (\delta_{\alpha}^{-} \nu) \nu | \mathrm{d}y \\ &\leq C \left( \varepsilon \int \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+}u}{h} \right|^{2} \xi^{2} \mathrm{d}y + \|u\|_{1,2}^{2} + \|u\|_{1,2}^{4} + \|\nabla \xi\|_{\infty}^{4} \right), \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq C\left(\varepsilon \int_{\Omega_{R}} |\frac{1}{h}|^{2} dy + ||u||_{1,2} + ||u||_{1,2} + ||v\zeta||_{\infty}\right),$$

$$|\mathcal{A}_{4}| + |\mathcal{A}_{5}| \leq C_{2} \int_{\Omega_{R}} |(Du)(y) \Big[ \frac{1}{h^{2}} \delta_{\alpha}^{-} u \xi^{2} (T^{-1}y) + \frac{1}{h^{2}} \nu_{u} (T^{-1}y) \xi^{2} (T^{-1}y) + \varphi_{c} \Big] |$$

$$\left( |\nabla(\delta_{\alpha}^{-} \nu)\nu| + |(\delta_{\alpha}^{-} \nu)\nabla\nu| \right) dy \leq C \Big( \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_{R}} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+} u}{h} \right|^{2} \xi^{2} dy + ||u||_{1,2}^{2}$$

$$+ ||\nabla u||_{1,2}^{4} + ||\nabla \xi||_{\infty}^{4} \Big).$$

In the next term we use the estimate (2.10) on  $z_c$ :

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{A}_{6}| &\leq C_{2} \int_{\Omega_{R}} |Du| |D(z_{c})| \,\mathrm{d}y \leq C \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2} + C_{2}^{2} \varepsilon \|\nabla z_{c}\|_{2}^{2} \\ &\leq C \Big( \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2} + \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_{R}} \Big| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+} u}{h} \Big|^{2} \xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}y + \varepsilon \|u\|_{1,2}^{2} \\ &+ \varepsilon \|u\|_{1,2}^{4} + \varepsilon \|\nabla \xi\|_{\infty}^{4} \Big). \end{aligned}$$

We express  $\mathcal{A}_7$  in an alternative way

$$\mathcal{A}_7 = \int_{\Omega_R} \delta_{\alpha}^+ f \cdot \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega_R} f \cdot \delta_{\alpha}^- \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

After substitution of the test function and addition and subtraction of the terms

$$\frac{1}{h^2} \int_{\Omega_R} f_i[\delta_{\alpha}^- u]_i \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x, \ \frac{1}{h^2} \int_{\Omega_R} f_i[\nu_u]_i \xi^2(T^{-1}x) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

we get

$$\mathcal{A}_{7} = \frac{1}{h^{2}} \int_{\Omega_{R}} f_{i} [\delta_{\alpha}^{+} u - \delta_{\alpha}^{-} u]_{i} \xi^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{1}{h^{2}} \int_{\Omega_{R}} f_{i} [\delta_{\alpha}^{-} u]_{i} [\xi^{2} - \xi^{2} (T^{-1} x)] \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$- \frac{1}{h^{2}} \int_{\Omega_{R}} f_{i} [\delta_{\alpha}^{+} \nu_{u}]_{i} \xi^{2} (T^{-1} x) \, \mathrm{d}x - \frac{1}{h^{2}} \int_{\Omega_{R}} f_{i} [\nu_{u}]_{i} [\xi^{2} - \xi^{2} (T^{-1} x)] \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega_{R}} f_{i} [\delta_{\alpha}^{-} \varphi_{c}]_{i} =: \sum_{i=11}^{15} \mathcal{B}_{i}.$$

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{B}_{11}| &\leq C \int_{\Omega_R} |f|^2 \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_R} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^+ u}{h} \right|^2 \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x, \\ |\mathcal{B}_{12}| &\leq C(||f||_2^2 + ||\nabla u||_2^4 + ||\nabla \xi||_{\infty}^4), \\ |\mathcal{B}_{13}| &\leq \int_{\Omega_R} |f| C_n \left| \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^+ u}{h} \right| \xi^2 \leq \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_R} \left| \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^+ u}{h} \right|^2 \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\Omega_R} |f|^2 \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x, \\ |\mathcal{B}_{14}| &\leq C(||f||_2^2 + ||u||_2^4 + ||\nabla \xi||_{\infty}^4), \\ |\mathcal{B}_{15}| &\leq \frac{1}{2} ||f||_2^2 + \frac{h^2}{2} ||\nabla \varphi_c||_2^2 \leq C(||f||_2^2 + ||u||_{1,2}^2 + ||u||_{1,2}^4 + ||\nabla \xi||_{\infty}^4). \end{aligned}$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{8} \leq \int_{\Omega_{R}} |f| \Big( \Big| \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^{-} u}{h} \Big| \xi^{2} + |u| C_{n} \xi^{2} + \varphi_{c} \Big) C_{n} \, \mathrm{d}y$$
  
$$\leq C(||f||_{2}^{2} + ||u||_{1,2}^{2} + ||u||_{1,2}^{4} + ||\nabla\xi||_{\infty}^{4}).$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{9} \leq C \|f\|_{2}^{2} + \varepsilon \|z_{c}\|_{2}^{2} \leq C \Big(\|f\|_{2}^{2} + \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_{R}} \Big| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^{+} u}{h} \Big|^{2} \xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}y + \varepsilon \|u\|_{1,2}^{2} + \varepsilon \|\nabla \xi\|_{\infty}^{4} + \varepsilon \|u\|_{1,2}^{4} \Big).$$

Putting all estimates together we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega_R} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^+ u}{h} \right|^2 \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \le \varepsilon C \int_{\Omega_R} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^+ u}{h} \right|^2 \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \varepsilon C' \int_{\Omega_R} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^+ u}{h} \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + C''(\|u\|_{1,2}^2 + \|u\|_{1,2}^4 + \|f\|_2^2) + C''' \|\nabla \xi\|_{\infty}^4.$$
(2.12)

We are able to choose  $\varepsilon > 0$  as small as we want, therefore we pick the one in order to subsume the first term on the right hand side of (2.12) into the left hand side. We know from the first apriori estimate that  $||u||_{1,2} < C$  and from the assumption  $||f||_2 < C$ . This gives the boundedness of the third term on the right hand side of (2.12).

We can see that the procedure fails because of the fact, that there is missing cut-off function  $\xi(x)$  in the integral in the second term on right hand side in (2.12). But we can get rid of the uncomfortable term by virtue of the following lemma which can be found in [35].

**Lemma 2.2.2** Let  $f : [a,b] \mapsto \mathbb{R}^+$  is bounded. Suppose there exists constants  $A, B, \alpha > -1$  and  $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ , that

$$f(r) \le \varepsilon f(R) + A(R-r)^{-\alpha} + B \qquad \forall a \le r < R \le b.$$

Then there exists positive constant  $c = c(\alpha, \varepsilon)$ , that holds

$$f(r) \le c[A(R-r)^{-\alpha} + B] \qquad \forall a \le r < R \le b$$

Fix  $h \in (0, r)$ . The term  $\frac{\nabla \delta_n^+ u}{h}$  has good sense on  $\Omega_{R_0}$ . The cut-off function  $\xi$  satisfies  $C''' \|\nabla \xi\|_{\infty}^4 \leq A(R-r)^{-4}$  for some A > 0 independent of r, R. We rewrite the relation (2.12) to a more convenient form:

$$\int_{\Omega_r} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^+ u}{h} \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x \le \varepsilon \int_{\Omega_R} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^+ u}{h} \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x + A(R-r)^{-4} + B.$$

We use Lemma 2.2.2 for

$$f(r) := \int_{\Omega_r} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^+ u}{h} \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x,$$

As one can easily see, assumptions of the Lemma 2.2.2 are fulfilled. We obtain

$$\int_{\Omega_r} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^+ u}{h} \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x \le c [A(R-r)^{-4} + B] \quad \forall 0 < r < R \le \frac{R_0}{2},$$

where the constants A, B depends only on the norm of f in  $L^2(\Omega)^n$  and on the norm of u in  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)^n$ . As well the whole right hand side of (2.12) now depends only on  $||f||_2$  a  $||u||_{1,2}$ . Setting  $r := \frac{R_0}{4}$  and  $R = \frac{R_0}{2}$  we get

$$\int_{\Omega_{\frac{R_0}{4}}} \left| \frac{\nabla \delta_{\alpha}^+ u}{h} \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x \le C(\|f\|_2, \|u\|_{1,2}).$$

Due to (A.6) a (A.7) the previous estimate can be rewritten as

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2} \int_{\Omega_{\frac{R_{0}}{4}}} |\partial_{i}\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}u|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \leq C(\|f\|_{2}, \|u\|_{1,2}).$$
(2.13)

#### Step 2 Boundary regularity in normal direction

We will follow [68], where the problem of normal direction is solved for the evolutionary variant of our problem in  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ . This computation for stationary problem in  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  is also done in articles [50] and [51].

In order to show boundedness of  $\nabla^2 u$  we need an estimate of type (2.13) in the normal direction which is locally  $x_n$ . After formal employment <sup>2</sup> of the operator curl

$$\operatorname{curl} g = \partial_{\alpha} g_j - \partial_j g_{\alpha} \quad \text{for } g : \Omega \mapsto \mathbb{R}^n, \ \alpha < j.$$

we get rid of the pressure from the equation (1.23). We obtain  $\frac{n}{2}(n-1)$  equations in  $W^{-1,2}(\Omega)^n$ . Not all of them are useful for us. We put j = n and  $\alpha < n$ , so

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} (\partial_{\alpha} \partial_{k} S_{nk} - \partial_{n} \partial_{k} S_{\alpha k}) - \partial_{\alpha} f_{n} + \partial_{n} f_{\alpha} = 0, \quad \alpha = 1, \dots, n-1.$$
(2.14)

Set  $G_{\alpha} \equiv \partial_n S_{\alpha n}$  for  $\alpha \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ . It holds that

$$\|\xi G_{\alpha}\|_{-1,2} \le C \|\mathcal{S}_{\alpha n}\|_{2} \le C \|Du\|_{2} \le C.$$

Further, thanks to (1.28) we have for  $k \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ 

$$\|\partial_k(\xi G_\alpha)\|_{-1,2} \le C + \|\partial_k \mathcal{S}_{\alpha n}\|_2 \le C + C' \sum_{i=1}^n \|\partial_k \partial_i u\|_2.$$

From the equation (2.14) we obtain

$$\|\partial_n(\xi G_\alpha)\|_{-1,2} \le C + C' \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \|\partial_k \partial_i u\|_2$$

Now we can use the Nečas' theorem on negative norms, see Theorem A.5.1, to get

$$\|\xi G_{\alpha}\|_{2} \le C(\|\xi G_{\alpha}\|_{-1,2} + \|\nabla(\xi G_{\alpha})\|_{-1,2}) \le C + C' \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \|\partial_{k} \partial_{i} u\|_{2}.$$
 (2.15)

Recalling the definition of  $G_{\alpha}$  we have n-1 equations for  $\alpha \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ 

$$G_{\alpha} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \partial_{ij} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha n} \partial_n D_{ij} u.$$
(2.16)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The process is based on testing the equation (1.23) by function  $\operatorname{rot} g$ . The result is the same, i.e. we get the equation (2.14) in distributional sense.

Symmetry of  $\mathcal{S}$  and Du gives us  $\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \partial_{nj} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha n} \partial_n D_{nj} u = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \partial_{in} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha n} \partial_n D_{in} u$  and therefore from (2.16) we obtain

$$2\sum_{j=1}^{n-1}\partial_{nj}\mathcal{S}_{\alpha n}\partial_n D_{nj}u = G_\alpha - \sum_{i,j=1}^{n-1}\partial_{ij}\mathcal{S}_{\alpha n}\partial_n D_{ij}u - \partial_{nn}\mathcal{S}_{\alpha n}\partial_n D_{nn}u.$$
(2.17)

In the first and third term of (2.17) we use the definition of Du. Instead of the last term of (2.17) we can write  $\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \partial_{nn} S_{\alpha n} \partial_n \partial_j u_j$ , because  $D_{nn} u = \partial_n u_n$ and the equation div u = 0 gives us  $\partial_n u_n = -\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \partial_j u_j$ . We have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \partial_{nj} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha n} \partial_n^2 u_j = G_\alpha - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n-1} \partial_{ij} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha n} \partial_n (\partial_i u_j + \partial_j u_i) - \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \partial_{nj} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha n} \partial_n \partial_j u_n + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \partial_{nn} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha n} \partial_n \partial_j u_j.$$
(2.18)

Thanks to the Corollary 1.4.5 we know that the matrix  $\mathbb{A} := (\partial_{nj} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha n})$  is regular. We can multiply (2.18) by  $\xi^2 \partial_n^2 u_{\alpha}$ , where the cut-off function  $\xi(x)$  is defined as in (2.6), sum over  $\alpha$  and integrate over  $\Omega$ . Using (2.15) we conclude that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \|\xi \partial_n^2 u_j\|_2^2 \le C + C' \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \|\partial_i \partial_k u\|_2^2.$$
(2.19)

From the relation (2.19) using the definition of the tangent derivative and from relation (2.13) we derive

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \|\xi \partial_n^2 u_j\|_2^2 \le C + C' \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \|\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \partial_i u_j\|_2^2 + C'' \sup_{x' \in (-R_0, R_0)} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} |\partial_{\alpha} a(x')| \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|\xi \partial_n^2 u_j\|_2^2.$$

$$(2.20)$$

If we choose  $R_0$  in order to have

$$C'' \max_{P} \sup_{x' \in (-R_0, R_0)} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} |\partial_{\alpha} a(x')| \le \frac{1}{2},$$

we can move the last term in (2.20) to the left hand side and together with tangent direction and interior regularity we get  $u \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)^n$ .

#### Step 3 Reconstruction of the pressure

In virtue of Lemma 2.2.1 we know that (1.23) holds almost everywhere. It helps us to reconstruct the pressure in a simple way. In the weak formulation

in Definition 5.1.1 there is no pressure  $\pi$ , because we considered divergence-free test function. Now we are interested in the question whether there is  $\pi \in \mathcal{D}'(\Omega)^n$  such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du) : D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x + \langle \nabla \pi, \varphi \rangle = \langle f, \varphi \rangle$$

holds for all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega)^n$ .

From De Rham's theorem, see Theorem A.5.2, we know that the right hand side of the equation

$$\nabla \pi = f + \operatorname{div} \mathcal{S} \tag{2.21}$$

can be written in the gradient form. The equation (2.21) holds almost everywhere and it's right hand side is in  $L^2(\Omega)^n$ . Thus, with the additional assumption  $\int_{\Omega} \pi \, \mathrm{d}x = 0$  we get that there exists the pressure  $\pi \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)^n$ .

### 2.3 The regularized problem

In this section we are concerned with the regularized boundary value problem

$$-\operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) + \nabla \pi^{e\varepsilon} = f^e \qquad \text{in } \Omega, \qquad (2.22)$$

$$\operatorname{div} u^{e\varepsilon} = 0 \qquad \qquad \text{in } \Omega, \qquad (2.23)$$

$$u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \nu = 0, \quad [\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon})\nu] \cdot \tau^{\alpha} = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega, \quad (2.24)$$

where the regularization of f is chosen in order to have  $f^e \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega})^n$  and  $f^e \to f$ in  $W^{1,\Phi^*}(\Omega)^n$  as  $e \to 0$  and

$$\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon} = \mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|)Du^{e\varepsilon},$$
  
$$\mu^{\varepsilon} = \min\left(\max(\mu(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|),\varepsilon), \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right), \quad \varepsilon \in (0,1).$$
(2.25)

Scalar potential  $\Phi^{\varepsilon}$  to  $\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}$  is

$$\Phi^{\varepsilon}(s) := \int_0^s \mu^{\varepsilon}(t) t \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

As one can easily check, the Assumption 1.4.3 and therefore also growth conditions Corollary 1.4.5 hold if we replace  $\Phi$  and S by  $\Phi^{\varepsilon}$  and  $S^{\varepsilon}$ .

**Proposition 2.3.1** If  $\Phi \in \Delta_2$ ,  $\Phi^* \in \Delta_2$  then also  $\Phi^{\varepsilon} \in \Delta_2$ ,  $(\Phi^{\varepsilon})^* \in \Delta_2$  and  $\Delta_2(\{\Phi^{\varepsilon}, (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^*\})$  doesn't depend of  $\varepsilon$ .

*Proof.* At first we consider only truncation of  $\mu$  from below, i.e.

$$\mu^{\varepsilon}(s) := \max(\mu^{\varepsilon}(s), \varepsilon), \quad \Phi^{\varepsilon}(s) = \int_0^s \mu^{\varepsilon}(t) t \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

It is enough to show  $\mu^{\varepsilon}(2s) \leq C\mu^{\varepsilon}(s)$ . We can distinguish four cases:

- (i)  $\mu(s) \ge \varepsilon$  and  $\mu(2s) \ge \varepsilon$ . Then  $\mu^{\varepsilon}(s) = \mu(s)$ ,  $\mu^{\varepsilon}(2s) = \mu(2s)$  and the claim holds, because  $\Phi \in \Delta_2$ .
- (ii)  $\mu(s) \ge \varepsilon$  and  $\mu(2s) \le \varepsilon$ . Then  $\mu^{\varepsilon}(s) = \mu(s) \ge \varepsilon$  and  $\mu^{\varepsilon}(2s) = \varepsilon$ . Trivially  $\mu^{\varepsilon}(2s) \le \mu^{\varepsilon}(s)$ .
- (iii)  $\mu(s) \leq \varepsilon$  and  $\mu(2s) \geq \varepsilon$ . Then  $\mu^{\varepsilon}(s) = \varepsilon$  and  $\mu^{\varepsilon}(2s) = \mu(2s), \ \mu(2s) \leq C\mu(s) \leq C\varepsilon \leq C\mu^{\varepsilon}(s)$  and the claim holds.
- (iv)  $\mu(s) \leq \varepsilon$  and  $\mu(2s) \leq \varepsilon$ . Then  $\mu^{\varepsilon}(s) = \mu^{\varepsilon}(2s) = \varepsilon$  and the claim trivially holds.

The same is true for  $\mu$  truncated from above, i.e.  $\mu^{\varepsilon}(s) := \min(\mu(s), \frac{1}{\varepsilon})$ . Putting these two considerations together we obtain the proof for the viscosity defined in (3.2). In the case of the complementary function one proceeds similarly.  $\Box$ 

The first apriori estimate, i.e. testing by the weak solution, gives us

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) : Du^{e\varepsilon} \, \mathrm{d}x \le \int_{\Omega} f^{e} \cdot u^{e\varepsilon} \, \mathrm{d}x.$$
(2.26)

Using Young's inequality (A.8) and Korn's inequality (A.20) on the right hand side, definition of function  $V^{\varepsilon}$  or the potential  $\Phi^{\varepsilon}$  on the left hand side, the relation (2.26) can be rewritten in the form

$$C\int_{\Omega} |V^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \le \int_{\Omega} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}x \le C\int_{\Omega} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^*(|f^e|) \,\mathrm{d}x =: \mathcal{M}_{ap}.$$
 (2.27)

Now we fix a point P and work in the local system of coordinates for which P = 0. We work in  $\Omega_{R_0}^P$ , but as before, we will drop the index P. For simplicity we denote  $r := \frac{R_0}{4}$ . The following lemma shows us that the integral  $\int_{\Omega_r} \mu^{\varepsilon} (|D(u^{e\varepsilon})|) |\partial_n D(u^{e\varepsilon})|^2 dx$  can be estimated by lower order terms and small terms of the same order which can be subsumed into the left hand side at the end.

**Lemma 2.3.2** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\Omega \in \mathcal{C}^3$  be a bounded non-axisymmetric domain. Let  $u^{e\varepsilon}$  be the weak solution of the regularized problem (2.22), (2.23) and (2.24). Then there exist positive constants C and  $\tilde{c}_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 4$ , independent of  $u^{e\varepsilon}$  such that

$$\int_{\Omega_r} \mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\partial_n Du^{e\varepsilon}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \leq C \Big( \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^* (|f^e|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^* (|\nabla f^e|) \, \mathrm{d}x \Big) + \sum_{i=1}^4 \mathcal{M}_i,$$
(2.28)

where

$$\mathcal{M}_{1} = \tilde{c}_{1} \sum_{i,j,k,l,m=1}^{n} |\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}_{ij}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{k} \partial_{l} u_{m}^{e\varepsilon} \xi \, \mathrm{d}x|, \quad \mathcal{M}_{2} = \tilde{c}_{2} \sum_{i,j,k,l=1}^{n} |\int_{\Omega} \partial_{i} \mathcal{S}_{jk}^{\varepsilon} u_{l}^{e\varepsilon} \xi \, \mathrm{d}x|,$$
$$\mathcal{M}_{3} = \tilde{c}_{3} \sum_{i,j,k,l,m=1}^{n} |\int_{\Omega} \partial_{i} \mathcal{S}_{jk}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{l} u_{m}^{e\varepsilon} \xi \, \mathrm{d}x|, \quad \mathcal{M}_{4} = \tilde{c}_{4} a_{0} \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \mu^{\varepsilon} (|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^{2} u^{e\varepsilon}|^{2} \xi^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Constants  $\tilde{c}_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3, may depend on  $a_0$  and  $c_0$  defined in (A.1), but constant  $\tilde{c}_4$  is an absolute one.

**Remark 2.3.3** Terms  $\mathcal{M}_i$ , i = 1, ..., 3, are of lower order. Instead of the cut-off function  $\xi$  we should write  $\tilde{\xi}$ , where  $\operatorname{supp} \tilde{\xi} \subset \operatorname{supp} \xi$  and in  $\tilde{\xi}$  derivatives of  $\xi$  and a are included. Since this difference is not important, we write only  $\xi$ .

The term  $\mathcal{M}_4$  is of the same order as the left hand side of (2.28) but it is also multiplied by  $a_0$ . We can pick this constant as small as we want what allows us to subsume  $\mathcal{M}_4$  later into the left hand side of (2.28).

Proof of Lemma 2.3.2. From results of Section 2.2 we know that  $u^{e\varepsilon} \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)^n$ ,  $\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)^{n \times n}$ ,  $\pi^{e\varepsilon} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ . We can rewrite (2.22) into components, multiply by a suitable test function and integrate over  $\Omega_{3r}$ . The test function has to belong at least to  $L^2(\Omega)^n$  in order the integrals had sense.

$$-\sum_{k,l=1}^{n}\int_{\Omega_{3r}}\partial_{l}\mathcal{S}_{kl}^{\varepsilon}\varphi_{k}\,\mathrm{d}x + \sum_{k=1}^{n}\int_{\Omega_{3r}}\partial_{k}\pi^{e\varepsilon}\varphi_{k}\,\mathrm{d}x = \sum_{k=1}^{n}\int_{\Omega_{3r}}f_{k}^{e}\varphi_{k}\,\mathrm{d}x,\qquad(2.29)$$

where  $\varphi \in L^2(\Omega)^n$ . We would like to use the second normal derivatives of the solution as a test function in (2.29). One can easily verify that this function is not divergence free and does not fulfill boundary conditions, so we would have to deal with terms containing the pressure. Instead we take as a test function

$$\varphi = \left(\partial_n \Theta_1, \dots, \partial_n \Theta_{n-1}, -\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \partial_\alpha \Theta_\alpha\right), \tag{2.30}$$

where we denoted

$$\Theta_{\alpha} := \partial_{\nu} (u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \tau^{\alpha}) \xi^2 - u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot (\partial_{\nu} \tau^{\alpha} + \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu) \xi^2, \quad \alpha = 1, \dots, n-1.$$
 (2.31)

The test function  $\varphi$  is constructed in order to fulfill div  $\varphi = 0$ . It also has a useful property:

**Proposition 2.3.4**  $\Theta_{\alpha} = 0$  for all  $\alpha \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$  on  $\partial\Omega$  in the sense of traces.

Proof. We use two facts. First,  $\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}(u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \nu) = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ , which is  $u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}\nu = -\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \nu$ . Second, boundary conditions  $(\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}\nu) \cdot \tau^{\alpha} = 0$  can be rewritten as  $\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \nu + \partial_{\nu}u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \tau^{\alpha} = 0$  which gives us  $\partial_{\nu}u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \tau^{\alpha} = -\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \nu$ . Thus

$$\Theta_{\alpha} = \partial_{\nu} u^{e\varepsilon} \tau^{\alpha} \xi^{2} + u^{e\varepsilon} \partial_{\nu} \tau^{\alpha} \xi^{2} - u^{e\varepsilon} \xi^{2} \partial_{\nu} \tau^{\alpha} - u^{e\varepsilon} \xi^{2} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu$$
$$= -\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} u^{e\varepsilon} \nu \xi^{2} - u^{e\varepsilon} \xi^{2} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu = u^{e\varepsilon} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu \xi^{2} - u^{e\varepsilon} \xi^{2} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu = 0.$$

Proposition 2.3.4 helps us to get rid of terms in (2.29) containing pressure. In the case we are not on  $\partial\Omega$ , it is useful to write out  $\Theta_{\alpha}$ .

$$\Theta_{\alpha} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} (\partial_{i} u_{j}^{e\varepsilon} \tau_{j}^{\alpha} \nu_{i} - u_{i}^{e\varepsilon} \partial_{j} \nu_{i} \tau_{j}^{\alpha}) \xi^{2} = -\partial_{n} u_{\alpha}^{e\varepsilon} \xi^{2} - \partial_{\alpha} a \partial_{n} u_{n}^{e\varepsilon} \xi^{2} + \sum_{\beta=1}^{n-1} \left( \partial_{\beta} a (\partial_{\beta} u_{\alpha}^{e\varepsilon} + \partial_{\alpha} a \partial_{\beta} u_{n}^{e\varepsilon}) - \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} a u_{\beta}^{e\varepsilon} \right) \xi^{2},$$

$$(2.32)$$

where we use only the definition of the normal, the normal derivative, the tangent and the tangent derivative.

**Proposition 2.3.5** Let  $\varphi$  be defined by (2.30) and (2.31). Then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_k \pi^{e\varepsilon} \varphi_k \, \mathrm{d}x = 0.$$

*Proof.* If  $\pi^{e\varepsilon} \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$ , a straightforward computation gives us

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_k \pi^{e\varepsilon} \varphi_k \, \mathrm{d}x = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_\alpha \pi^{e\varepsilon} \partial_n \Theta_\alpha \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_n \pi^{e\varepsilon} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \partial_\alpha \Theta_\alpha \, \mathrm{d}x = 0,$$

where we integrated by parts twice and use the fact that boundary integrals are equal to zero because  $\Theta_{\alpha} = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$  due to Proposition 2.3.6. For  $\pi^{e\varepsilon} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  the statement follows from density of  $W^{2,2}(\Omega)$  in  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ .

For simplicity let us denote

n

$$\mathcal{A}_{kl} := -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_l \mathcal{S}_{kl}^{\varepsilon} \varphi_k \, \mathrm{d}x, \quad k, l = 1, \dots, n,$$
$$\mathcal{B}_{kl}^j := \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_j \mathcal{S}_{kl}^{\varepsilon} \partial_j \partial_l u_k^{e\varepsilon} \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x, \quad j, k, l = 1, \dots, n.$$

We put (2.30) into (2.29) and estimate terms  $\mathcal{A}_{kl}$ , k, l = 1, ..., n. Our goal is to obtain terms  $\mathcal{B}_{kl}^n$  on the left hand side of (2.29). It will be done in four steps. First we focus on  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha\beta}$  for fixed  $\alpha, \beta \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ . Later we estimate  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha n}$ ,  $\mathcal{A}_{n\beta}$  and finally  $\mathcal{A}_{nn}$ .

In the first term we integrate by parts twice, use the fact that there are no boundary terms and apply (2.32).

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha\beta} &= \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha\beta}^{\varepsilon} \varphi_{\alpha} \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha\beta}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{n} \Theta_{\alpha} \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{n} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha\beta}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{\beta} \Theta_{\alpha} \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{n} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha\beta}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{\beta} \Big[ \partial_{\alpha} a \partial_{n} u_{n}^{e\varepsilon} \xi^{2} - \sum_{\beta=1}^{n-1} \Big( \partial_{\beta} a (\partial_{\beta} u_{\alpha}^{e\varepsilon} + \partial_{\alpha} a \partial_{\beta} u_{n}^{e\varepsilon}) - \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} a u_{\beta}^{e\varepsilon} \Big) \xi^{2} \Big] \\ &+ \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{n} \mathcal{S}_{\alpha\beta}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{\beta} \partial_{n} u_{\alpha}^{e\varepsilon} \xi^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x \geq \mathcal{B}_{\alpha\beta}^{n} - \sum_{i=1}^{4} \mathcal{M}_{i}. \end{aligned}$$
In the second term  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha n}$  we use only (2.32) to get  $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha n}^{n}$ .

$$\mathcal{A}_{\alpha n} = -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_n \mathcal{S}_{\alpha n}^{\varepsilon} \varphi_{\alpha} \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_n \mathcal{S}_{\alpha n}^{\varepsilon} \partial_n \Theta_{\alpha} \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\geq \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_n \mathcal{S}_{\alpha n}^{\varepsilon} \partial_n^2 u_{\alpha}^{e\varepsilon} \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{i=1}^4 \mathcal{M}_i = \mathcal{B}_{\alpha n}^n - \sum_{i=1}^4 \mathcal{M}_i.$$

At the beginning of the extraction of the term  $\mathcal{B}_{n\beta}^n$  from  $\mathcal{A}_{n\beta}$  we use (2.32) and  $\partial_n u_n^{e\varepsilon} = -\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \partial_\alpha u_\alpha^{e\varepsilon}$ , which comes from the divergence-free constraint:

$$\mathcal{A}_{n\beta} = -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{S}_{n\beta}^{\varepsilon} \varphi_n \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{S}_{n\beta}^{\varepsilon} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \partial_{\alpha} \Theta_{\alpha} \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\geq -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{S}_{n\beta}^{\varepsilon} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{n} u_{\alpha}^{\varepsilon\varepsilon} \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{i=1}^{4} \mathcal{M}_i$$
$$= \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{S}_{n\beta}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{n}^2 u_{n}^{\varepsilon\varepsilon} \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{i=1}^{4} \mathcal{M}_i = \tilde{\mathcal{B}} - \sum_{i=1}^{4} \mathcal{M}_i$$

If we integrate by parts twice  $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ , we are done. At this moment there would appear boundary integrals. To avoid them we add and subtract some small terms (which could be included in  $\mathcal{M}_4$ ) in order to have  $(\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}\nu) \cdot \tau^{\beta}$  instead of  $\mathcal{S}_{n\beta}^{\varepsilon}$  in  $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ . Writing out  $(\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}\nu) \cdot \tau^{\beta}$  we get

$$\mathcal{S}_{n\beta}^{\varepsilon} = -(\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}\nu) \cdot \tau^{\beta} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \partial_{\alpha}a\mathcal{S}_{\alpha\beta}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{\alpha}a\partial_{\beta}a\mathcal{S}_{\alpha n}^{\varepsilon} - \partial_{\beta}a\mathcal{S}_{nn}^{\varepsilon}$$

Therefore

$$\tilde{\mathcal{B}} = \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\beta} \mathcal{S}_{n\beta}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{n}^{2} u_{n}^{e\varepsilon} \xi^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x \geq -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\beta} [(\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}\nu)\tau^{\beta}] \partial_{n}^{2} u_{n}^{e\varepsilon} \xi^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{i=1}^{4} \mathcal{M}_{i}$$
$$= -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{n} [(\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}\nu)\tau^{\beta}] \partial_{\beta} \partial_{n} u_{n}^{e\varepsilon} \xi^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{i=1}^{4} \mathcal{M}_{i}$$
$$\geq \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{n} \mathcal{S}_{n\beta}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{n} \partial_{\beta} u_{n}^{e\varepsilon} \xi^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{i=1}^{4} \mathcal{M}_{i} = \mathcal{B}_{n\beta}^{n} - \sum_{i=1}^{4} \mathcal{M}_{i}.$$

In the last term  $\mathcal{A}_{nn}$  we use only (2.32) and the incompressibility condition  $\partial_n u_n^{e\varepsilon} = -\sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \partial_\alpha u_\alpha^{e\varepsilon}$ .

$$\mathcal{A}_{nn} = -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_n \mathcal{S}_{nn}^{\varepsilon} \varphi_n \, \mathrm{d}x \ge \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_n \mathcal{S}_{nn}^{\varepsilon} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \partial_\alpha \partial_n u_\alpha^{e\varepsilon} \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{i=1}^4 \mathcal{M}_i$$
$$= \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_n \mathcal{S}_{nn}^{\varepsilon} \partial_n^2 u_n^{e\varepsilon} \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - \sum_{i=1}^4 \mathcal{M}_i = \mathcal{B}_{nn}^n - \sum_{i=1}^4 \mathcal{M}_i.$$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega_{3r}} f_{k}^{e} \varphi_{k} \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \int_{\Omega_{3r}} |\nabla f^{e}| |\Theta_{\alpha}| \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$\leq C \Big( \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^{*} (|\nabla f^{e}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon} (|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \Big).$$
(2.33)

Collecting all estimates and using the first apriori estimate (2.27) in (2.33) we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega_r} \mu^{\varepsilon} (|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\partial_n Du^{e\varepsilon}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \le \sum_{k,l=1}^n \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_n \mathcal{S}_{kl}^{\varepsilon} \partial_n \partial_l u_k^{e\varepsilon} \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = \sum_{k,l=1}^n \mathcal{B}_{kl}^n$$
$$\le C \Big( \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^* (|f^e|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^* (|\nabla f^e|) \, \mathrm{d}x \Big) + \sum_{i=1}^4 \mathcal{M}_i,$$

which concludes the proof.

Now we formulate lemma about boundedness of the term containing "tangential parts" of the second gradient.

**Lemma 2.3.6** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\Omega \in \mathcal{C}^3$  be a bounded non-axisymmetric domain. Let  $u^{e\varepsilon}$  be the weak solution of the regularized problem (2.22), (2.23) and (2.24). Then there exist positive constants C and  $\tilde{c}_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 5$ , independent of  $u^{e\varepsilon}$ , such that for all  $\alpha \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$  holds

$$\int_{\Omega_r} \mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\partial_{\alpha} Du^{e\varepsilon}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \Big( \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^* (|f^e|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^* (|\nabla f^e|) \, \mathrm{d}x \Big) + \sum_{i=1}^5 \mathcal{M}_i,$$

$$(2.34)$$

where  $\mathcal{M}_i$  with  $\tilde{c}_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 4$  are defined in Lemma 2.3.2 and the term  $\mathcal{M}_5$  with absolute constant  $\tilde{c}_5$  and small  $\delta > 0$  is defined as

$$\mathcal{M}_5 = \tilde{c}_5 \delta \int_{\Omega} \mu^{\varepsilon} (|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^2 u^{e\varepsilon}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

**Remark 2.3.7** In contrary to Lemma 2.3.2, in the estimate (2.34) there appeared the term  $\mathcal{M}_5$ . It can be described as "small term of the same order as the left hand side of (2.34)".  $\mathcal{M}_5$  comes from the usage of Bogovskii's Lemma A.3.3, therefore it has bigger support than  $\mathcal{M}_4$ . Hence, we work on the whole  $\Omega$  instead of  $\Omega_{3r}$ . Smallness of  $\mathcal{M}_5$  is provided by Young's inequality with  $\delta > 0$ , not by the presence of  $a_0$ .

*Proof.* Let's take  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega})$  such that  $\operatorname{supp} \varphi \subset \overline{\Omega_{3r}}$ , div  $\varphi = 0$  and  $\varphi \cdot \nu = 0$  at  $\partial \Omega$ . We test (2.22) by  $-\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}\varphi$  and obtain

$$\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \nabla \pi^{e\varepsilon} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} f^{e} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x. \quad (2.35)$$

In order to let the boundary term vanish while integrating by parts in the first term of (2.35), we add and subtract

$$\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) \cdot \left(\varphi \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu \frac{\nu}{|\nu|^2}\right) \mathrm{d}x$$

in the equation (2.35). We get

$$\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) \cdot \left(\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}\varphi + \varphi \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}\nu \frac{\nu}{|\nu|^{2}}\right) \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) : \nabla \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}\varphi \,\mathrm{d}x \\ -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) : \nabla \left(\varphi \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}\nu \frac{\nu}{|\nu|^{2}}\right) \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial\Omega_{3r}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) : (\psi \otimes \nu) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma,$$

$$(2.36)$$

where  $\psi := \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \varphi + \varphi \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu \frac{\nu}{|\nu|^2}$ . We observe that  $\psi \cdot \nu = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ , because  $\psi \cdot \nu = \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \varphi \cdot \nu + \varphi \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu = \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} (\varphi \cdot \nu) = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ . On  $\partial\Omega_{3r} \setminus \partial\Omega$  it is clear. Therefore due to the condition  $(\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}\nu) \cdot \tau^{\alpha} = 0$  at  $\partial\Omega$  we realize that the boundary integral in (2.36) is equal to zero.

Now we would like to integrate by parts in tangent direction in the first term on the right hand side of (2.36). The tangent derivative doesn't commute with the gradient, but it holds that

$$\nabla \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \varphi = \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nabla \varphi + \nabla \partial_{\alpha} a \otimes \partial_n \varphi.$$
(2.37)

With the help of this identity and Remark A.1.1 we obtain

$$-\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) : \nabla \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) : \nabla \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \\ -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) : \nabla \partial_{\alpha} a \otimes \partial_{n} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x.$$
(2.38)

We modify the term in (2.35) which contains the pressure. If  $\pi^{e\varepsilon} \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$ , we can integrate by parts in tangent direction, use the similar identity as (2.37), integrate by parts in spatial direction, use the divergence-free constraint and the equation (2.22) to replace  $\partial_n \pi^{e\varepsilon}$  by  $f_n + [\operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon})]_n$ :

$$-\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \nabla \pi^{e\varepsilon} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nabla \pi^{e\varepsilon} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \nabla \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \pi^{e\varepsilon} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \nabla \partial_{\alpha} a \partial_{n} \pi^{e\varepsilon} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \nabla \partial_{\alpha} a [f_{n} + [\operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon})]_{n}] \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

$$(2.39)$$

For  $\pi^{e\varepsilon} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  the statement follows from density of  $W^{2,2}(\Omega)$  in  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ . Using modifications (2.36), (2.38) and (2.39) in (2.35) we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) : D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} f^{e} \cdot \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) : \left[ \nabla \partial_{\alpha} a \otimes \partial_{n} \varphi + \nabla \left( \varphi \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu \frac{\nu}{|\nu|^{2}} \right) \right] \mathrm{d}x$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) \cdot (\varphi \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu) \frac{\nu}{|\nu|^{2}} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \nabla \partial_{\alpha} a [f_{n} + (\operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}))_{n}] \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x.$$
(2.40)

The identity (2.40) remains valid for  $\varphi \in W^{1,2}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^n$ ,  $\operatorname{supp} \varphi \subset \overline{\Omega_{3r}}$ . As a test function  $\varphi$  we take

$$\varphi = \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} u^{e\varepsilon} \xi^2 + (u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu) \frac{\nu}{|\nu|^2} \xi^2 + z = \varphi_a + \varphi_b + z, \qquad (2.41)$$

where z is the solution to

$$\operatorname{div} z = \operatorname{div}(-\varphi_a - \varphi_b) \qquad \text{in } \Omega_{3r}, \qquad (2.42)$$

$$z = 0 \qquad \qquad \text{on } \partial\Omega_{3r}. \tag{2.43}$$

The role of z is to ensure that div  $\varphi = 0$ . One easily checks that  $\varphi \cdot \nu = 0$  on  $\partial \Omega$ :

$$\varphi \cdot \nu = (\varphi_a + \varphi_b) \cdot \nu = (\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} u^{e\varepsilon}) \cdot \nu \xi^2 + (u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu) \xi^2 = \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} (u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \nu) \xi^2 = 0.$$

Therefore the compatibility condition holds

$$0 = \int_{\partial\Omega} z \cdot \nu \, \mathrm{d}\sigma = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} z \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(-\varphi_a - \varphi_b) \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\partial\Omega}(\varphi_a + \varphi_b) \cdot \nu \, \mathrm{d}\sigma = 0$$

and z solving (5.31) and (5.32) exists by Bogovskiı́'s Lemma A.3.3 and has the following properties:

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|z|) \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla z|) \,\mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}x, \tag{2.44}$$

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla^{2}z|) \, \mathrm{d}x \leq C \Big( \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla^{2}u^{e\varepsilon}| + |\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}| + |u^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \Big)$$
$$\leq C \Big( \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla^{2}u^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \Big)$$
(2.45)

for arbitrary N-function  $\Phi$ . To derive these properties we used div  $u^{e\varepsilon} = 0$ , Korn's inequality (A.20),  $\Delta_2$ -condition and convexity of N-function  $\Phi$ . Inserting (2.41) into (2.40) and using Young's inequality we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\partial_{\alpha} Du^{e\varepsilon}|^{2} \xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{J}_{1} \leq C \Big( \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^{*}(|f^{e}|) \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^{*}(|\nabla f^{e}|) \,\mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{J}_{2} + \mathcal{J}_{3} \Big) + \sum_{i=1}^{4} \mathcal{M}_{i},$$

where

$$\mathcal{J}_{1} = \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) : Dz \, \mathrm{d}x, \quad \mathcal{J}_{2} = \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|z|) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\mathcal{J}_{3} = \int_{\Omega_{3r}} |\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon})| (|\nabla z| + |z|) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

The terms of the form  $\int_{\Omega_{3r}} \operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}).c(\partial_{\alpha}a, \partial_{\alpha}\partial_{\beta}a)z \, dx$  can be estimated as  $\mathcal{J}_3$  after integration by parts and using facts that  $\Omega \in \mathcal{C}^3$  and z = 0 at  $\partial\Omega$ . It remains to estimate terms containing Bogovskii's correction z. The term  $\mathcal{J}_2$  is estimated directly by (2.44). The term  $\mathcal{J}_3$  is handled by Young's inequality and (2.44):

$$\mathcal{J}_{3} \leq \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})'(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|)(|z|+|\nabla z|) \, \mathrm{d}x \leq C \Big( \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ + \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|z|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|\nabla z|) \, \mathrm{d}x \Big) \leq \mathcal{M}_{ap},$$

where  $\mathcal{M}_{ap}$  is the constant from the first apriori estimate, see (2.27). To estimate  $\mathcal{J}_1$  the assumption on almost monotonicity of  $\Phi''$  is needed. For almost increasing  $(\Phi^{\varepsilon})''$  we move  $\mathcal{J}_1$  to the right hand side and apply Young's inequality:

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{J}_1| &\leq \delta \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^2 u^{e\varepsilon}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &+ c(\delta) \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla z|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \mathcal{M}_5 + \mathcal{J}_{1.1}. \end{aligned}$$

In the term  $\mathcal{J}_{1,1}$  we use the fact that  $(\Phi^{\varepsilon})''$  is almost increasing, the definition of shifted N-function (A.11),

$$\int_{\Omega_{3r}} |V^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) - V^{\varepsilon}(\langle Du^{e\varepsilon} \rangle)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} |V^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) - \langle V^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) \rangle|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

see [23, Lemma 2.8], shift change (A.12) and (2.44).

$$\mathcal{J}_{1.1} \leq C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(|Du^{e\varepsilon}| + |\nabla z|) |\nabla z|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \leq C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}_{|Du^{e\varepsilon}|}(|\nabla z|) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\leq C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}_{|\langle Du^{e\varepsilon}\rangle|}(|\nabla z|) \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} |V^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) - V^{\varepsilon}(\langle Du^{e\varepsilon}\rangle)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \mathcal{M}_{ap}$$

If  $(\Phi^{\varepsilon})''$  is almost decreasing we integrate in  $\mathcal{J}_1$  by parts using Lemma A.1.1 and get:

$$-\mathcal{J}_1 = \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) : \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} Dz \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Using Young's inequality with  $\Phi^{\varepsilon}_{|Du^{e\varepsilon}|}$  and the fact that

$$(\Phi_{|Du^{e\varepsilon}|}^{\varepsilon})^{*}((\Phi^{\varepsilon})'(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|)) \leq C\Phi^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|)$$

we obtain

$$\mathcal{J}_{1} \leq C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})'(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^{2}z| \, \mathrm{d}x \leq C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon}_{|Du^{e\varepsilon}|})^{*}((\Phi^{\varepsilon})'(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|)) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$+ C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}_{|Du^{e\varepsilon}|}(|\nabla^{2}z|) \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \mathcal{M}_{ap} + C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}_{|Du^{e\varepsilon}|}(|\nabla^{2}z|) \, \mathrm{d}x = \mathcal{M}_{ap} + \mathcal{J}_{1.2}.$$

In the term  $\mathcal{J}_{1.2}$  we apply shift change (A.12), (2.45), again shift change (A.12) and finally monotonicity of  $(\Phi^{\varepsilon})''$ .

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_{1.2} &\leq \delta \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}_{|\langle Du^{e\varepsilon}\rangle|}(|\nabla^{2}z|) \,\mathrm{d}x + c(\delta) \int_{\Omega_{3r}} |V^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon})|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \delta \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}_{|\langle Du^{e\varepsilon}\rangle|}(|\nabla^{2}u|) \,\mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{M}_{ap} \leq \delta \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}_{|Du^{e\varepsilon}|}(|\nabla^{2}u|) \,\mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{M}_{ap} \\ &\leq \delta \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(|Du^{e\varepsilon}| + |\nabla^{2}u^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^{2}u^{e\varepsilon}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{M}_{ap} \\ &\leq \delta \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^{2}u^{e\varepsilon}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{M}_{ap} = \mathcal{M}_{5} + \mathcal{M}_{ap}. \end{aligned}$$

The following lemma combines results from Lemma 2.3.2 and Lemma 2.3.6, estimates terms  $\mathcal{M}_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3, by  $\mathcal{M}_{ap}$  and finally subsumes  $\mathcal{M}_i$ , i = 4, 5, to the left hand side.

**Lemma 2.3.8** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\Omega \in \mathcal{C}^3$  be a bounded non-axisymmetric domain. Let  $u^{e\varepsilon}$  be the weak solution of the regularized problem (2.22), (2.23) and (2.24). Then there exists a positive constant C independent of  $u^{e\varepsilon}$  such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^2 u^{e\varepsilon}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \le C \Big( \int_{\Omega} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^* (|f^e|) \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^* (|\nabla f^e|) \,\mathrm{d}x \Big).$$
(2.46)

*Proof.* We put together (2.28) and (2.34) and show that  $\mathcal{M}_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 3$  are estimated by  $\mathcal{M}_{ap}$  and  $\mathcal{M}_4$ . Let us start with  $\mathcal{M}_1$ :

$$\mathcal{M}_1 \leq \delta \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^2 u^{e\varepsilon}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + c(\delta) \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \mathcal{M}_4 + \mathcal{M}_{ap},$$

where we used only Young's inequality with  $\delta = a_0$ . In  $\mathcal{M}_2$  we integrate by parts

$$\mathcal{M}_2 \le C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} |\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}| (|\nabla u^{\varepsilon}| + |u^{\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\partial\Omega_{3r}} |\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}| |u^{\varepsilon}| \, \mathrm{d}\sigma = \mathcal{M}_{2.1} + \mathcal{M}_{2.2}.$$

To estimate  $\mathcal{M}_{2.1}$  we use Young's inequality (A.8), relation (A.10) and Korn's inequality (A.20).

$$\mathcal{M}_{2,1} \le C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|u^{e\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}x \le \mathcal{M}_{ap}.$$

The boundary term  $\mathcal{M}_{2,2}$  can be rewritten with the help of Young's inequality (A.8)

$$\mathcal{M}_{2,2} \leq C \int_{\partial\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})'(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |u^{e\varepsilon}| \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \leq C(\delta) \int_{\partial\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|u^{e\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma +\delta \int_{\partial\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma = \mathcal{M}_{2,3} + \mathcal{M}_{2,4}.$$

To estimate  $\mathcal{M}_{2,3}$  we show that  $\Phi^{\varepsilon}(|u^{e\varepsilon}|) \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$  and therefore  $\Phi^{\varepsilon}(|u^{e\varepsilon}|)$  belongs to the space  $L^1(\partial\Omega)$  by the trace theorem:

$$\mathcal{M}_{2,3} = C \int_{\partial\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|u^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \leq C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} |\nabla\Phi^{\varepsilon}(|u^{e\varepsilon}|)| \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|u^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\leq C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})'(|u^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}| \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|u^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\leq C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + 2C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|u^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \mathcal{M}_{ap},$$

where we used Young's inequality (A.8) and Korn's inequality (A.20). To estimate  $\mathcal{M}_{2,4}$  we start with  $\Phi^{\varepsilon}(|\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}|) \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$  and use the imbedding  $W^{1,1}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^1(\partial\Omega)$ :

$$\mathcal{M}_{2.4} = C \int_{\partial\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma$$
  

$$\leq C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} |\nabla\Phi^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|)| \,\mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}x$$
  

$$\leq C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |Du^{e\varepsilon}| |\nabla^{2}u^{e\varepsilon}| \,\mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}x$$
  

$$\leq \delta \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^{2}u^{e\varepsilon}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + \mathcal{M}_{ap} = \mathcal{M}_{4} + \mathcal{M}_{ap}.$$

In the term  $\mathcal{M}_3$  almost monotonicity of  $(\Phi^{\varepsilon})''$  has to be used. For almost increasing  $(\Phi^{\varepsilon})''$  we use Young's inequality at first:

$$\mathcal{M}_{3} \leq \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^{2}u^{e\varepsilon}| |\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}| \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \delta \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^{2}u^{e\varepsilon}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x \\ + c(\delta) \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x = \mathcal{M}_{4} + \mathcal{M}_{3.1}.$$

For  $\mathcal{M}_{3,1}$  we use that  $(\Phi^{\varepsilon})''$  is almost increasing and Korn's inequality.

$$\mathcal{M}_{3.1} \le C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(|\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}x \le \mathcal{M}_{ap}.$$

In the case when  $(\Phi^{\varepsilon})''$  is almost decreasing, we integrate by parts in  $\mathcal{M}_3$ .

$$\mathcal{M}_{3} \leq C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} |\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}| |\nabla^{2} u^{e\varepsilon}| \xi \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\Omega_{3r}} |\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}| |\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}| \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\partial\Omega_{3r}} |\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}| |\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}| \xi \, \mathrm{d}\sigma$$
$$= \mathcal{M}_{3.2} + \mathcal{M}_{3.3} + \mathcal{M}_{3.4}.$$

We treat  $\mathcal{M}_{3,2}$  like  $\mathcal{M}_1$ , the term  $\mathcal{M}_{3,3}$  is easily estimated with the help of Young's and Korn's inequalities,  $\mathcal{M}_{3,4}$  (after Young's inequality) can be treated like  $\mathcal{M}_{2,4}$ where we moreover use the fact that for almost decreasing  $(\Phi^{\varepsilon})''$  we can replace  $(\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(|\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}|)$  by  $(\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(|D(u^{e\varepsilon})|)$ .

We put together (2.28) and (2.34), use estimates of  $\mathcal{M}_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 and sum over all points P. We recall that P are divided into k groups and in each group the sets  $\Omega_{3r}^P$  are mutually disjoint. We have

$$\int_{\Omega} \mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^{2}u^{e\varepsilon}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \leq k(\tilde{c}_{4}a_{0} + \tilde{c}_{5}\delta) \int_{\Omega} \mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^{2}u^{e\varepsilon}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + C\Big(\int_{\Omega} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^{*}(|f^{e}|) \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^{*}(|\nabla f^{e}|) \,\mathrm{d}x\Big),$$

$$(2.47)$$

If we choose  $a_0$  and  $\delta$  small enough, we can absorb the first integral on the right hand side of (2.47) into the left hand side.

**Remark 2.3.9** In two dimensions we can avoid the assumption on almost monotonicity of  $\Phi''$ . Instead of Lemma 2.3.6 we would test (2.22) by

$$\varphi = (-\partial_2 [\partial_\tau (u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \nu)\xi^2], \partial_1 [\partial_\tau (u^{e\varepsilon} \cdot \nu)\xi^2]),$$

which is sufficient only in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  to obtain all information in tangent direction. In  $\mathcal{M}_3$  we would use the fact, that in boundary integral  $\mathcal{M}_{3.4}$  (which comes after integration by parts) we are able to replace full gradient by the symmetric one. This works only in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

This technique concerning estimates in Orlicz setting was used first in [22], where one of the main features is that it handles the case of p-Laplacean for 1 in a unified way. It would be nice to avoid the assumption on almost $monotonicity of <math>\Phi''$  in the case where we work with symmetric gradients of velocity in n dimensions.

#### 2.4 Limit passage

At first we fix e > 0. To pass with  $\varepsilon \to 0$  in equations (2.22), (2.23) and (2.24) it is enough to have almost everywhere convergence of symmetric gradients, Lemma 2.4.1, and uniform integrability, Lemma 2.4.2.

**Lemma 2.4.1** Let  $-1 < \beta < 0 < \alpha$ , c > 0. We define  $m(s) = cs^{\alpha}$  for  $s \in (0, 1)$ ,  $m(s) = cs^{\beta}$  for  $s \ge 1$ . Let there exits C > 0 such that the sequence  $\{A_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ ,  $A_k : \Omega \mapsto \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  fulfills

$$\int_{\Omega} m^2 (|A_k|) (|A_k|^2 + |\nabla A_k|^2) \, \mathrm{d}x \le C.$$
(2.48)

Then there exists a subsequence  $\{A_{k_l}\}_{l=1}^{\infty}$  and  $A: \Omega \mapsto \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  such that  $A_{k_l} \to A$ a.e. in  $\Omega$  as  $l \to \infty$ . *Proof.* Let  $\tilde{\Psi}$  be an N-function such that  $m(|B|) = \tilde{\Psi}''(|B|)$  for all  $B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ . We define

$$M_{ij}(B) := \partial_{ij}\tilde{\Psi}(|B|) = \tilde{\Psi}'(|B|)\frac{B_{ij}}{|B|} \quad \text{for } B \neq 0, \quad M_{ij}(B) = 0 \quad \text{for } B = 0$$

M is Lipschitz mapping and also homeomorphism of  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  onto  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ . From

$$\nabla_{A_k} M(A_k) = m(|A_k|) \frac{A_k}{|A_k|} \otimes \frac{A_k}{|A_k|} + \tilde{\Psi}'(|A_k|) \left(\frac{Id}{|A_k|} - \frac{A_k \otimes A_k}{|A_k|^3}\right)$$

we easily see that

$$|\nabla_{A_k} M(A_k)| \le C \Big( m(|A_k|) + \frac{\tilde{\Psi}'(|A_k|)}{|A_k|} \Big).$$

Since  $\frac{\tilde{\Psi}'(s)}{s} \leq Cm(s)$  for all s > 0, by simple computation we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\nabla M(A_k)| &\leq Cm(|A_k|) |\nabla A_k|, \\ |M(A_k)| &\leq Cm(|A_k|) |A_k|. \end{aligned}$$

The assumption (2.48) gives  $M(A_k) \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)^{n \times n}$  uniformly in k, so there exists a subsequence  $k_l$  such that

$$\begin{split} M(A_{k_l}) &\rightharpoonup M^* \quad \text{in } W^{1,2}(\Omega)^{n \times n}, \\ M(A_{k_l}) &\to M^* \quad \text{in } L^2(\Omega)^{n \times n}, \\ A_{k_l} &\to M^{-1}(M^*) \quad \text{a.e. in } \Omega. \end{split}$$

Putting  $M^{-1}(M^*) =: A$  we complete the proof.

Now we use Lemma 2.4.1, where instead of the general  $A_k$  we have  $Du^{e\varepsilon}$ . From Lemma A.2.3 we know that there exists  $\alpha > 1, c > 0$  such that for all  $s \in (0,1)$  holds  $\mu(s) \ge cs^{2\alpha}$  and there exists  $\beta \in (-\frac{1}{2},0), c' > 0$  such that for all s > 1 holds  $\mu(s) \ge c's^{2\beta}$ . It can be easily seen that function  $\mu^{\varepsilon}$  also fulfills these conditions. So there exists function m(s) defined in Lemma 2.4.1 satisfying  $m^2(s) < \mu^{\varepsilon}(s)$  for all  $s \in (0,\infty)$  and for all  $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ .

The first apriori estimate (2.27) and Lemma 2.3.8 give

$$\int_{\Omega} m(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \left( |Du^{e\varepsilon}|^2 + |\nabla Du^{e\varepsilon}|^2 \right) \mathrm{d}x \le C,$$

therefore Lemma 2.4.1 provides existence of  $A: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  such that

$$Du^{e\varepsilon} \to A$$
 a.e. in  $\Omega$ .

Moreover, if we use the definition of the N-function  $\Psi$ , using also Korn's inequality from the first apriori estimate (2.27) we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \tilde{\Psi}(|u^{e\varepsilon}|) + \int_{\Omega} \tilde{\Psi}(|\nabla u^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \le C.$$

Thus, there exists  $u^e \in W^{1,\tilde{\Psi}}(\Omega)$ , such that (up to a subsequence)

$$\nabla u^{e\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup \nabla u^e \quad \text{in } L^{\tilde{\Psi}}(\Omega)^{n \times n},$$
$$u^{e\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup u^e \quad \text{in } L^{\tilde{\Psi}}(\Omega)^n.$$

Clearly  $A = Du^e$  and  $Du^{e\varepsilon} \to Du^e$  a.e.

The following lemma gives the uniform integrability.

**Lemma 2.4.2** Let  $\int_{\Omega} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) dx \leq C$ . Then there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that for all  $\sigma \in (0, 1)$  and for all  $E \subset \Omega$  such that  $|E| < \delta$  holds

$$\int_E (\Phi^{\varepsilon})'(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}x < \sigma.$$

*Proof.* Let us denote  $\phi(s) := \int_0^s \max(\mu(t), 1)t \, dt$ . Then for all  $s > 0, \varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  holds  $\phi(s) \ge \Phi^{\varepsilon}(s)$ . Therefore

$$\frac{1}{(\Phi^{\varepsilon})^{-1}(s)} \le \frac{1}{\phi^{-1}(s)}.$$

We note that  $\|\chi_{\Omega}\|_{\Phi^{\varepsilon}} = \frac{1}{(\Phi^{\varepsilon})^{-1}(|\Omega|^{-1})}$  by (A.9). Therefore

$$\|\chi_{\Omega}\|_{\Phi^{\varepsilon}} \leq \frac{1}{(\phi)^{-1}(|\Omega|^{-1})}$$

and  $\phi^{-1}$  is increasing function such that  $\phi^{-1}(s) \to \infty$  as  $s \to \infty$ . Using Hölder's inequality (A.9) we obtain

$$\int_{E} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})'(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \leq 2 \|\chi_{E}\|_{\Phi^{\varepsilon}} \|(\Phi^{\varepsilon})'(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|)\|_{(\Phi^{\varepsilon})^{*}} \\
\leq \frac{C}{\phi^{-1}(|E|^{-1})} \int_{\Omega} (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^{*}((\Phi^{\varepsilon})'(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|)) \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \frac{\tilde{C}}{\phi^{-1}(|E|^{-1})} \int_{\Omega} \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{e\varepsilon}|) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$
(2.49)

The right hand side of (2.49) tends to zero as  $|E| \to 0$ . The constant  $\tilde{C}$  depends on  $\Delta_2(\{\Phi^{\varepsilon}, (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^*\})$ , but as we saw before,  $\Delta_2(\{\Phi^{\varepsilon}, (\Phi^{\varepsilon})^*\})$  doesn't depend on  $\varepsilon$ .

Lemmata 2.4.1 and 2.4.2 allow us to pass to the limit  $\varepsilon \to 0$  in the weak formulation of (2.22), (2.23) and (2.24). It remains to let  $\varepsilon \to 0$  in (2.46). Since  $\{V^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon})\}_{\varepsilon}$  is bounded in  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)^{n \times n}$ , it follows that up to a subsequence

$$V^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) \rightharpoonup \chi \quad \text{in } W^{1,2}(\Omega)^{n \times n},$$
  
$$V^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) \rightarrow \chi \quad \text{in } L^{2}(\Omega)^{n \times n}.$$

To identify  $\chi$  with  $V(Du^e)$  we show  $V^{\varepsilon}(Du^{e\varepsilon}) \to V(Du^e)$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ . For that we need (besides almost everywhere convergence of symmetric gradients) locally uniform convergence of  $V^{\varepsilon}$ , which is provided by the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.4.3** Let  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , then  $V^{\varepsilon} \rightrightarrows V$  on K as  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ .

*Proof.* We recall that  $\psi^{\varepsilon}(|A|)$  is a potential to  $V^{\varepsilon}(A)$ , i.e.  $V^{\varepsilon}(A) = (\Psi^{\varepsilon})'(|A|) \frac{A}{|A|}$ and  $(\Psi^{\varepsilon})'(|A|) = \sqrt{|A|(\Phi^{\varepsilon})'(|A|)} = \sqrt{|A|^2 \mu^{\varepsilon}(|A|)}$ . Therefore,  $V^{\varepsilon}(A) = \sqrt{\mu^{\varepsilon}(|A|)}A$ and  $|V(A) - V^{\varepsilon}(A)| = |\sqrt{\mu(|A|)} - \sqrt{\mu^{\varepsilon}(|A|)}||A|$ .

We know that  $\Phi'(s) = \mu(s)s$  and since  $\Phi'(s)$  is bounded on (0, 1] we get that there exists C > 0 such that for all  $s \in (0, 1)$  and  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  holds  $\mu^{\varepsilon}(s) \leq \max(\mu(s), 1) \leq \frac{C}{s}$ . It follows that for any  $\delta > 0$  we find  $\sigma > 0$  such that for all  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  holds  $|V(A) - V^{\varepsilon}(A)| < \delta$  on  $B_{\sigma}(0)$ . Since  $K \setminus B_{\sigma}(0)$  is compact,  $\mu(|A|)$ attains there its maximum and minimum. Consequently, there is  $\varepsilon_0$  such that for  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0) : V^{\varepsilon} = V$  on  $K \setminus B_{\sigma}(0)$ .

Using Lemma 2.4.3 we get  $\chi = V(Du^e)$  and we can pass on the left hand side of (2.46) as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  by weak lower semicontinuity of norms in  $W^{1,2}(\Omega)^{n \times n}$ .

Passing to the limit as  $e \to 0$  in equations (2.22), (2.23), (2.24) and in (2.46) is easy, because the right hand side f was approximated in order to have  $f^e \to f$  in  $W^{1,\Phi^*}(\Omega)^n$ .

To conclude the proof of Theorem 2.1.2 it remains to reconstruct the pressure and show the inequality (2.1). Using De Rham's theorem A.5.2 we know that there exist pressure  $\pi$  such that

$$\nabla \pi = \operatorname{div} \mathcal{S} + \operatorname{div} g$$

holds in the sense of distributions. We add the assumption  $\int_{\Omega} \pi \, dx = 0$ . Since  $g \in L^{(\Phi^*)^q}$  and  $[\Phi^*(|S(Du)|)]^q \leq C[\Phi^*(\Phi'(|Du|))]^q \leq C(\Phi(|Du|))^q$ , we obtain (2.1) by application of Nečas' Theorem (A.5.1) and imbedding  $W^{1,2}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^{\frac{2n}{n-2}}(\Omega)$ .

Differentiability of weak solutions to equations of steady flows

# Integrability of weak solutions to equations of steady flows

#### 3.1 Main theorem

In this chapter we show  $L^q$  theory for the system (1.23)–(1.25):

in $\Omega$	$-\operatorname{div}\mathcal{S}(Du) + \nabla\pi = f$
in $\Omega$	$\operatorname{div} u = 0$
on $I \times \partial \Omega$	$u \cdot \nu = 0,  [\mathcal{S}(Du)\nu] \cdot \tau = 0$

where  $f = \operatorname{div} F$ . Since some results don't demand the assumption on almost monotonicity of the function  $\Phi''$  we exclude it from Assumption 1.4.3:

Assumption 3.1.1 Suppose that  $\Phi \in C^{1,1}(0,\infty) \cap C^1[0,\infty)$  is an N-function,  $\Phi \in \Delta_2, \ \Phi^* \in \Delta_2 \ and \ \Phi'(s) \sim s \Phi''(s) \ holds \ for \ all \ s > 0.$ 

We will use the space  $^{1}$ 

$$\varphi \in W^{1,\Phi}_{\nu}(\Omega)^n := \{\varphi_i \in W^{1,\Phi}, i = 1, \dots, n; \ \varphi \cdot \nu = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega\}.$$

Unlike Definition 2.1.1 we consider the pressure in the definition of the weak solution:

**Definition 3.1.2** We say that the pair  $(u, \pi) \in W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^n \times L^{\Phi^*}(\Omega)$  is a weak solution to (1.23)–(1.25) if

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du) : D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\Omega} \pi \operatorname{div} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} F : \nabla \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x$$

holds for all  $\varphi \in W^{1,\Phi}_{\nu}(\Omega)^n$ .

Before formulating the main result we would like to mention some previous results which motivated us to our work. In [46] T. Iwaniec showed  $L^q$  theory result for linear problem based on local comparison with the solution to the problem with the zero right hand side. One year later in [47] he extended this result

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>As we use the notation  $W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^n$  for vector-valued functions with components in the function space  $W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\Omega)$ , we use analogically the notation  $W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\Omega)^{n\times n}$  for tensor-valued functions.

also for p-Laplace equations. Among lots of papers based on the comparison technique we mention especially [18]. The approach of L. Caffarelli and A. Peral presented in [18] will be used to prove our main result. In connection with Orlicz spaces we refer to [88], for results concerning the problem with growth described with variable exponent c.f. [42]. Calderón-Zygmund estimates based on the technique introduced by L. Caffarelli and I. Peral in [17] and [18] can be also found in Section 7 of [56] and in [57] where J. Kristensen and G. Mingione provided  $L^q$  estimates up to the boundary for Dirichlet problems involving general nonlinear elliptic systems. For local Calderón-Zygmund estimates for parabolic p-Laplacean systems we refer to [2]. To our knowledge the first result about  $L^q$ regularity for Stokes type system with growth described by N-function was given in [23]. L. Diening and P. Kaplický showed interior  $L^q$  regularity of generalized Stokes system in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  under Assumption 1.4.3. The key part of the proof was Theorem 3.2, where for the problem with zero right hand side gradient of function V(Du) is controlled by oscillations of V(Du). Unlike the previous chapter, a different approach is used here. Instead of working on a general boundary from the beginning, we use flattening the boundary and reflection the solution beyond the boundary in a suitable way.

The main result of this paper concerns with higher integrability of the first gradient of solutions to (1.23) - (1.25). By  $B_r(x_0)$  we denote a ball in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with a center  $x_0$  and a diameter r, we also use an abbreviation  $\Omega_r = \Omega \cap B_r(x_0)$ .

**Theorem 3.1.3** (Main Result) Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a  $\mathcal{C}^{2,1}$  domain and Assumption 3.1.1 be fulfilled. Then there exist  $\lambda > 1$  depending only on the dimension and r > 0 such that for a weak solution u to (1.23)–(1.25) and for every  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$  it holds

$$\left(\Phi^*(|F|) \in L^q(\Omega_{\lambda r})\right) \Rightarrow \left(\Phi(|Du|) \in L^q(\Omega_r)\right),$$

provided  $q \in (1,\infty)$  for n = 2 and  $q \in (1, \frac{n}{n-2})$ , resp.  $q \in (1, \frac{n}{n-2} + \delta)$  for n > 2 and some  $\delta > 0$  in case  $\Phi''$  is almost monotone.<sup>2</sup>

Moreover,

$$\int_{\Omega_r} \Phi(|Du|)^q \, \mathrm{d}x \le c \left( \int_{\Omega_{\lambda_r}} \Phi^*(|F|)^q \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega_{\lambda_r}} \Phi(|u|)^q \, \mathrm{d}x \right) \\
+ c \left( \int_{\Omega_{\lambda_r}} \Phi(|Du|) \, \mathrm{d}x \right)^q, \quad (3.1)$$

where c is independent of  $u, F, \lambda, r$  and x.

Theorem 3.1.3 provides a local regularity of solution near boundary. However, the interior regularity of solution was proven in [23] and thus one may easily derive global regularity of solution as well as global estimates in case  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain.

The method of the proof is basically the same as in [23] and it is based on the approach published in [18]. The validity of two hypothesis (H1') and (H2)

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ For the definition of almost monotonicity see Assumption 1.4.3.

from [18] has to be shown. We formulated these hypothesis for our problem in assumptions of Lemma A.5.4.

At first we study homogeneous system near the flat boundary and verify the hypothesis (H1'). Instead of working on the general smooth boundary like in Chapter 1, we use the special structure of perfect slip boundary conditions in order to extend the solution in a suitable way beyond the flat boundary. Finally, we flatten the general  $C^{2,1}$  boundary and we complete the proof of the main theorem by showing the validity of hypothesis (H2).

# 3.2 Approximative system on a flat boundary

In this section we put some ideas in the case when the boundary  $\partial\Omega$  is flat. By Q we denote a cube in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with center  $x_0$ , sides parallel to the axis and one side equal to 2R, i.e.

$$Q = Q(x_0, R) = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n; \sup_i |x_i - (x_0)_i| < R \right\}.$$

For s > 0 the abbreviation sQ stands for a cube with the same center as Q and side 2sR, i.e.  $sQ = Q(x_0, sR)$ . By |Q| we mean the volume of Q. For  $f \in L^1(Q)$  we define

$$\langle f \rangle_Q = \oint_Q f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x := \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Let  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n_+ := \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R}_+$  and  $x_0 \in \Omega$ . We denote  $(\frac{5}{3}Q)^+ = \frac{5}{3}Q \cap \mathbb{R}^n_+$  and  $\Gamma_{(\frac{5}{3}Q)^+} = \partial(\frac{5}{3}Q)^+ \cap \{x; x_n = 0\}$ . By  $e_i$  we denote the unit vector in the direction  $x_i, i = 1, \ldots, n$ . Since the boundary is flat,  $\tau^{\alpha} = e_{\alpha}$  for  $\alpha = 1, \ldots, n-1$  and  $\nu = -e_n, \partial_{\nu} = \partial_n$  and  $\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} = \partial_{\alpha}$  for  $\alpha = 1, \ldots, n-1$ . By x' we denote the first n-1 components of x, i.e.  $x = (x', x_n)$ .

Fix Q and consider the homogeneous system

$$-\operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}(D\overline{v}) + \nabla p = 0 \quad \operatorname{in} \left(\frac{5}{3}Q\right)^{+},$$
$$\operatorname{div} \overline{v} = 0 \quad \operatorname{in} \left(\frac{5}{3}Q\right)^{+},$$
$$\overline{v} \cdot \nu = 0, \quad [\mathcal{S}(D\overline{v})\nu] \cdot \tau = 0 \quad \operatorname{on} \Gamma_{(\frac{5}{3}Q)^{+}}.$$
$$(3.2)$$

**Definition 3.2.1** The function  $\overline{v}$  is said to be a local weak solution to (3.2), if  $\overline{v} \in W^{1,\Phi}((\frac{5}{3}Q)^+)^n$  and the weak formulation

$$\int_{(\frac{5}{3}Q)^+} \mathcal{S}(D\overline{v}) : D\varphi \,\mathrm{d}x = 0$$

holds for all  $\varphi \in W^{1,\Phi}((\frac{5}{3}Q)^+)^n$  with div  $\varphi = 0$  in  $(\frac{5}{3}Q)^+$ ,  $\varphi \cdot \nu = 0$  on  $\Gamma_{(\frac{5}{3}Q)^+}$ , supp  $\varphi \subset \subset (\frac{5}{3}Q)$ . The aim of this section is to prove the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.2.2** Let  $\overline{v} \in W^{1,\Phi}((\frac{5}{3}Q)^+)^n$  be a local weak solution to (3.2). Then there exists a constant C independent of  $\overline{v}$  and R such that

$$\left( \oint_{\left(\frac{4}{3}Q\right)^+} |V(D\overline{v})|^q \,\mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \le C \left( \oint_{\left(\frac{5}{3}Q\right)^+} |V(D\overline{v})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{1}{2}},\tag{3.3}$$

for  $q \in \left[2, \frac{2n}{n-2}\right]$  provided n > 2 and  $q \in \left[2, \infty\right)$  for n = 2. In case  $\Phi''$  is almost monotone, n > 2, we can even allow  $q = \frac{rn}{n-r}$  for some r > 2.

*Proof.* At first we extend the solution from  $(\frac{5}{3}Q)^+$  to  $\frac{5}{3}Q$ . For  $\alpha = 1, \ldots, n-1$  define  $\tilde{v}$  as follows

$$\tilde{v}_{\alpha}(x', x_n) = \begin{cases} \overline{v}_{\alpha}(x', x_n) & \text{for } x_n > 0, \\ \overline{v}_{\alpha}(x', -x_n) & \text{for } x_n < 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

$$\tilde{v}_n(x', x_n) = \begin{cases} \overline{v}_n(x', x_n) & \text{for } x_n > 0, \\ -\overline{v}_n(x', -x_n) & \text{for } x_n < 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

Using (3.4) and (3.5) we compute components of the symmetric gradient of  $\tilde{v}$  for  $x_n > 0$ 

$$D_{\alpha\alpha}\tilde{v}(x', -x_n) = D_{\alpha\alpha}\tilde{v}(x', x_n),$$
  

$$D_{\alpha n}(x', -x_n) = -D_{\alpha n}\tilde{v}(x', x_n),$$
  

$$D_{nn}\tilde{v}(x', -x_n) = D_{nn}\tilde{v}(x', x_n).$$
(3.6)

Note that for  $\overline{v} \in W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}((\frac{5}{3}Q)^+)^n$  the extended solution  $\tilde{v}$  belongs to  $W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\frac{5}{3}Q)^n$ since  $\tilde{v}$  is absolutely continuous on lines a.e. and the derivative of  $\tilde{v}$  is in  $L^{\Phi}(\frac{5}{3}Q)^{n\times n}$  pointwisely. For a test function  $\varphi \in W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\frac{5}{3}Q)^n$  we define  $\varphi^+$  by components

$$\varphi_{\alpha}^{+} = \frac{1}{2} \big( \varphi_{\alpha}(x', x_n) + \varphi_{\alpha}(x', -x_n) \big), \quad \alpha = 1, \dots, n-1,$$
  
$$\varphi_{n}^{+} = \frac{1}{2} \big( \varphi_{n}(x', x_n) - \varphi_{n}(x', -x_n) \big),$$

and similarly

$$\varphi_{\alpha}^{-} = \frac{1}{2} \big( \varphi_{\alpha}(x', x_n) - \varphi_{\alpha}(x', -x_n) \big), \quad \alpha = 1, \dots, n-1,$$
  
$$\varphi_{n}^{-} = \frac{1}{2} \big( \varphi_{n}(x', x_n) + \varphi_{n}(x', -x_n) \big),$$

One can easily check that div  $\varphi^+ = \operatorname{div} \varphi^- = 0$  holds in  $\frac{5}{3}Q$ . Thus,

$$\int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \mathcal{S}(D\tilde{v}) : D\varphi \,\mathrm{d}x = \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \mathcal{S}(D\tilde{v}) : D\varphi^+ \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \mathcal{S}(D\tilde{v}) : D\varphi^- \,\mathrm{d}x = \mathcal{I}_1 + \mathcal{I}_2 = 0 \quad \forall \varphi \in W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma} \left(\frac{5}{3}Q\right)^n, \quad (3.7)$$

where  $\mathcal{I}_1$  is equal to zero due to the equation (3.2) and  $\mathcal{I}_2$  is equal to zero because of the symmetry of  $\varphi^-$ .

The proof of Theorem 3.2.2 is based on the following lemma which will be proven later.

**Lemma 3.2.3** Let  $\tilde{v} \in W^{1,\Phi}(\frac{5}{3}Q)^n$  satisfies (3.7). Then there exists a positive constant C depending only on  $\Delta_2(\{\Phi, \Phi^*\})$  and constants in (1.28) such that

$$\int_{\frac{4}{3}Q} |\nabla V(D\tilde{v})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \le \frac{C}{R^2} \Big( \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |V(D\tilde{v})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \Big). \tag{3.8}$$

Moreover, if  $\Phi''$  is almost monotone, the estimate (3.8) can be improved to

$$\int_{\frac{4}{3}Q} |\nabla V(D\tilde{v})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \le \frac{C}{R^2} \Big( \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |V(D\tilde{v}) - \langle V(D\tilde{v}) \rangle_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \Big). \tag{3.9}$$

Application of Sobolev-Poincaré inequality (A.13) to the left hand side of (3.8) (after multiplication of  $R^2$  and square root) leads to

$$\left( \oint_{\frac{4}{3}Q} |V(D\tilde{v}) - \langle V(D\tilde{v}) \rangle_{\frac{4}{3}Q}|^q \,\mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \le C \left( \oint_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |V(D\tilde{v})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \tag{3.10}$$

for  $q \in [2, \infty)$  in case n = 2 and  $q \in [2, \frac{2n}{n-2}]$  in case n > 2. For almost monotone  $\Phi''$  we can at first apply on (3.9) Sobolev-Poincaré inequality (A.13) and Reverse Hölder inequality (A.25) to obtain for some r > 2

$$\left( \oint_{\frac{4}{3}Q} |\nabla V(D\tilde{v})|^r \,\mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{1}{r}} \le \left( \frac{C}{R^2} \oint_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |\nabla V(D\tilde{v}) - \langle \nabla V(D\tilde{v}) \rangle_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.11)

Consequently,

$$\left( \oint_{\frac{4}{3}Q} |V(D\tilde{v})|^q \,\mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \le C \left( \oint_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |V(D\tilde{v})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \tag{3.12}$$

where q is the same as mentioned before. To conclude the proof it remains to go from  $\tilde{v}$  to  $\bar{v}$  and from  $\frac{4}{3}Q$ , resp.  $\frac{5}{3}Q$  to  $(\frac{4}{3}Q)^+$ , resp.  $(\frac{5}{3}Q)^+$ . The integral on the left hand side of inequality (3.12) can be estimated from above by the integral over the smaller set  $(\frac{4}{3}Q)^+$ . The integral on the right hand side of (3.12) can be split into a integral over  $(\frac{5}{3}Q)^+$  and integral over  $\frac{5}{3}Q \setminus (\frac{5}{3}Q)^+$ . Then we can use a fact that integral over  $\frac{5}{3}Q \setminus (\frac{5}{3}Q)^+$  is proportional to the integral over  $(\frac{5}{3}Q)^+$ , where we moreover use that due to the definition of function V and (3.6) we have  $|V(D\overline{v}(x', x_n))| = |V(D\tilde{v}(x', x_n))|$ .

Proof of Lemma 3.2.3. The extension beyond the flat boundary reduces the problem to the interior regularity which is covered in [23, Theorem 3.2] in case n = 3. From this reason we would like to show only the generalization from n = 3 to higher dimensions. To underline the main idea of the proof we omit the technical steps concerning the regularization of the solution. We suppose that the solution is smooth enough to justify all calculations of this proof. At the end we briefly discuss how one should proceed in case the solution is not regular enough.

The test function in [23, Lemma 3.5] is constructed to take advantage of the operator curl, which is in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  defined by curl  $g = (\partial_2 g_3 - \partial_3 g_2, \partial_3 g_1 - \partial_1 g_3, \partial_1 g_2 - \partial_2 g_1)$ . Since we are not aware of any straightforward generalization of the curl operator to n dimensions, we use the language of exterior differential calculus to construct the right test function.

At first we state some notation. Although we denoted by  $\{e_i, i = 1, ..., n\}$  the orthonormal basis in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  before, we need to distinguish vectors and forms now and therefore we use  $\{\partial_i, i = 1, ..., n\}$  to represent an orthonormal basis for vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , whereas  $\{dx^i, i = 1, ..., n\}$  denotes corresponding dual 1-form basis. In order to follow the standard notation, we use in this section the upper indices for components of vectors whereas the lower indices indicates components of form of any order. In the next section we won't work with such forms, therefore all indices will be the lower ones.

We will use so called musical isomorphisms  $\sharp$  and  $\flat$ , where  $\sharp$  raise the indices of a 1-form  $\beta$  to give the vector  $\beta^{\sharp}$  whereas  $\flat$  lowers the indices of a vector z to produces a 1-form  $z^{\flat}$ , i.e.

$$\beta = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i dx^i, \quad \beta^{\sharp} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta^i \partial_i, \quad z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} z^i \partial_i, \quad z^{\flat} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} z_i dx^i.$$

By d we mean the exterior derivative and the symbol  $\wedge$  denotes the wedge product. Let us denote

$$\widehat{dx^{i}} := dx^{1} \cdots \wedge dx^{i-1} \wedge dx^{i+1} \cdots \wedge dx^{n},$$
$$\widehat{dx^{i} \wedge dx^{j}} := dx^{1} \cdots \wedge dx^{i-1} \wedge dx^{i+1} \cdots \wedge dx^{j-1} \wedge dx^{j+1} \cdots \wedge dx^{n}.$$

The Hodge map  $\star$  is linear isomorphism between the vector spaces of differential k- and (n-k)- forms. In Riemannian metric it holds

$$\star (dx^{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge dx^{i_k}) = dx^{i_{k+1}} \wedge \dots \wedge dx^{i_n},$$

where  $(i_1, \ldots, i_n)$  is any even permutation of  $(1, 2, \ldots, n)$ . Let  $\xi \in \mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\frac{5}{3}Q)$  be a cut-off function with  $\chi_{\frac{4}{3}Q} \leq \xi \leq \chi_{\frac{5}{3}Q}$  and  $\|\nabla^j \xi\|_{\infty} \leq C/R^j$  for j = 1, 2. Let  $q : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$  be a linear function with  $\nabla q = \langle \nabla \tilde{v} \rangle_{\frac{5}{3}Q}$ . We test (3.7) by

$$\varphi = \left( \star d[\xi^2 \star d(\tilde{v} - q)^{\flat}] \right)^{\sharp}.$$
(3.13)

Note that the test function is well defined.  $\flat$  converts the vector field  $(\tilde{v} - q)$  into a 1-form  $(\tilde{v} - q)^{\flat}$ . d computes something like a curl but expressed as a 2-form  $d(\tilde{v} - q)^{\flat}$ .  $\star$  turns this 2-form into a (n - 2)-form. After multiplication by  $\xi^2$  and application of the derivative d we obtain (n - 1)-form and Hodge star  $\star$  create 1-form, which is by  $\sharp$  converted to the vector. Moreover, one can easily see that div  $\varphi = 0$ , since div  $\varphi = \star d \star \varphi^{\flat}$  and  $dd\gamma = 0$  for any differential form  $\gamma$ .

Let's see how (3.13) looks in components. For better lucidity we define  $z = \tilde{v} - q$ . At first we compute derivative of  $z^{\flat} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} z_i dx^i$  and apply the Hodge map:

$$dz^{\flat} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \partial_j z_i dx^j \wedge dx^i = \sum_{i < j} (\partial_i z_j - \partial_j z_i) dx^i \wedge dx^j,$$
  
$$\xi^2 \star dz^{\flat} = \sum_{i < j} \xi^2 (\partial_i z_j - \partial_j z_i) (-1)^{i+j-3} d\widehat{x^i \wedge dx^j},$$

where we used that  $dx^i \wedge dx^j = -dx^j \wedge dx^i$  for  $i \neq j$  and  $dx^i \wedge dx^i = 0$ . Further,

$$d(\xi^{2} \star dz^{\flat}) = \sum_{i < j} [\xi^{2}(\partial_{i}^{2}z_{j} - \partial_{i}\partial_{j}z_{i}) + 2\xi\partial_{i}\xi(\partial_{i}z_{j} - \partial_{j}z_{i})](-1)^{i+j-3}dx^{i} \wedge d\widehat{x^{i} \wedge dx^{j}} + \sum_{i < j} [\xi^{2}(\partial_{j}\partial_{i}z_{j} - \partial_{j}^{2}z_{i}) + 2\xi\partial_{j}\xi(\partial_{i}z_{j} - \partial_{j}z_{i})](-1)^{i+j-3}dx^{j} \wedge d\widehat{x^{i} \wedge dx^{j}}.$$

$$(3.14)$$

We can change the summation indices in the second sum in (3.14), move  $dx^i$  to the  $i^{th}$  position in the product and finally put these two sums together.

$$d(\xi^{2} \star dz^{\flat}) = \sum_{i < j} [\xi^{2}(\partial_{i}^{2}z_{j} - \partial_{i}\partial_{j}z_{i}) + 2\xi\partial_{i}\xi(\partial_{i}z_{j} - \partial_{j}z_{i})](-1)^{i+j-3+i-1}\widehat{dx^{j}}$$

$$+ \sum_{i > j} [\xi^{2}(-\partial_{i}^{2}z_{j} + \partial_{i}\partial_{j}z_{i}) + 2\xi\partial_{i}\xi(-\partial_{i}z_{j} + \partial_{j}z_{i})](-1)^{i+j-3+i-2}\widehat{dx^{j}}$$

$$= \sum_{i \neq j} [\xi^{2}(\partial_{i}^{2}z_{j} - \partial_{i}\partial_{j}z_{i}) + 2\xi\partial_{i}\xi(\partial_{i}z_{j} - \partial_{j}z_{i})](-1)^{j}\widehat{dx^{j}}.$$

$$(3.15)$$

Thus, applying the Hodge star and going back from forms to vectors

$$[\star d(\xi^2 \star dz^{\flat})]^{\sharp} = \sum_{i \neq j} [\xi^2 (\partial_i^2 z^j - \partial_i \partial_j z^i) + 2\xi \partial_i \xi (\partial_i z^j - \partial_j z^i)] (-1)^{j+j-1} \partial_j.$$

As one can easily check, z is divergence-free, therefore  $\sum_{i\neq j} \partial_i \partial_j z_i = -\partial_j \partial_j z_j$  and we finally obtain

$$\varphi = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left( -\xi^2 \partial_i^2 (\tilde{v})^j + 2\xi \partial_i \xi [-\partial_i (\tilde{v} - q)^j + \partial_j (\tilde{v} - q)^i] \right) \partial_j,$$
(3.16)

where we moreover used that q is a linear function, thus  $\partial_i^2 q = 0$ . Inserting (3.16) into (3.7) we get

$$-\int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} [\mathcal{S}(D\tilde{v}) - \mathcal{S}(Dq)] : \nabla(\xi^2 \Delta \tilde{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} [\mathcal{S}(D\tilde{v}) - \mathcal{S}(Dq)] : \nabla(2\xi \nabla \xi (\nabla \tilde{v} - \nabla q) - (\nabla \tilde{v} - \nabla q)^T) \, \mathrm{d}x = \mathcal{J}_1 + \mathcal{J}_2 = 0. \quad (3.17)$$

From this point we proceed almost in the same way as in [23, Proof of Lemma 3.5], where the authors L. Diening and P. Kaplický due to the regularization estimated more terms. For the sake of completeness we reproduce the computation also here.

Lets start with proving (3.9). We proceed in a different way when  $\Phi''$  is almost decreasing or almost increasing. At first let us assume that  $\Phi''$  is almost decreasing. After some manipulation involving integrating by parts in the first term we have

$$\mathcal{J}_{1} = \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \nabla \mathcal{S}(D\tilde{v})\xi^{2} \nabla^{2}\tilde{v} \,\mathrm{d}x - \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} [\mathcal{S}(D\tilde{v}) - \mathcal{S}(Dq)] \operatorname{div}(\nabla \xi^{2} \otimes (\nabla \tilde{v} - \nabla q)) \,\mathrm{d}x \\ + \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} [\mathcal{S}(D\tilde{v}) - \mathcal{S}(Dq)] \nabla [(\nabla \tilde{v} - \nabla q) \nabla \xi^{2}] \,\mathrm{d}x \\ = \mathcal{J}_{1.1} + \mathcal{J}_{1.2} + \mathcal{J}_{1.3}. \quad (3.18)$$

Assumption 3.1.1, symmetry of S, the relation between  $\Psi''$  and  $\Phi''$  (1.29) and the definition of the function V (5.38) are used to gain the following information from  $\mathcal{J}_{1,1}$ :

$$\mathcal{J}_{1.1} \ge C \!\!\!\int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi''(|D\tilde{v}|) \xi |\nabla D\tilde{v}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \ge C \!\!\!\!\int_{\frac{4}{3}Q} |\nabla V(D\tilde{v})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x. \tag{3.19}$$

Notice that  $\mathcal{J}_{1,2}$ ,  $\mathcal{J}_{1,3}$  and the term  $\mathcal{J}_2$  have similar structure and can be estimated together as follows

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{J}_{1.2}| + |\mathcal{J}_{1.3}| + |\mathcal{J}_{2}| &\leq C \!\!\!\!\!\int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |\mathcal{S}(D\tilde{v}) - \mathcal{S}(Dq)| \Big(\frac{1}{R^2} |\nabla \tilde{v} - \nabla q)| + \frac{1}{R} \xi |\nabla^2 \tilde{v}| \Big) \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &= \mathcal{J}_3 + \mathcal{J}_4. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.20)$$

In order to estimate  $\mathcal{J}_3$  we use Young's inequality (A.8) together with (A.10), Korn's inequality (A.4.5) and Lemma A.2.6.

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_{3} &\leq \frac{C}{R^{2}} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi'_{|Dq|}(|D\tilde{v} - Dq|) |\nabla\tilde{v} - \nabla q| \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \frac{C}{R^{2}} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi_{|Dq|}(|D\tilde{v} - Dq|) \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \frac{C}{R^{2}} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi_{|Dq|}(|\nabla\tilde{v} - \nabla q|) \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \frac{C}{R^{2}} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |V(D\tilde{v}) - V(Dq)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x. \end{aligned}$$

r

In estimates of the last integral  $\mathcal{J}_4$  the assumption on almost monotonicity of  $\Phi''$  will be needed. Using Assumption 3.1.1, the classical Young's inequality and Lemma A.2.6 we get

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_{4} &\leq \frac{C}{R} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi''(|D\tilde{v}| + |Dq|) |D\tilde{v} - Dq|\xi| \nabla^{2}\tilde{v}| \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \frac{C(\delta)}{R^{2}} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi''(|D\tilde{v}| + |Dq|) |D\tilde{v} - Dq|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \delta \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi''(|D\tilde{v}| + |Dq|) |\nabla^{2}\tilde{v}|^{2}\xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \frac{C}{R^{2}} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |V(D\tilde{v}) - V(Dq)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi''(|D\tilde{v}|) |\nabla^{2}\tilde{v}|^{2}\xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \end{aligned}$$

where in the last term we used the fact that  $\Phi''$  is almost decreasing. Since  $\delta > 0$  can be chosen arbitrarily small, this term can be subsumed into (3.19).

We use that  $Dq = \langle D\tilde{v} \rangle_{\frac{5}{2}Q}$  and apply Lemma A.2.7 to obtain

$$\int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |V(D\tilde{v}) - V(\langle D\tilde{v} \rangle_{\frac{5}{3}Q})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \le \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |V(D\tilde{v}) - \langle V(D\tilde{v}) \rangle_{\frac{5}{3}Q}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x,$$

Gathering estimates of  $\mathcal{J}_1 - \mathcal{J}_4$  leads to the estimate (3.9) provided  $\Phi''$  is almost decreasing.

In case  $\Phi''$  is almost increasing, it suffices to estimate  $\mathcal{J}_{1.2}$ ,  $\mathcal{J}_{1.3}$  and  $\mathcal{J}_2$  in a different way, other estimates remains the same. We integrate by parts in  $\mathcal{J}_{1.2}$ ,  $\mathcal{J}_{1.3}$  and  $\mathcal{J}_2$  and obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{J}_{1,2}| + |\mathcal{J}_{1,3}| + |\mathcal{J}_{2}| &\leq \frac{C}{R} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |\nabla \mathcal{S}(D\tilde{v})| |\nabla \tilde{v} - \nabla q| \xi \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \delta \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi''(|D\tilde{v}|) |\nabla^{2} \tilde{v}|^{2} \xi^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \frac{C(\delta)}{R^{2}} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi''(|D\tilde{v}|) |\nabla \tilde{v} - \nabla q|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x = \mathcal{J}_{5} + \mathcal{J}_{6}, \end{aligned}$$

where we moreover used the classical Young's inequality in the last step. The term  $\mathcal{J}_5$  can be subsumed into (3.19). Since  $\Phi''$  is almost increasing, we can add  $|\nabla \tilde{v} - \nabla q|$  to the argument of  $\mathcal{J}_6$ , use the definition of shifted N-functions (A.11) and apply Lemma A.2.6.

$$\mathcal{J}_{6} \leq \frac{C(\delta)}{R^{2}} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi''(|D\tilde{v}| + |\nabla\tilde{v} - \nabla q|) |\nabla\tilde{v} - \nabla q)|^{2} dx$$
  
$$\leq \frac{C(\delta)}{R^{2}} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi_{|D\tilde{v}|}(|\nabla\tilde{v} - \nabla q|) dx \leq \frac{C}{R^{2}} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |V(D\tilde{v}) - V(Dq)|^{2} dx.$$

From this point we proceed in the same way like for almost decreasing  $\Phi''$ .

To prove (3.8) it is enough to focus on estimates of  $\mathcal{J}_{1.2}$ ,  $\mathcal{J}_{1.3}$  and  $\mathcal{J}_2$  where the assumption of almost monotonicity was used. Considering the same test function and omitting the term  $\mathcal{S}(Dq)$  in (3.17) we have

$$|\mathcal{J}_{1,2}| + |\mathcal{J}_{1,3}| + |\mathcal{J}_{2}| \le C \oint_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |\mathcal{S}(D\tilde{v})| \left(\frac{1}{R^2} |\nabla \tilde{v} - \nabla q)| + \frac{1}{R} \xi |\nabla^2 \tilde{v}|\right) \mathrm{d}x = \mathcal{J}_7 + \mathcal{J}_8.$$

In  $\mathcal{J}_7$  we proceed like in  $\mathcal{J}_3$ . The situation is easier since we don't need to deal with shifted N-functions.

$$\mathcal{J}_7 \leq \frac{C}{R^2} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi'(|D\tilde{v}|) |\nabla \tilde{v} - \nabla q| \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \frac{C}{R^2} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi(|D\tilde{v}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ + \frac{C}{R^2} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi(|\nabla \tilde{v} - \nabla q|) \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \frac{C}{R^2} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |V(D\tilde{v})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

The term  $\mathcal{J}_8$  can be handled in a similar way like  $\mathcal{J}_4$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_8 &\leq \frac{C}{R} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi''(|D\tilde{v}|) |D\tilde{v}|\xi| \nabla^2 \tilde{v} | \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \frac{C(\delta)}{R^2} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi''(|D\tilde{v}|) |D\tilde{v}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi''(|D\tilde{v}|) |\nabla^2 \tilde{v}|^2 \xi^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \frac{C}{R^2} \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} |V(D\tilde{v})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{\frac{5}{3}Q} \Phi''(|D\tilde{v}|) |\nabla^2 \tilde{v}|^2 \xi^2 \,\mathrm{d}x, \end{aligned}$$

where the last term can be subsumed to (3.19). Thus, after similar steps as before, the estimate (3.8) holds.

Now we comment very briefly how to proceed in case we don't assume the smoothness of the solution in order to do above mentioned computations. We could consider the following truncation

$$(\Phi^{\varepsilon})''(s) = \min\left(\max\left(\Phi''(s),\varepsilon\right), \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right), \quad \varepsilon \in (0,1).$$

Except this "quadratic" approximation, which corresponds to the case p = 2 for power-law models, we should moreover mollify boundary conditions on  $\partial(\frac{5}{3}Q)^+ \setminus \Gamma_{(\frac{5}{3}Q)^+}$ . We would proceed in a similar way as in Chapter 2, including the limit passage. For the solution  $\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}$  of corresponding approximated problem would show  $\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon} \in W^{2,2}((\frac{5}{3}Q)^+)$  via the difference quotient technique. After uniform estimates with respect to  $\varepsilon$  we would show almost everywhere convergence of symmetric velocity gradients and uniform integrability of  $(\Phi^{\varepsilon})'$  to pass from the approximated problem to the original one by Vitali's theorem. To pass with  $\varepsilon \to 0$  in the estimates we would moreover show the uniform integrability of  $V^{\varepsilon}$ , where  $V^{\varepsilon}$  has the same relation to  $\Phi^{\varepsilon}$  as V to  $\Phi$ .

Another possibility would be the system of approximations considered in [23].

# 3.3 Flattening

In order to handle a general  $\mathcal{C}^{2,1}$  non-flat boundary, we present its following description. Throughout this section, we assume that  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$  is fixed. The boundary can be understood on a neighborhood of the point  $x_0$  as a graph of a function  $a : \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \mapsto \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $a(0) = x_0$  such that  $\partial_{\alpha} a(0) = e_{\alpha}$  for  $\alpha = 1, \ldots, n-1$ . Using the function a we can describe the normal vector as  ${}^3 \nu(x') = \partial_1 a \times \ldots \times$  $\partial_{n-1} a(x')$ . We introduce a function  $H_{x_0} : \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto \mathbb{R}^n$  which is defined as

$$H_{x_0}(x) := a(x') - \nu(x')x_n$$

We work with a cube Q = Q(0, R), for which we denoted  $Q^+ = Q \cap \mathbb{R}^n_+$ . We also consider restrictions  $H_{x_0,R}$  of the function  $H_{x_0}$  on a rectangle  $Q^+$ , i.e.:

$$H_{x_0,R}(x) = H_{x_0}(x)|_{Q^+}.$$

Since  $x_0$  is fixed, we use  $H_R$  instead of  $H_{x_0,R}$  throughout this chapter. It holds that  $H_R(0) = x_0$  and  $\nabla H_R(0) = I$  and smoothness of the boundary implies that  $H_R \in \mathcal{C}^{1,1}$  and, consequently,  $\nabla H_R(x) - \nabla H_R(0) = R\omega$  where  $\omega$  is a function bounded independently of R. Similarly, also  $\nabla H_R^{-1}(x) - \nabla H_R^{-1}(0) = R\omega$ . Hereinafter,  $\omega$  stands for a matrix valued function,  $\omega'$  for a tensor of third order and  $\omega''$  for a real-valued function which express a perturbation arising from a curvature of the boundary. These functions may vary from line to line, however they are bounded independently of R.

The function  $H_R$  maps  $Q^+$  into  $\Omega$  for all  $R \in (0, R_0)$ . Furthermore, we set  $y = H_R(x)$  and  $\Gamma_R = \overline{H_R(Q^+)} \cap \partial \Omega$ .

For a general function  $f : H_R(Q^+) \to \mathbb{R}$  we state a function  $\overline{f} : Q^+ \to \mathbb{R}$ defined as  $\overline{f}(x) = f(H_R(x)) = f(y)$ . It holds that

$$\nabla_y f = \nabla_x \overline{f} \nabla_x H_R^{-1} = \nabla_x \overline{f} + R \nabla_x \overline{f} \omega.$$
(3.21)

In case  $f: H_R(Q^+) \mapsto \mathbb{R}^n$  it also holds

$$2D_y f = \left(\nabla_x \overline{f} \nabla_x H_R^{-1}\right) + \left(\nabla_x \overline{f} \nabla_x H_R^{-1}\right)^T = 2\left(D_x \overline{f} + Z_{\overline{f}}\right), \qquad (3.22)$$

$$\operatorname{div}_{y} f = \operatorname{Tr} \left( \nabla_{x} f \nabla_{x} H_{R}^{-1} \right) = \operatorname{div}_{x} f + \operatorname{Tr} \left( \nabla_{x} f (\nabla_{x} H_{R}^{-1} - I) \right) \quad (3.23)$$
$$= \operatorname{div}_{x} \overline{f} + R \operatorname{Tr} \left( \nabla_{x} \overline{f} \omega \right),$$

where

$$Z_{\overline{f}} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \nabla_x \overline{f} (\nabla_x H_R^{-1} - I) + (\nabla_x H_R^{-1} - I)^T (\nabla_x \overline{f})^T \right)$$
(3.24)

$$= \frac{R}{2} \left( \nabla_x \overline{f} \omega + (\nabla_x \overline{f} \omega)^T \right). \tag{3.25}$$

We consider a function  $\pi_a := \pi - \pi_c$  where a constant  $\pi_c$  will be determined later. From the Definition 5.1.1 we have

$$\int_{H_R(Q^+)} \mathcal{S}(Du) : D\varphi \,\mathrm{d}y - \int_{H_R(Q^+)} \pi_a \operatorname{div} \varphi \,\mathrm{d}y = \int_{H_R(Q^+)} F : D\varphi \,\mathrm{d}y, \qquad (3.26)$$

<sup>3</sup>Recall that by x' we denote the first n-1 coordinates of x, i.e.  $x = (x', x_n) = (x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1}, x_n)$ 

whenever  $\varphi \in W^{1,\Phi}_{\nu}(\Omega)^n$ ,  $\varphi = 0$  on  $\partial H_R(Q^+) \setminus \partial \Omega$ . The equation (3.26) can be transformed using the function  $H_R$  into the following identity

$$\int_{Q^{+}} \mathcal{S}(D\overline{u} + Z_{\overline{u}}) : (D\overline{\varphi} + Z_{\overline{\varphi}}) \det \nabla H_{R} dx$$
$$- \int_{Q^{+}} \overline{\pi}_{a} (\operatorname{div} \overline{\varphi} + \operatorname{Tr}(\nabla \overline{\varphi}(\nabla H_{R}^{-1} - I))) \det \nabla H_{R} dx$$
$$= \int_{Q^{+}} \overline{F} : (\nabla \overline{\varphi} + \nabla \overline{\varphi}(\nabla H_{R}^{-1} - I)) \det \nabla H_{R} dx. \quad (3.27)$$

which holds for all  $\overline{\varphi} \in W^{1,\Phi}(Q^+)^n$  satisfying

$$\overline{\varphi} = 0 \text{ on } \partial Q^+ \setminus \Gamma_{Q^+}, \qquad (3.28)$$

$$\overline{\varphi} \cdot \overline{\nu} = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{Q^+}, \qquad (3.29)$$

where  $\Gamma_{Q^+} = \partial Q^+ \cap \{x; x_n = 0\}$ . On the flat boundary portion it is natural to work with the outward normal  $\nu = -e_n$ . Using the function  $H_R$  we can describe relation between  $\overline{\nu}$  and  $-e_n$  as  $\overline{\nu} = -\nabla H_R e_n$ . Thus, (3.29) can be rewritten as

$$\psi \cdot e_n = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{Q^+},$$

where  $\psi(x) = (\nabla H_R)^T \varphi(H_R x) = (\nabla H_R)^T \overline{\varphi}$ . In order to express (3.27) with the help of the test function  $\psi$  instead of  $\overline{\varphi}$  we need to rewrite (3.21)–(3.23) for  $f = \varphi$ :

$$\nabla_y \varphi = ((\nabla_x H_R)^T)^{-1} \nabla_x \psi (\nabla_x H_R)^{-1} + \nabla_x ((\nabla_x H_R)^T)^{-1} \psi (\nabla_x H_R)^{-1}$$
  
=  $\nabla_x \psi + R \omega \nabla_x \psi + \omega' \psi,$  (3.30)

$$D_y \varphi = D_x \psi + Z_\psi + \omega' \psi, \qquad (3.31)$$

$$\operatorname{div}_{y} \varphi = \operatorname{div}_{x} \psi + R \operatorname{Tr}(\omega \nabla_{x} \psi) + \operatorname{Tr}(\omega' \psi), \qquad (3.32)$$

where we used that second gradient of  $H_R$  is bounded independently of R. Denote  $\nabla_x ((\nabla_x H_R)^T)^{-1}$  by  $\tilde{\omega}'$ . Instead of  $\tilde{\omega}' \psi \omega$  we can write  $\omega' \psi$  for some another bounded third order tensor  $\omega'$ .<sup>4</sup>

Whereas in (3.27) we expressed all terms using function  $H_R$ , after employment of (3.30)–(3.32) for a better lucidity we prefer to write all terms of transformed version of (3.27) with the help of general bounded functions  $\omega, \omega'$  and  $\omega''$  with bounds independent of R. We get:

$$\int_{Q^{+}} \mathcal{S}(D\overline{u} + Z_{\overline{u}}) : (D\psi + Z_{\psi} + \omega'\psi)(1 + R\omega'') \,\mathrm{d}x$$
$$- \int_{Q^{+}} \overline{\pi}_{a} \big(\operatorname{div}\psi + R\operatorname{Tr}(\omega\nabla\psi) + \operatorname{Tr}(\omega'\psi)\big)(1 + R\omega'') \,\mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \int_{Q^{+}} \overline{F} : (\nabla\psi + R\omega\nabla\psi + \omega'\psi)(1 + R\omega'') \,\mathrm{d}x, \quad (3.33)$$

where we used that det  $\nabla H_R = 1 + R\omega''$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In the same spirit we proceed in case of two bounded matrix functions  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$ . Instead of  $\omega_1\psi\omega_2$  we write  $\omega\psi$  for some another bounded matrix  $\omega$ . The effect of this abbreviation is negligible in further estimates. Nevertheless, it affects tremendously the lucidity of calculations.

#### **3.4** Comparison

In what follows, we verify that for a solution  $\overline{u}$  there exists an approximative function  $\overline{v}$ , such that  $D\overline{u}$  and  $D\overline{v}$  satisfy assumptions of Lemma A.5.4.

Let  $R_0 > 0$  be fixed and sufficiently small. Precise size of  $R_0$  will be determined later. We denote  $Q_0^+ = Q_0 \cap \mathbb{R}^n_+$ , where  $Q_0 = Q(0, R_0)$ . Let the cube Q satisfy  $Q \subset Q_0$  and  $\frac{1}{4}Q \subset Q_0^+$ . Denote  $Q' = Q \cap \mathbb{R}^n_+$ . Side of such Q is equal to 2R' with  $R' \in (0, R_0)$ . In what follows we assume that  $\Gamma_{Q'} := \partial Q' \cap \{x; x_n = 0\} \neq \emptyset$ . We define a function  $\overline{u}_2$  as a function which satisfies the system of equation

$$\operatorname{div}\overline{u}_2 = -R'\operatorname{Tr}(\nabla\overline{u}\omega) \text{ in } Q', \qquad (3.34)$$

$$\overline{u}_2 \cdot e_n = R'(\omega \overline{u}) \cdot e_n \text{ on } \Gamma_{Q'}.$$
(3.35)

On the right hand side of (3.34) and (3.35) there appeared R', because we will apply flattening with the function  $H_{R'}^{-1}$ . The boundary condition (3.35) comes from the fact that we want

$$\overline{u}_2 \cdot e_n = \overline{u} \cdot e_n = (I - (\nabla H_{R'})^T)\overline{u} \cdot e_n + (\nabla H_{R'})^T\overline{u} \cdot e_n = R'(\omega\overline{u}) \cdot e_n \text{ on } \Gamma_{Q'},$$

because it holds  $-(\nabla H_{R'})^T \overline{u} \cdot e_n = \overline{u} \cdot \overline{\nu} = 0$  and  $(I - (\nabla H_{R'})^T) = R'\omega$ . Using the fact that  $\omega \in W^{2,\infty}(Q')$ , Lemmata A.3.3, A.2.5 and A.4.5 we obtain

$$\int_{Q'} \Phi(|\nabla \overline{u}_2|) \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \left( \int_{Q'} \Phi(R'|\nabla \overline{u}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{Q'} \Phi(R'|\overline{u}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \right)$$
$$\le C(R')^{\alpha} \int_{Q'} \Phi(|D\overline{u}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{Q'} \Phi(|\overline{u}|) \, \mathrm{d}x, \tag{3.36}$$

where  $\alpha > 1$  comes from Lemma A.2.5. We set  $\overline{u}_1 = \overline{u} - \overline{u}_2$  and from (3.36) we get

$$\int_{Q'} \Phi(|D\overline{u}_1|) \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{Q'} \Phi(|D\overline{u}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{Q'} \Phi(|\overline{u}|) \, \mathrm{d}x. \tag{3.37}$$

We consider a solution  $\overline{v}$  to (3.2) in Q' such that

$$\overline{v} = \overline{u}_1 \text{ on } \partial Q' \setminus \Gamma_{Q'}, \qquad (3.38)$$

$$\overline{v} \cdot e_n = 0, \ [\mathcal{S}(D\overline{v})e_n] \cdot e_\alpha = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma_{Q'}, \tag{3.39}$$

where  $\alpha = 1, \ldots, n-1$ . Existence of such v can be shown by monotone operator theory. It is worth emphasizing that  $\overline{u}_1 \cdot e_n = 0$  on  $\Gamma_{Q'}$  and div  $\overline{u}_1 = 0$ on Q', therefore also  $(\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v}) \cdot e_n = 0$  on  $\Gamma_{Q'}$  and div $(\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v}) = 0$  on Q'.

The integrability of approximative function (A.26) was verified in Theorem 3.2.2. The verification of (A.27) and (A.28) is presented in the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.4.1** Let  $\overline{v}$  be the function constructed in (3.38) and (3.39). Then there exists a positive constant C independent of  $\overline{u}$ ,  $\overline{v}$  and Q' such that

$$\int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{v})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + C \int_{Q'} \Phi\left(|\overline{u}|\right) \,\mathrm{d}x,\tag{3.40}$$

Furthermore, for all  $\delta$  there exists a positive constant  $C_{\delta}$  independent of  $\overline{v}$ ,  $\overline{u}$  and Q' such that for some  $\alpha > 1$  it holds

$$\int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u}) - V(D\overline{v})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \le C_\delta \int_{Q'} \Phi^*(|F|) \,\mathrm{d}x + \left(\delta + C(R')^\alpha\right) \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + C \int_{Q'} \Phi\left(|\overline{u}|\right) \,\mathrm{d}x. \quad (3.41)$$

*Proof.* We choose a constant  $\pi_c$  such that, using considerations presented in [23, Section 4.2], we can derive that

$$\int_{Q'} \Phi^*(|\overline{\pi}_a|) \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \left( \int_{Q'} \Phi(|D\overline{u}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{Q'} \Phi^*(|\overline{F}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{Q'} \Phi\left(|\overline{u}|\right) \, \mathrm{d}x \right),\tag{3.42}$$

where we moreover employed similar steps as in (3.36).

Following [23], we test the weak formulation of (3.2) by a function  $\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v}$  and obtain

$$\int_{Q'} \mathcal{S}(D\overline{v}) : D\overline{v} \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{Q'} \mathcal{S}(D\overline{v}) : D\overline{u}_1 \, \mathrm{d}x.$$
(3.43)

We point out that we decomposed  $\overline{u}$  to  $\overline{u}_1 + \overline{u}_2$  in order to  $\overline{u}_1 \cdot e_n = 0$  on  $\Gamma_{Q'}$ and div  $\overline{u}_1 = 0$  in Q' and due to the properties of the function  $\overline{v}$  we also have div $(\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v}) = 0$  in Q' and  $(\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v}) \cdot e_n = 0$  on  $\Gamma_{Q'}$ . Whereas the left hand side of (3.43) can be estimated from below by  $\int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{v})|^2 dx$  due to Lemma A.2.6, we estimate the right hand side of (3.43) as follows

$$\int_{Q'} \mathcal{S}(D\overline{v}) : D\overline{u}_1 \, \mathrm{d}x \le \delta \int_{Q'} \Phi(|D\overline{v}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + C_\delta \int_{Q'} \Phi(|D\overline{u}_1|) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\le c\delta \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{v})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + C_\delta \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{Q'} \Phi(|\overline{u}|) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

where we used Young's inequality (A.8), (3.37) and Lemma A.2.6. Thus, for sufficiently small  $\delta > 0$  we have

$$\int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{v})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + C \int_{Q'} \Phi\left(|\overline{u}|\right) \,\mathrm{d}x,\tag{3.44}$$

which proves (3.40).

To conclude the proof of Lemma 3.4.1, it remains to prove (3.41). The function  $\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v}$  can be taken as a test function in (3.33). With the knowledge

$$\int_{Q'} S(D\overline{v}) : (D\overline{u}_1 - D\overline{v}) \,\mathrm{d}x = 0$$

we derive

$$\begin{split} \int_{Q'} S(D\overline{u} + Z_{\overline{u}}) &: (D\overline{u}_1 - D\overline{v} + Z_{\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v}} + \omega'(\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v}))(1 + R'\omega'') \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &- \int_{Q'} S(D\overline{v}) : (D\overline{u}_1 - D\overline{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &- \int_{Q'} \overline{\pi}_a \big( \operatorname{Tr}(\nabla \overline{u}_1 - \nabla \overline{v}) R'\omega + \operatorname{Tr}(\omega'(\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v})) \big)(1 + R'\omega'') \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_{Q'} \overline{F} : \big( \nabla \overline{u}_1 - \nabla \overline{v} + R'\omega(\nabla \overline{u}_1 - \nabla \overline{v}) \big)(1 + R'\omega'') \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \int_{Q'} \overline{F} : \big( \omega'(\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v}) \big)(1 + R'\omega'') \, \mathrm{d}x =: \mathcal{I}_1 + \mathcal{I}_2. \end{split}$$

We can rewrite this identity as follows

$$\int_{Q'} \left( S(D\overline{u}_1) - S(D\overline{v}) \right) : (D\overline{u}_1 - D\overline{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x = \mathcal{I}_1 + \mathcal{I}_2$$

$$- \int_{Q'} S(D\overline{u} + Z_{\overline{u}}) : (D\overline{u}_1 - D\overline{v}) R'\omega'' \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{Q'} S(D\overline{u} + Z_{\overline{u}}) : Z_{\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v}}(1 + R'\omega'') \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$- \int_{Q'} S(D\overline{u} + Z_{\overline{u}}) : (\omega'(u_1 - \overline{v}))(1 + R'\omega'') \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$+ \int_{Q'} \left( S(D\overline{u}) - S(D\overline{u} + Z_{\overline{u}}) \right) : (D\overline{u}_1 - D\overline{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$+ \int_{Q'} \overline{\pi}_a \operatorname{Tr} \left( (\nabla \overline{u}_1 - \nabla \overline{v}) R'\omega \right) (1 + R'\omega'') \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{Q'} \overline{\pi}_a \operatorname{Tr}(\omega'(\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v}))(1 + R'\omega'') \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$+ \int_{Q'} \left( S(D\overline{u}_1) - S(D\overline{u}) \right) : (D\overline{u}_1 - D\overline{v}) \, \mathrm{d}x = \sum_{i=1}^9 \mathcal{I}_i. \quad (3.45)$$

The left hand side of (3.45) can be estimated from below due to Lemma A.2.6 as

$$\int_{Q'} \left( \mathcal{S}(D\overline{v}) - \mathcal{S}(D\overline{u}_1) \right) : (D\overline{v} - D\overline{u}_1) \, \mathrm{d}x \ge C \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{v}) - V(D\overline{u}_1)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\ge C \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{v}) - V(D\overline{u})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - C \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u}) - V(D\overline{u}_1)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= C \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{v}) - V(D\overline{u})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - \mathcal{I}_{10}. \quad (3.46)$$

Lemmata A.2.4, A.2.6 and the relation (3.36) yield

$$\mathcal{I}_{10} = C \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u}) - V(D\overline{u}_1)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \le c \int_{Q'} \Phi_{|D\overline{u}|}(|D\overline{u} - D\overline{u}_1|) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\le C_{\delta} \int_{Q'} \Phi(|D\overline{u}_2|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\le (C_{\delta}(R')^{\alpha} + \delta) \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{Q'} \Phi(|\overline{u}|) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Further, using Lemmata A.2.6, A.2.4 and (3.44), we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{I}_{9}| &\leq \int_{Q'} |S(D\overline{u}) - S(D\overline{u}_{1})| |D\overline{v} - D\overline{u}_{1}| \,\mathrm{d}x \leq C_{\delta} \int_{Q'} \Phi'_{|D\overline{u}|} (|D\overline{u}_{2}|) |D\overline{v} - D\overline{u}_{1}| \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C_{\delta} \int_{Q'} \Phi^{*}_{|D\overline{u}|} (\Phi'_{D\overline{u}}(|D\overline{u}_{2}|)) \,\mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{Q'} \Phi_{|D\overline{u}|} (|D\overline{v} - D\overline{u}_{1}|) \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C_{\delta} \int_{Q'} \Phi_{|D\overline{u}|} (|D\overline{u}_{2}|) \,\mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{Q'} (|V(D\overline{u})|^{2} + |V(D\overline{u}_{1} - D\overline{v})|^{2}) \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C_{\delta} \int_{Q'} \Phi(|D\overline{u}_{2}|) \,\mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u}_{1})|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \delta \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{v})|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \leq (C_{\delta}(R')^{\alpha} + \delta) \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + C \int_{Q'} \Phi(|\overline{u}|) \,\mathrm{d}x. \end{aligned}$$

The term  $\mathcal{I}_6$  can be estimated in the same way as term  $\mathcal{I}_9$ . Briefly

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{I}_{6}| &\leq C_{\delta} \int_{Q'} \Phi(R|(\omega \nabla \overline{u} + (\nabla \overline{u})^{T} \omega^{T})|) \,\mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \delta \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{v})|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u}_{1})|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq (C(R')^{\alpha} + \delta) \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x + C \int_{Q'} \Phi(|\overline{u}|) \,\mathrm{d}x. \end{aligned}$$

The term  $\mathcal{I}_7$  can be estimated using Young's inequality (A.8), Lemma A.2.5, Korn's inequality (A.24), (3.37), (3.44), (3.42) and Lemma A.2.6 as follows

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{I}_{7}| &\leq C \int_{Q'} |\overline{\pi}_{a}| |R'(\nabla \overline{u}_{1} - \nabla \overline{v})| \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C_{\delta} \int_{Q'} \Phi(R'|\nabla \overline{u}_{1} - \nabla \overline{v}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{Q'} \Phi^{*}(|\overline{\pi}_{a}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq (\delta + C(R')^{\alpha}) \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{Q'} \Phi^{*}(|F|) \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{Q'} \Phi(|\overline{u}|) \, \mathrm{d}x. \end{aligned}$$

Terms  $\mathcal{I}_3$  and  $\mathcal{I}_4$  can be estimated easily as follows

$$|\mathcal{I}_3 + \mathcal{I}_4| \le C(R')^{\alpha} \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + C \int_{Q'} \Phi\left(|\overline{u}|\right) \,\mathrm{d}x$$

In the same spirit as before

r

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{I}_1| &\leq C \int_{Q'} |\overline{F}| |\nabla \overline{u}_1 - \nabla \overline{v}| \, \mathrm{d}x \leq C_\delta \int_{Q'} \Phi^*(|\overline{F}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{Q'} \Phi(|D\overline{u}_1 - D\overline{v}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C_\delta \int_{Q'} \Phi^*(|\overline{F}|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{Q'} \Phi(|\overline{u}|) \, \mathrm{d}x. \end{aligned}$$

It remains to estimate terms  $\mathcal{I}_2$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_5$  and  $\mathcal{I}_8$  which can be estimated in the same way using Young's inequality (A.8) and Poincaré inequality together with

 $\Delta_2$ -condition and Lemma A.2.5:

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{I}_1| + |\mathcal{I}_2| + |\mathcal{I}_8| &\leq C \int_{Q'} \Phi^*(|\overline{F}|) \,\mathrm{d}x + \delta \int_{Q'} \Phi^*(|\overline{\pi}_a|) \,\mathrm{d}x \\ + C(\delta + (R')^{\alpha}) \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + C \int_{Q'} \Phi\left(|\overline{u}|\right) \,\mathrm{d}x + C(R')^{\alpha} \int_{Q'} \Phi\left(\frac{\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v}}{R'}\right) \,\mathrm{d}x. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.47)$$

The term containing  $\overline{\pi}_a$  can be estimated in the same spirit like in the term  $\mathcal{I}_7$ . The last term in (3.47), denoted by  $\mathcal{I}_{11}$ , is prepared for Poincaré inequality:

$$\mathcal{I}_{11} \le C(R')^{\alpha} \int_{Q'} \Phi(|D\overline{u}_1 - D\overline{v}|) \le C(R')^{\alpha} \left( \int_{Q'} |V(D\overline{u})|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{Q'} \Phi(|\overline{u}|) \,\mathrm{d}x \right),$$

where we moreover used Korn's inequality A.4.2 since  $\overline{u}_1 - \overline{v} \in W^{1,\Phi}_{\nu}(Q')$  and Q' is not axisymmetric domain. The same steps like in  $\mathcal{I}_9$  were also applied.

Putting these estimates into (3.46) and (3.45), we get (3.41).

#### 3.5 Proof of the main theorem

Proof of Theorem 3.1.3. Recall that Q' was defined as a rectangle  $Q \cap \mathbb{R}^n_+$  with  $Q \subset \Omega_0, \frac{1}{4}Q \subset Q_0^+$  and one side of Q is equal to 2R'. In order to obtain results for a general  $\mathcal{C}^{2,1}$  boundary, we are going to verify assumptions of Corollary A.5.8.

Let  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$  be fixed and let  $H_{x_0,R_0}(Q_0^+) \subset \Omega$  be an image of  $Q_0^+$  under the mapping  $H_{x_0,R_0}$ . Let  $R_0$  be so small, such that for every rectangle  $Q' \subset Q_0^+$  there exist cubes  $Q_a, Q_b, x_1 \in \partial \Omega$  and  $R' \in (0, R_0)$  such that

$$\Omega_{\frac{8}{9}Q_a} := \frac{8}{9} Q_a \cap \Omega \subset H_{x_0, R_0}(Q') \subset \frac{10}{9} Q_a \cap \Omega =: \Omega_{\frac{10}{9}Q_a}, \quad (3.48)$$

$$H_{x_0,R_0}\left(\frac{1}{2}Q'\right) \subset H_{x_1,R'}\left(\left(\frac{4}{3}Q_b\right)^+\right) \subset H_{x_1,R'}\left(\left(\frac{5}{3}Q_b\right)^+\right) \subset H_{x_0,R_0}(Q'). \quad (3.49)$$

This is possible, because  $\nabla H_{R_0} - I = R_0 \omega$ , where  $\omega$  is function bounded independently of  $R_0$ .

Let  $Q_k$  be a dyadic cube obtained from  $\hat{Q}$ , where  $\hat{Q} \subset Q_0^+$  with  $4\hat{Q} \subset Q_0$ . If

$$H_{x_0,R_0}(4\tilde{Q}_k) \subset H_{x_0,R_0}(Q_0^+), \quad H_{x_0,R_0}(4\tilde{Q}_k) \cap \partial\Omega = \emptyset,$$

we use interior regularity result from [23]. Otherwise we proceed in the same spirit as in previous section where instead of Q' we consider  $H_{x_1,R'}^{-1}(H_{x_0,R_0}(Q'))$ . We point out that  $H_{x_1,R'}^{-1}(H_{x_0,R_0}(Q'))$  doesn't need to be a rectangle, since in general  $x_1 \neq x_0$ . What is important for us is that

$$\Gamma_{H_{x_1,R'}^{-1}(H_{x_0,R_0}(Q'))} \subset \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \, x_n = 0\},\$$

therefore results from previous section can be applied. Now we verity assumptions of Corollary A.5.8, i.e. the validity of inequalities (A.26) - (A.28) after transformation  $H_{x_0,R_0}$ .

From Theorem 3.2.2 we have

$$\left( \oint_{(\frac{4}{3}Q)^+} |V(D\overline{v})|^q \, \mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \le C \left( \oint_{(\frac{5}{3}Q)^+} |V(D\overline{v})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \tag{3.50}$$

for  $q \in [2, \frac{2n}{n-2}]$  provided n > 2 and  $q \in [2, \infty)$  for n = 2. In case  $\Phi''$  is almost monotone, n > 2, we can even allow  $q = \frac{rn}{n-r}$  for some r > 2. After substitution  $y = H_{x_1,R'}(x)$  we get<sup>5</sup>

$$\left( \oint_{H_{x_1,R'}((\frac{4}{3}Q)^+)} |V(Dv+Z_v)|^q \, \mathrm{d}y \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \le C \left( \oint_{H_{x_1,R'}((\frac{5}{3}Q)^+)} |V(Dv+Z_v)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}y \right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$
(3.51)

Using (3.49) we obtain from (3.51)

$$\left( \oint_{H_{x_0,R_0}(\frac{1}{2}Q')} |V(Dv+Z_v)|^q \,\mathrm{d}y \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \le C \left( \oint_{H_{x_0,R_0}(Q')} |V(Dv+Z_v)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}y \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, (3.52)$$

which is the first of the three inequalities in Corollary A.5.8 where  $|w_a|^p := |V(Dv + Zv)|^2$  and  $4\tilde{Q}_k \cap \mathcal{O} = Q'$ . First outcome of Lemma 3.4.1 is

$$\begin{aligned} \oint_{H_{x_1,R'}^{-1}(H_{x_0,R_0}(Q'))} |V(D\overline{v})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x &\leq C \oint_{H_{x_1,R'}^{-1}(H_{x_0,R_0}(Q'))} |V(D\overline{u})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ C \oint_{H_{x_1,R'}^{-1}(H_{x_0,R_0}(Q'))} \Phi\left(|\overline{u}|\right) \, \mathrm{d}x, \end{aligned}$$
(3.53)

Application of the substitution  $y = H_{x_1,R'}(x)$  leads to

$$\int_{H_{x_0,R_0}(Q')} |V(Dv+Z_v)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}y \le C \oint_{H_{x_0,R_0}(Q')} |V(Du)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}y + C \oint_{H_{x_0,R_0}(Q')} \Phi\left(|u|\right) \,\mathrm{d}y,$$
(3.54)

where we estimated  $Z_u$  by Korn's inequality. This provides the second inequality in Corollary A.5.8 for  $|w|^p = |V(Du)|^2$ . The second outcome of Lemma 3.4.1 is

$$\begin{aligned} & \oint_{H_{x_1,R'}^{-1}(H_{x_0,R_0}(Q'))} |V(D\overline{u}) - V(D\overline{v})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \le C_{\delta} \oint_{H_{x_1,R'}^{-1}(H_{x_0,R_0}(Q'))} \Phi^*(|F|) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ & + \left(\delta + C(R')^{\alpha}\right) \int_{H_{x_1,R'}^{-1}(H_{x_0,R_0}(Q'))} |V(D\overline{u})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + C \oint_{H_{x_1,R'}^{-1}(H_{x_0,R_0}(Q'))} \Phi\left(|\overline{u}|\right) \, \mathrm{d}x. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.55)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Unlike in (3.24) we go from  $\overline{v}$  to v, therefore we should consider  $\nabla H_R$  instead of  $\nabla H_R^{-1}$  in (3.24). Nevertheless, due to the properties of  $H_R$ , (3.25) remains true. We point out that  $Z_v$  is small due to R', not  $R_0$ .

After same steps as before we can estimate the left hand side of (3.55) as

The second term on the right hand side of (3.56) can be moved to the right hand side of transformed variant of (3.55) and estimated from above as

$$\begin{aligned} \int_{H_{x_0,R_0}(Q')} |V(Z_u) - V(Dv + Z_v)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}y &\leq C \oint_{H_{x_0,R_0}(Q')} |V(Du)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &+ C \oint_{H_{x_0,R_0}(Q')} \Phi(|u|) \, \mathrm{d}y. \end{aligned}$$

where we used properties of function V, Korn's inequality on  $Z_u$  and (3.51). Altogether we have

$$\begin{aligned} \oint_{H_{x_0,R_0}(Q')} |V(Du) - V(Dv + Z_v)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}y &\leq C_{\delta} \oint_{H_{x_0,R_0}(Q')} \Phi^*(|F|) \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &+ \left(\delta + C(R')^{\alpha}\right) \oint_{H_{x_0,R_0}(Q')} |V(Du)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}y + C \oint_{H_{x_0,R_0}(Q')} \Phi\left(|u|\right) \, \mathrm{d}y, \end{aligned}$$
(3.57)

which provides the third assumption of Corollary A.5.8 in case  $\delta$  and R' in (3.57) are sufficiently small.

Let  $\Phi^*(|F|) \in L^q(\Omega)$ . Since  $u \in W^{1,\Phi}(\Omega)$ , it holds

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla \Phi(|u|)| \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} \Phi'(|u|) |\nabla u| \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\leq C \int_{\Omega} \Phi^* \Phi'(|u|) \, \mathrm{d}x + C \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla u|) \, \mathrm{d}x \leq C. \quad (3.58)$$

Thus, from Orlicz–Sobolev embedding we know that  $\Phi(|u|) \in L^{\frac{n}{n-1}}(\Omega)$ . All assumptions of Corollary A.5.8 are met (with  $g = \Phi(|u|)$  and  $f = \Phi^*(|F|) + \Phi(|u|)$ ) and therefore we get  $V(Du) \in L^{\tilde{q}}(H_{x_0,R_0}(\hat{Q}))^{n\times n}$  for  $\tilde{q} = \min\{2q, \frac{2n}{n-1}\}$  and  $\hat{Q} \subset Q_0^+$  with  $4\hat{Q} \subset Q_0$ . Consequently,  $\Phi(|Du|) \in L^{\tilde{q}/2}(H_{x_0,R_0}(\hat{Q}))$ . If  $\frac{\tilde{q}}{2} = q$ , we are done, otherwise, we use (3.58) on an N-function  $\Psi := \Phi^{\frac{n}{n-1}}$  in order to get  $\Phi(|u|) \in L^{\left(\frac{n}{n-1}\right)^2}(\Omega)$ . We may again use Corollary A.5.8 with the same setting in order to get  $V(Du) \in L^{\tilde{q}}(H_{x_0,R_0}(\hat{Q}))^{n\times n}$  for  $\tilde{q} = \min\{2q, \frac{2n^2}{(n-1)^2}\}$ . Again, if  $\tilde{q} = 2q$  we are done, otherwise we iterate this process till  $\tilde{q} = 2q$ .

The estimate (3.1) follows easily from (A.29). To avoid the formulation of (3.1) with the mapping  $H_{x_0,R_0}$  we moreover use that there is some r > 0 and  $\lambda > 1$  depending only on dimension such that for each  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$  it holds

$$\Omega_r := B_r(x_0) \cap \Omega \subset H_{x_0, R_0}(\hat{Q}) \subset H_{x_0, R_0}((4\hat{Q})^+) \subset B_{\lambda r}(x_0) \cap \Omega =: \Omega_{\lambda r}.$$

Integrability of weak solutions to equations of steady flows

# $L^q$ theory for classical Stokes system

# 4.1 Introduction

In this chapter we collect facts about  $L^q$  theory for the Stokes system

$$\partial_t u - \Delta u + \nabla \pi = f \qquad \text{in } I \times \Omega,$$
  

$$\operatorname{div} u = 0 \qquad \text{in } I \times \Omega,$$
  

$$u(0, \cdot) = u_0 \qquad \text{on } \Omega,$$
(4.1)

equipped with the perfect slip boundary conditions

$$u \cdot \nu = 0, \quad [(Du)\nu] \cdot \tau = 0 \quad \text{on } I \times \partial \Omega.$$
 (4.2)

Let E be a Banach space and  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ ,  $p, q \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ . Recall that we use standard notation<sup>1</sup> for Lebesgue spaces  $L^q(\Omega)$ , Sobolev-Slobodeckiĭ spaces  $W^{s,q}(\Omega)$ , Bochner spaces  $L^q(I, E)$  and  $W^{\alpha,q}(I, E)$ . By  $H^s_q(\Omega)$  we mean Bessel potential spaces and  $B^s_{p,q}(\Omega)$  are Besov spaces. BUC stands for bounded and uniformly continuous functions. Since the domain  $\Omega$  is in our case at least  $\mathcal{C}^{2,1}$ , we can define  $L^q_{\sigma}(\Omega)$  and  $W^{1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega)$  as follows:

$$L^{q}_{\sigma}(\Omega) = \{ \varphi \in L^{q}(\Omega), \operatorname{div} \varphi = 0 \operatorname{in} \Omega, \ \varphi \cdot \nu = 0 \operatorname{on} \partial \Omega \}, \\ W^{1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega) = \{ \varphi \in W^{1,q}(\Omega), \operatorname{div} \varphi = 0, \operatorname{in} \Omega, \ \varphi \cdot \nu = 0 \operatorname{on} \partial \Omega \}.$$

Set  $W^{-1,p'}_{\sigma}(\Omega) := (W^{1,p}_{\sigma}(\Omega))'.$ 

Let P denote the projection operator from  $L^q(\Omega)$  to  $L^q_{\sigma}(\Omega)$  associated with the Helmholtz decomposition. By Bu = 0 we mean that (4.2) holds in the sense of traces. Using the projection P we shall define the Stokes operator  $\mathbb{A}$  by  $\mathbb{A}u = -P\Delta u$  for  $u \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{A})$ , where

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{A}) = L^q_{\sigma}(\Omega) \cap H^2_{q,B}(\Omega), \quad H^2_{q,B}(\Omega) := \{ u \in H^2_q(\Omega), \ Bu = 0, \ \text{on } \partial\Omega \}.$$

Applying the Helmholtz projection P to (4.1) with (4.2), we eliminate the pressure from equations and with the help of the newly established notation the Stokes system reduces to

$$\partial_t u + \mathbb{A}u = Pf, \quad \operatorname{div} u = 0 \quad \operatorname{in} I \times \Omega, u(0, \cdot) = u_0 \quad \operatorname{on} \Omega, \quad Bu = 0 \quad \operatorname{on} I \times \partial\Omega.$$
(4.3)

 $<sup>^1\</sup>mathrm{In}$  this chapter we don't use different notation for scalar, vector-valued or tensor-valued functions.

# 4.2 Dynamical systems

Before we study properties of the Stokes operator  $\mathbb{A}$  we establish some notation. Let E and F be reflexive Banach spaces. Although it is not necessary to have reflexive spaces in all definitions, for convenience we assume it. By  $\mathcal{L}(E, F)$ we mean the Banach space of all bounded linear operators from E to F and  $\mathcal{L}(E) := \mathcal{L}(E, E)$ . If E is a linear subspace of F and the natural injection  $i: x \mapsto x$  belongs to  $\mathcal{L}(E, F)$ , we write  $E \hookrightarrow F$ . In the case E is also dense in F, it will be denoted by  $E \stackrel{d}{\hookrightarrow} F$ . Furthermore,  $\mathcal{L}is(E, F)$  consists of all topological linear isomorphisms from E onto F. We also write  $E \doteq F$  if  $E \hookrightarrow F$  and  $F \hookrightarrow E$ , i.e. E equals F with equivalent norms. The bilinear map  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : E' \times E \to \mathbb{R}$  is the duality pairing between E' and E.

A Banach space E is said to be of class  $\mathcal{HT}$ , if the Hilbert transform is bounded on  $L^p(\mathbb{R}, E)$  for some (and then for all)  $p \in (1, \infty)$ . Here the Hilbert transform H of a function  $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}, E)$ , the Schwartz space of rapidly decreasing E-valued functions, is defined by  $Hf := \frac{1}{\pi} PV(\frac{1}{t}) * f$ . It is well known theorem that the set of Banach spaces of class  $\mathcal{HT}$  coincides with the class of UMD spaces, where the UMD stands for the property of unconditional martingale differences. Note that all closed subspaces of  $L^q(\Omega)$  are UMD spaces provided  $q \in (1, \infty)$ .

If A is a linear operator with domain, denoted by dom(A), in a locally convex space X and range in a locally convex space Y, we write  $A : \operatorname{dom} A \subset X \to Y$ . If X and Y are normed vector spaces,  $\mathcal{D}(A) := (\operatorname{dom}(A), \|\cdot\|_A)$ , where  $\|x\|_A :=$  $\|Ax\|_Y + \|x\|_Y$  for  $x \in \operatorname{dom}(A)$ , is the graph norm of A. If X and Y are Banach spaces,  $\mathcal{D}(A)$  is a Banach space if and only if A is closed.

We follow the dynamical-system-type approach where the basic idea is to interpret the partial differential system as an ordinary differential equation in an infinite-dimensional Banach space. Consider a linear operator A and a boundary operator B which are general, but fixed. In order to reformulate initial-boundary value problems of the form (4.3) as an initial value problem for an ordinary differential equation in  $E_0$ :

$$\dot{u} + Au = f(t, u), \quad t > 0, \quad u(0) = u_0,$$

we have to choose our basic space  $E_0$  in which we want to analyze the problem and impose certain minimal requirements for the operator A.  $E_0$  will be embedded to a Banach space of distributions and we define

$$dom(A) := \{ u \in E_0, Au \in E_0 \text{ and } Bu = 0 \}.$$

Observe that the distributions in dom(A) has to be regular enough to admit traces. For the linear operator A, we request that

- (i) A is closed and densely defined in  $E_0$ ,
- (ii) A has nonempty resolvent set.

Then, denoting by  $E_1$  the domain of A, endowed with its graph norm, we see that  $E_1 \stackrel{d}{\hookrightarrow} E_0$ , i.e.  $(E_0, E_1)$  is a densely injected Banach couple. It can be shown

that the resolvent set of -A consist of a half-plane  $\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C}; \operatorname{Re}\lambda \geq \omega\}$  for some  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$  and that there exists a constant  $\kappa$  such that

$$|\lambda| ||u||_{E_0} \le \kappa ||(\lambda + A)u||_{E_0}, \quad u \in E_1, \quad \operatorname{Re}\lambda \ge \omega.$$
(4.4)

The conditions (i) and (ii) together with (4.4) is equivalent to the assertion that -A generates a strongly continuous analytic semigroup  $\{e^{-At}; t \ge 0\}$  on  $E_0$ . By  $\mathcal{H}(E_1, E_0)$  we denote the set of all  $A \in \mathcal{L}(E_1, E_0)$  such that -A, considered as a linear (possibly unbounded) operator in  $E_0$  with a domain  $E_1$ , is the infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous analytic semigroup on  $E_0$ . It holds

$$\mathcal{H}(E_1, E_0) = \bigcup_{\kappa \ge 1, \, \omega > 0} \mathcal{H}(E_1, E_0, \kappa, \omega),$$

where  $A \in \mathcal{H}(E_1, E_0, \kappa, \omega)$  if  $\omega + A \in \mathcal{L}is(E_1, E_0)$  and

$$\kappa^{-1} \le \frac{\|(\lambda + A)u\|_{E_0}}{\|\lambda\|\|u\|_{E_0} + \|u\|_{E_1}} \le \kappa, \quad \operatorname{Re}\lambda \ge \omega, \quad u \in E_1.$$

By  $\sigma(A)$  we mean the spectrum of A and  $\varrho(A)$  denotes the resolvent set. A linear operator A in E is said to be of positive type if it belongs to  $\mathcal{P}(E) := \bigcup_{K>1} P_K(E). A \in P_K(E)$  if it is closed, densely defined,  $\mathbb{R}^+ \subset \varrho(-A)$  and  $(1+s) || (s+A)^{-1} ||_{\mathcal{L}(E)} \leq K$  for  $s \in \mathbb{R}^+$ , where  $K \geq 1$ .

We say that a linear operator A in E is of type  $(E, K, \vartheta)$ , denoted by  $A \in \mathcal{P}(E, K, \vartheta)$ , if it is densely defined and if

$$\Sigma_{\vartheta} := \{ |\arg z| \le \vartheta \} \cup \{0\} \subset \varrho(-A) \quad \text{and} \quad (1+|\lambda|) \| (\lambda+A)^{-1} \|_{\mathcal{L}(E)} \le K, \quad \lambda \in \Sigma_{\vartheta}.$$

Put  $\mathcal{P}(E, \vartheta) := \bigcup_{K>1} \mathcal{P}(E, K, \vartheta).$ 

A linear operator A in E is said to have bounded imaginary powers, in symbols  $A \in \mathcal{BIP}(E)$ , if  $A \in \mathcal{P}(E)$  and there exist  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $K \ge 1$  such that  $A^{is} \in \mathcal{L}(E)$  and  $\|A^{is}\|_{\mathcal{L}(E)} \le K$  for  $s \in (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$ . We write  $A \in \mathcal{BIP}(E, K, \theta)$ , if  $A \in \mathcal{BIP}(E)$  and if there are constants  $K \ge 1$  and  $\theta \ge 0$  such that  $\|A^{is}\|_{\mathcal{L}(E)} \le Ke^{\theta|s|}$  for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ . It holds that

$$\mathcal{BIP}(E) := \bigcup_{K \ge 1, \theta \ge 0} \mathcal{BIP}(E, K, \theta)$$

We introduce an interpolation-extrapolation scale which is essential in the proof of Theorem 4.3.8. Let  $p, q \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  and  $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\theta}$  denotes the complex and  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\theta,q}$  the real interpolation functor. Let  $A \in \mathcal{H}(E_1, E_0)$ . Then we denote by  $[(E_{\alpha}, A_{\alpha}); \alpha \in \mathbb{R}]$  the interpolation-extrapolation scale generated by (E, A)and  $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\theta}$  or  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\theta,q}$ , where we set  $E_k := \mathcal{D}(A^k)$  for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $k \geq 2$ . Also set  $E^{\sharp} := E'$  and  $A^{\sharp} := A'$ , where A' is the dual of A in E in the sense of unbounded linear operators. Finally let  $E_k^{\sharp} := \mathcal{D}((A^{\sharp})^k)$  for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then we define  $E_{-k}$  for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  by  $E_{-k} := (E_k^{\sharp})'$ . We put  $E_{k+\theta} := [E_k, E_{k+1}]_{\theta}$  (and similarly for the real interpolation functor). If  $\alpha \geq 0$  we denote by  $A_{\alpha}$  the maximal restriction of Ato  $E_{\alpha}$  whose domain equals  $\{u \in E_{\alpha} \cap E_1; Au \in E_{\alpha}\}$ . If  $\alpha < 0$  then  $A_{\alpha}$  is the closure of A in  $E_{\alpha}$ . For the dual interpolation functor  $(\cdot, \cdot)^{\sharp}_{\theta}$  (which is equal to  $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\theta}$  for the complex interpolation and  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\theta,q'}$  for real interpolation) we abbreviate the interpolation-extrapolation scale generated by  $(E^{\sharp}, A^{\sharp})$  and  $(\cdot, \cdot)^{\sharp}_{\theta}$ , by  $[(E^{\sharp}_{\alpha}, A^{\sharp}_{\alpha}); \alpha \in \mathbb{R}]$  and call it interpolation-extrapolation scale dual to  $[(E_{\alpha}, A_{\alpha}); \alpha \in \mathbb{R}]$ .

It holds  $(E_{-\alpha})' \doteq E_{\alpha}^{\sharp}$  and  $(A_{-\alpha})' = A_{\alpha}^{\sharp}$ . For more details see [3, Section V.2].

# 4.3 $L^q$ theory for Stokes system

Now we are ready to mention some basic properties of the Stokes operator  $\mathbb{A}$ . From [81] we know that  $\mathbb{A} \in \mathcal{H}(L^q_{\sigma}(\Omega) \cap H^2_{q,B}(\Omega), L^q_{\sigma}(\Omega))$ . This also tells us that  $\mathbb{A} \in \mathcal{P}(L^q_{\sigma}(\Omega), \omega)$  for some  $\omega \in [0, \pi/2)$  (see [30, Theorem II.4.6]). R. Shimada later showed in [82] the  $L^q$ -maximal regularity for  $\mathbb{A}$ . In [1, Theorem 1] H. Abels and Y. Terasawa proved:

**Proposition 4.3.1** Let  $q \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $n \geq 2$ ,  $r \in (n, \infty]$  such that  $q, q' \leq r$ . Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a domain with  $W^{2-\frac{1}{r},r}$ -boundary and  $\vartheta \in (0,\pi)$ . Then there is some R > 0 such that  $(\lambda + \mathbb{A})^{-1}$  exists and

$$(1+|\lambda|)\|(\lambda+\mathbb{A})^{-1}\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q(\Omega))} \le C$$

for all  $\lambda \in \Sigma_{\vartheta}$  with  $|\lambda| \geq R$ . Moreover,

$$\left\|\int_{\Gamma_R} h(-\lambda)(\lambda+\mathbb{A})^{-1} \,\mathrm{d}\lambda\right\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q(\Omega))} \le C \|h\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{\pi-\vartheta})}$$

for every  $h \in H^{\infty}(\vartheta)$ , where  $\Gamma = \partial \Sigma_{\vartheta}$ ,  $\Gamma_R = \Gamma \setminus \overline{B_R(0)}$  and  $H^{\infty}(\vartheta)$  denotes the Banach algebra of all bounded holomorphic functions  $h : \Sigma_{\pi-\vartheta} \to \mathbb{C}$ . In particular, for every  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\vartheta' \in (0, \vartheta]$  such that  $\omega + \Sigma_{\vartheta'} \subset \varrho(-\mathbb{A})$  the shifted Stokes operator  $\omega + \mathbb{A}$  admits a bounded  $H^{\infty}$ -calculus with respect to  $\vartheta'$ , i.e.,

$$h(\omega + \mathbb{A}) := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} h(-\lambda)(\lambda + \omega + \mathbb{A})^{-1} d\lambda$$

is a bounded operator satisfying

$$\|h(\omega + \mathbb{A})\|_{\mathcal{L}(L^q(\Omega))} \le C \|h\|_{L^{\infty}(\Sigma_{\pi - \vartheta})}$$

for all  $h \in H^{\infty}(\vartheta')$ .

Note that the class of operators with a bounded  $H^{\infty}$ -calculus is a subclass of the operators which have  $\mathcal{BIP}$ , therefore these operators admit all important properties which have operators with bounded imaginary powers. For another properties of a bounded  $H^{\infty}$ -calculus we refer for example to [19, Section 2, Subsection 2.4], [41] or [58].

From the result of Y. Shibata and R. Shimada in [81] follows that  $\omega + \Sigma_{\vartheta'} \subset \rho(-\mathbb{A})$  even for  $\omega = 0$  provided the domain  $\Omega$  is bounded and non-axisymmetric (see Definition 1.4.8). Thus, Proposition 4.3.1 and [81, Theorem 1.3] gives  $\mathbb{A} \in \mathcal{BIP}$ . Let  $\mathbb{E}_{\alpha}$  be interpolation-extrapolation scale and  $\mathbb{A}_{\alpha}$  be the realization of  $\mathbb{A}$  on  $\mathbb{E}_{\alpha}$  for  $\alpha \geq -1$ . From [83, Section 2.2] we know that  $\mathbb{A}_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{H}(\mathbb{E}_{\alpha+1}, \mathbb{E}_{\alpha})$  for  $\alpha \geq -1$ . Steiger in [83] provides the characterization of spaces  $\mathbb{E}_{\alpha}$ :
Proposition 4.3.2 [83, Corollary 2.6] Set

$$s_{\alpha} := \{-2 + 1/q, -1 + 1/q, 1/q, 1 + 1/q\}$$

and  $F_q^s(\Omega) := H_p^s(\Omega)$  for the complex interpolation functor and  $F_q^s(\Omega) := B_{q,q}^s(\Omega)$ for the real interpolation functor. Define

$$F_{q,B}^{s}(\Omega) := \begin{cases} \{u \in F_{q}^{s}(\Omega), Bu = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega\}, & s \in (1+1/q, 2], \\ \{u \in F_{q}^{s}(\Omega), u \cdot \nu = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega\}, & s \in [1/q, 1+1/q), \\ F_{q}^{s}(\Omega), & s \in [0, 1/q), \\ (F_{q',B}^{-s}(\Omega))', & s \in [-2, 0) \setminus s_{\alpha} \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

and

$$F_{q,B,\sigma}^{s}(\Omega) := \begin{cases} F_{q,B}^{s}(\Omega) \cap L_{\sigma}^{q}(\Omega), & s \in [0,2] \setminus s_{\alpha}, \\ \left(F_{q',B,\sigma}^{-s}(\Omega)\right)', & s \in [-2,0) \setminus s_{\alpha}. \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

Then  $\mathbb{E}_{\alpha} \doteq F^{2\alpha}_{q,B,\sigma}(\Omega)$  for  $2\alpha \in [-2,2] \setminus s_{\alpha}$ .

This gives

$$\mathbb{A}_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{H}(F_{q,B,\sigma}^{2\alpha+2}(\Omega), F_{q,B,\sigma}^{2\alpha}(\Omega)), \quad 2\alpha \in [-2,2] \setminus s_{\alpha}.$$

$$(4.7)$$

**Remark 4.3.3** [83, Remark 2.3c] The Helmholtz projection P enjoys following continuity properties:

$$P \in \mathcal{L}(F^s_{q,B}(\Omega)) \cap \mathcal{L}(F^s_{q,B}(\Omega), F^s_{q,B,\sigma}(\Omega)), \quad s \in (-1+1/q, 1+1/q) \setminus s_{\alpha}.$$
(4.8)

We will use the fact, that the property of bounded imaginary powers can be carried over the interpolation-extrapolation scales:

**Proposition 4.3.4** [3, Proposition V.1.5.5] Let  $A \in \mathcal{P}(E)$  and let  $[(E_{\alpha}, A_{\alpha}); \alpha \in (-n, \infty)]$  be the interpolation-extrapolation scale generated by (E, A) and an exact functor. If  $A \in \mathcal{BIP}(E, M, \sigma)$  then  $A_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{BIP}(E_{\alpha}, M, \sigma)$ .

The reiteration property will be needed.

**Proposition 4.3.5** [3, Theorem V.1.5.4] Suppose that  $A \in \mathcal{BIP}(E)$ . Then the interpolation-extrapolation scale  $[(E_{\alpha}, A_{\alpha}); \alpha \in [-n, \infty)]$  generated by (E, A) and complex interpolation functor possesses the reiteration property

$$[E_{\alpha}, E_{\beta}]_{\eta} \doteq E_{(1-\eta)\alpha+\eta\beta}, \quad -n \le \alpha \le \beta < \infty, \quad \eta \in (0, 1).$$

Let us define the maximal  $L^q$ -regularity for an operator A (compare [3, Section III.1, Subsection 1.5 and Section III.4, Remark 4.10.9.c])

**Definition 4.3.6** Let  $A \in \mathcal{H}(E_1, E_0)$  and  $q \in (1, \infty)$ . We say that

$$(L^{q}(I, E_{0}), L^{q}(I, E_{1}) \cap W^{1,q}(I, E_{0}))$$

is a pair of maximal regularity for A (or A has maximal regularity), if for  $u_0 \in (E_0, E_1)_{1-1/q,q}$  and  $f \in L^q(I, E_0)$  there exists a unique solution  $u \in L^q(I, E_1) \cap W^{1,q}(I, E_0)$  of (4.3), and

$$\|\partial_t u\|_{L^q(I,E_0)} + \|u\|_{L^q(I,E_0)} + \|Au\|_{L^q(I,E_0)} \le C\Big(\|f\|_{L^q(I,E_0)} + \|u_0\|_{(E_0,E_1)_{1-1/q,q}}\Big).$$
(4.9)

Further we mention the relation between maximal regularity and negative infinitesimal generators of a bounded analytic semigroup.

**Proposition 4.3.7** [3, Theorem III.4.10.7] Suppose that  $E_0$  is a UMD space,  $A \in \mathcal{H}(E_1, E_0)$  and there are constants M > 0,  $\vartheta \in (0, \pi/2)$  such that  $\Sigma_{\vartheta} \subset \varrho(-A)$  and for  $\lambda \in \Sigma_{\vartheta}$  and j = 0, 1 holds

$$||A||_{\mathcal{L}(E_1,E_0)} + (1+|\lambda|)^{1-j} ||(\lambda+A)^{-1}||_{\mathcal{L}(E_0,E_j)} \le M$$

and suppose that there exist constants  $N \ge 1$  and  $\theta \in [0, \pi/2)$  such that  $A \in \mathcal{BIP}(E_0, N, \theta)$ . Then A has maximal regularity and the estimate (4.9) holds uniformly with respect to T.

The main result of this section is the following theorem, in which we use the abbreviation from Proposition 4.3.2. In particular,  $B_{q,q,B,\sigma}^{1-2/q}(\Omega) = F_{q,B,\sigma}^s(\Omega)$  for s = 1 - 2/q and the real interpolation functor.

**Theorem 4.3.8** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded non-axisymmetric  $\mathcal{C}^{2,1}$  domain,  $q \in [2,\infty)$ ,  $f \in L^q(I, W^{-1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$ ,  $u_0 \in B^{1-2/q}_{q,q,B,\sigma}(\Omega)$  then there exists a constant C > 0 and the unique weak solution to (4.3) satisfying

$$\|\nabla u\|_{L^{q}(I\times\Omega)} + \|u\|_{BUC(I,B^{1-2/q}_{q,q,B,\sigma}(\Omega))} \le C\Big(\|f\|_{L^{q}(I,W^{-1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega))} + \|u_{0}\|_{B^{1-2/q}_{q,q,B,\sigma}(\Omega)}\Big).$$

The constant C is independent of T, u, f and  $u_0$ .

Proof. We consider the system (4.3) instead of (4.1) with (4.2). Since for UMD space E, E' is one as well and for an interpolation couple of UMD spaces the interpolation spaces are also UMD (see [3, Theorem III.4.5.2]),  $\mathbb{E}_{-1/2}$  is a UMD space. Proposition 4.3.4 gives us  $\mathbb{A}_{-1/2}$  has  $\mathcal{BIP}$ . Together with (4.7), [3, Corollary I.1.4.3] and [81, Theorem 1.3] we can see that assumptions of Proposition 4.3.7 are fulfilled for  $\mathbb{A}_{-1/2}$ . Therefore we obtain (4.9) for  $\mathbb{A}_{-1/2}$  and  $E_0 = \mathbb{E}_{-1/2}$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_t u\|_{L^q(I,\mathbb{E}_{-1/2})} + \|u\|_{L^q(I,\mathbb{E}_{-1/2})} + \|\mathbb{A}_{-1/2}u\|_{L^q(I,\mathbb{E}_{-1/2})} \\ &\leq C\Big(\|f\|_{L^q(I,\mathbb{E}_{-1/2})} + \|u_0\|_{(\mathbb{E}_{-1/2},\mathbb{E}_{1/2})_{1-1/q,q}}\Big). \end{aligned}$$
(4.10)

It remains to determine the spaces in (4.10). For the space of initial condition  $u_0$  we get by Proposition 4.3.2 for the complex interpolation functor

$$u_0 \in (H_{q,B,\sigma}^{-1}(\Omega), H_{q,B,\sigma}^{1}(\Omega))_{1-1/q,q}$$

This space equals (with equivalent norms) to  $B_{q,q,B,\sigma}^{1-2/q}(\Omega)$  since for  $q \geq 2$ 

$$B_{q,q,B,\sigma}^{1-2/q}(\Omega) \doteq (L_{\sigma}^{q}(\Omega), H_{q,B,\sigma}^{1}(\Omega))_{1-2/q,q} \doteq ([H_{q,B,\sigma}^{-1}(\Omega), H_{q,B,\sigma}^{1}(\Omega)]_{1/2}, H_{q,B,\sigma}^{1}(\Omega))_{1-2/q,q}$$
(4.11)  
$$\doteq (H_{q,B,\sigma}^{-1}(\Omega), H_{q,B,\sigma}^{1}(\Omega))_{1-1/q,q},$$

where we used Proposition 4.3.5. The similar interpolation of the solenoidal functions in case of Dirichlet boundary conditions is done in [4, Proof of Lemma 9.1]. From the embedding [3, Theorem V.4.10.2]

$$L^{q}(I, E_{1}) \cap W^{1,q}(I, E_{0}) \hookrightarrow BUC(I, (E_{0}, E_{1})_{1-1/q,q}),$$

we obtain  $u \in BUC(I, B_{q,q,B,\sigma}^{1-2/q}(\Omega))$ . Due to  $||u||_{\mathbb{E}_{1/2}} = ||\mathbb{A}_{-1/2}u||_{\mathbb{E}_{-1/2}}$  (which follows from [3, Corollary V.1.3.9 and Theorem V.1.5.4]) and  $\mathbb{E}_{1/2} \doteq W_{\sigma}^{1,q}(\Omega)$  we have boundedness of  $\nabla u$  in  $L^q(I \times \Omega)$ . It remains to find the space for f. By Proposition 4.3.2

$$f \in L^{q}(I, W^{-1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega)),$$
  
since  $H^{s}_{q}(\Omega) \doteq W^{s,q}(\Omega)$  for  $s \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

**Remark 4.3.9** In case of homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions we are able to obtain the same result like in Theorem 4.3.8. We can omit the assumption on the shape of the domain  $\Omega$ . The results needed in proof of Theorem 4.3.8 are for the homogeneous Dirichlet conditions more extended. It is well known that the Stokes operator has bounded imaginary powers provided  $\Omega$  is whole space, halfspace, bounded domain or exterior domain with sufficiently smooth boundary, c.f. [36] and [38]. L<sup>q</sup> estimates based on the theory developed by G. Dore and A. Venni in [28] can be found in [37] and [39].

## 4.4 Interpolation

Without loss of generality we may assume that there exists a symmetric tensor  $G \in L^q(Q)$ , such that the weak formulation of the right hand side of (4.1) can be written in the form

$$\int_{I} \int_{\Omega} G : D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{I} \langle f, \varphi \rangle \, \mathrm{d}t \quad \forall \varphi \in L^{q'}(I, W^{1,q'}_{\sigma}(\Omega)).$$
(4.12)

To prove it, we proceed in the same way like in [52, Proof of Proposition 2.1, Step 1] where the authors are dealing with periodic boundary conditions. Consider the Stokes system which can be formulated in the weak form for a. a.  $t \in I$  as follows

$$\int_{\Omega} Dw(t) : D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = \langle f(t), \varphi \rangle \quad \forall \varphi \in W^{1,q'}_{\sigma}(\Omega).$$
(4.13)

As  $f \in L^q(I, W^{-1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$ , there exists a solution  $w(t) \in W^{1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega)$  of (4.13) enjoying the estimate

 $||w(t)||_{W^{1,q}(\Omega)} \le C ||f||_{W^{-1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega)}$ 

with the positive constant C independent of t. Consequently, w can be constructed such that  $w \in L^q(I, W^{1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$  and

$$||w||_{L^{q}(I,W^{1,q}(\Omega))} \leq C ||f||_{L^{q}(I,W^{-1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega))}.$$

Defining G = Dw we conclude (4.12) from (4.13) by density arguments. Therefore for all  $f \in L^q(I, W^{-1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$  there exists  $G \in L^q(I \times \Omega)$  such that (4.12) and following estimate

$$|G||_{L^q(I\times\Omega)} \le C ||f||_{L^q(I,W_\sigma^{-1,q}(\Omega))}$$

holds. We would like to point out that the perfect slip boundary conditions are hidden in the weak formulation. If G is smooth enough then it holds

$$\int_{I} \langle f, \varphi \rangle \, \mathrm{d}t = -\int_{I} \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} G \cdot \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{I} \int_{\partial \Omega} (G\nu) \tau(\varphi \cdot \tau) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}t \,\,\forall \varphi \in L^{q'}(I, W^{1,q'}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$$

The Stokes system (4.1) with (4.2) can be formulated in the weak form as follows

$$\int_{I} \langle \partial_{t} u, \varphi \rangle \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{I} \int_{\Omega} Du : D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{I} \int_{\Omega} G : D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \quad \forall \varphi \in L^{q'}(I, W^{1,q'}_{\sigma}(\Omega)).$$

$$\tag{4.14}$$

Introducing the solution operator  $S : (G, u_0) \mapsto Du$ , we conclude first from the existence theory, that S is continuous from  $L^2(Q) \times L^2_{\sigma}(\Omega)$  to  $L^2(I \times \Omega)$  with the norm less or equal to 1. By Theorem 4.3.8 we know that S is continuous from  $L^{q_1}(I \times \Omega) \times B^{1-2/q_1}_{q_1, B, \sigma}(\Omega)$  to  $L^{q_1}(I \times \Omega)$  with norm estimated by  $C_q > 1$ . Since  $S(G, u_0) = S(G, 0) + S(0, u_0)$ , Riesz-Thorin theorem and the real interpolation method implies following assertion, see for example [13, Theorem 5.2.1 and Theorem 6.4.5].

**Lemma 4.4.1** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded non-axisymmetric  $C^{2,1}$  domain and  $q_1 > 2$ . There exist constant C > 0 and  $K := C_{q_1}^{q_1/(q_1-2)}$  such that for every  $q \in (2, q_1)$ , arbitrary  $G \in L^q(I, L^q_{\sigma}(\Omega)), u_0 \in B^{1-2/q}_{q,q,B,\sigma}(\Omega)$  there exists a unique solution u of (4.14) satisfying

$$\|Du\|_{L^{q}(I\times\Omega)} \leq K^{1-\frac{2}{q}} \Big( \|G\|_{L^{q}(I\times\Omega)} + C\|u_{0}\|_{B^{1-2/q}_{q,g,B,\sigma}(\Omega)} \Big).$$

## 4.5 $L^q$ theory for generalized Stokes system

For q > 2 small enough Lemma 4.4.1 allows us to prove the  $L^q$  theory for a generalized Stokes system, where the Stokes operator is replaced by a general elliptic operator with bounded measurable coefficients. More precisely, let  $0 < \gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2$  and suppose that the coefficient matrix  $\mathbb{M} \in L^{\infty}(I \times \Omega)$  is symmetric in the sense  $M_{ij}^{kl} = M_{kl}^{ij} = M_{kl}^{ji}$  for i, j, k, l = 1, 2 and fulfils for all  $B \in \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}$ ,  $x \in \Omega$  and  $t \in I$ 

$$\gamma_1|B|^2 \le \mathbb{M}(t,x) : B \otimes B \le \gamma_2|B|^2.$$

We consider the following system

$$\int_{I} \langle \partial_{t} u, \varphi \rangle \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{I} \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{M} : Du \otimes D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{I} \int_{\Omega} G : D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \qquad (4.15)$$
$$\forall \varphi \in L^{q'}(I, W^{1,q'}_{\sigma}(\Omega)).$$

Following lemma states the  $L^q$  theory result.

**Lemma 4.5.1** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded non-axisymmetric  $C^{2,1}$  domain and q > 2. There exist constants K, L > 0 such that if  $q \in [2, 2 + L\frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_2})$ ,  $G \in L^q(Q)$  and  $u_0 \in B^{1-2/q}_{q,q,B,\sigma}(\Omega)$  then the unique weak solution  $u \in L^q(I, W^{1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$  of (4.15) satisfies

$$\|Du\|_{L^{q}(I\times\Omega)} + \gamma_{2}^{-\frac{1}{q}} \|u\|_{BUC(I,B^{1-2/q}_{q,q,B,\sigma}(\Omega))} \leq \frac{K}{\gamma_{1}} \Big( \|G\|_{L^{q}(I\times\Omega)} + \gamma_{2}^{1-\frac{1}{q}} \|u_{0}\|_{B^{1-2/q}_{q,q,B,\sigma}(\Omega)} \Big).$$

*Proof.* We omit the proof. It can be found in [51, Proposition 2.1] for periodic boundary conditions or in [49, Proposition 2.1] for homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions. The only generalization consists of including perfect slip boundary conditions.  $L^q$  theory result for classical Stokes system with perfect slip boundary conditions is needed, but it is shown in Lemma 4.4.1.

We also use the  $L^q$  theory for stationary variant of the system (4.15). For symmetric coefficient matrix  $\mathbb{M} \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$  fulfilling for all  $B \in \mathbb{R}^{2\times 2}$  and  $x \in \Omega$  $\gamma_1|B|^2 \leq \mathbb{M}(x) : B \otimes B \leq \gamma_2|B|^2, 0 < \gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2$  we investigate the problem

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbb{M} : Du \otimes D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} G : D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \forall \varphi \in W^{1,q'}_{\sigma}(\Omega).$$
(4.16)

It holds:

**Lemma 4.5.2** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded non-axisymmetric  $C^{2,1}$  domain. Then there are constants K, L > 0 such that if  $q \in [2, 2 + L\frac{\gamma_1}{\gamma_2})$  and  $G \in L^q(\Omega)$ , then the unique weak solution of (4.16) satisfies

$$\|Du\|_{L^q(\Omega)} \le \frac{K}{\gamma_1} \|G\|_{L^q(\Omega)}.$$

*Proof.* See [51, Lemma 2.6] for no slip boundary conditions. For perfect slip boundary conditions we would proceed analogically.  $\Box$ 

 $L^q$  theory for classical Stokes system

# Full regularity of weak solutions to equations of evolutionary planar flows

### 5.1 Main theorem

In this chapter we investigate flows of incompressible shear-thickening fluids, which in evolutionary case are governed by the system (1.19)-(1.22):

$\partial_t u - \operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}(Du) + \operatorname{div}(u \otimes u) + \nabla \pi = f$	in $I \times \Omega$ ,
$\operatorname{div} u = 0$	in $I \times \Omega$ ,
$u(0,\cdot) = u_0$	in $\Omega$ ,
$u \cdot \nu = 0,  [\mathcal{S}(Du)\nu] \cdot \tau = 0$	on $I \times \partial \Omega$ .

We restrict ourselves to the case of planar flows, i.e.  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ . Instead of the general formulation in the framework of N-functions we assume that the extra stress tensor S possess p-potential structure with  $p \geq 2$ . More precisely, we can construct scalar potential  $\Phi : [0, \infty) \mapsto [0, \infty)$  to the stress tensor S, i.e.

$$\mathcal{S}(A) = \partial_A \Phi(|A|) = \Phi'(|A|) \frac{A}{|A|} \quad \forall A \in \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}_{sym}$$

such that  $\Phi \in \mathcal{C}^{1,1}((0,\infty)) \cap \mathcal{C}^1([0,\infty))$ ,  $\Phi(0) = 0$  and there exist  $p \in [2,\infty)$  and  $0 < C_1 \leq C_2$  such that for all  $A, B \in \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}_{sum}$ 

$$C_1(1+|A|^2)^{\frac{p-2}{2}}|B|^2 \le \partial_A^2 \Phi(|A|) : B \otimes B \le C_2(1+|A|^2)^{\frac{p-2}{2}}|B|^2.$$
(5.1)

In analysis of equations of fluid motions the question of Hölder continuity of velocity gradients is an important issue. For instance, in optimal control problems, global regularity results that guarantee boundedness of velocity gradients are needed in order to establish the existence of the weak solution for adjoint equation to the original problem and for linearised models. These results are closely related to the regularity of the coefficients in the main part of the associated differential operators and enable to derive corresponding optimality conditions, as is done for example in [87]. For optimal control of flows with shear dependent viscosities in the stationary case where the author is dealing with the lack of the regularity result we refer to [6] and [7].

Hölder continuity of velocity gradients is also important when one studies exponential attractors. With such a regularity it is possible to show the differentiability of the solution operator with respect to the initial condition, which is the key technical step in the method of Lyapunov exponents. Differentiability of the solution is equivalent to the linearisation of the equation around particular solution which is used to study infinitesimal volume elements and leads to sharp dimension estimates of the global attractor. This is done for example in [53].

We closely follow [49], where P. Kaplický shows Hölder continuity of velocity gradients and pressure for (1.19)-(1.21) with  $p \in [2, 4)$  under no slip boundary conditions. Based on the same structure of the proof and using the results from [54] we extend the result to perfect slip boundary conditions and  $p \in [2, \infty)$ . Although some steps of the proof in [49] can be easily modified, we have to overcome a new difficulties connected to the another type of boundary conditions. Particularly, the  $L^p$  theory result for the Stokes problem equipped with perfect slip boundary conditions has to be established (this is done in previous chapter). Keeping at our disposal results from Chapter 2, we are able to cover the case  $p \geq 4$ . From the point of application it would be very interesting to obtain also the result for the case  $p \in (1, 2)$  for perfect slip or homogeneous Dirichlet boundary condition.

The idea of the proof goes back to [72], where the authors show that every weak solution u of  $\partial_t u - \operatorname{div}(\mathcal{S}(\nabla u)) = 0$  in Q has locally Hölder continuous gradient in case that  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  and p = 2. This result was extended in [33] to the case  $p \in (1, 2)$ . Regularity of  $\partial_t u$  is shown first and after moving  $\partial_t u$  to the right hand side the stationary  $L^q$  theory is applied.

In the case of generalized Newtonian fluids this method was modified in [52], where the authors consider the shear-thinning fluid model with periodic boundary conditions. In contrary to [72] the regularity of  $\partial_t u$  and  $\nabla u$  had to be obtained at once. The authors showed that velocity gradients are Hölder continuous for  $p \in (4/3, 2]$ . These results were extended to electro-rheological fluids and nonzero initial condition in [21].

Among many works concerning regularity theory for generalized Newtonian fluids we would like to mention two papers dealing with the stationary case. In [51] the stationary version of (1.19)-(1.21) under homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions is considered. The same authors later in [50] studied the problem equipped with non-homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions with two types of restriction on boundary data and perfect slip boundary conditions.

We begin with the definition of the weak solution to the problem (1.19)-(1.22).

**Definition 5.1.1** Let  $f \in L^{p'}(I, W^{-1,p'}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$ ,  $p \in [2, \infty)$  and  $u_0 \in L^2(\Omega)$ . We say that the function  $u : I \times \Omega \mapsto \mathbb{R}^2$  is a weak solution to the problem (1.19)–(1.22), if  $u \in L^{\infty}(I, L^2(\Omega)) \cap L^p(I, W^{1,p}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$ ,  $\partial_t u \in L^{p'}(I, W^{-1,p'}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$ ,  $u(0, \cdot) = u_0$  in  $L^2(\Omega)$  and weak formulation

$$\int_{I} \langle \partial_{t} u, \varphi \rangle \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{I} \int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du) : D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{I} \int_{\Omega} (u \cdot \nabla) u\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{I} \langle f, \varphi \rangle \, \mathrm{d}t$$

holds for all  $\varphi \in L^p(I, W^{1,p}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$ .

If we studied also the case  $p \in (1, 2)$ , we would have to consider only test functions from the space of smooth functions which are regular enough. It is well known that the weak solution exists and is unique. It could be easily proven using the monotone operator theory. See for example [67, Chapter 5] for periodic boundary conditions.

Now we formulate the main results of this paper.

**Theorem 5.1.2** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded non-circular  $\mathcal{C}^3$  domain and (5.1) holds for some  $p \in [2, \infty)$ . Let  $u_0 \in W^{2+\beta,2}(\Omega)$  for  $\beta \in (0, 1/4)$ , div  $u_0 = 0$ ,  $f \in L^{\infty}(I, L^{q_0}(\Omega))$  and  $\partial_t f \in L^{q_0}(I, W^{-1,q'_0}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$  for some  $q_0 > 2$ . Then there exists a unique solution  $(u, \pi)$  of (1.19)–(1.22), such that for some  $\alpha > 0$ 

$$\nabla u, \pi \in \mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}(\overline{I \times \Omega}).$$

**Remark 5.1.3** It would be very interesting to obtain the same result as in Theorem 5.1.2 also for the Navier's boundary condition. In several parts of the proof of Theorem 5.1.2 we apply results from [54] that are formulated only for perfect slip boundary conditions. We don't know how to generalize these results also for partial slip boundary conditions.

The proof of the main theorem is divided into two parts. At first, the main theorem is proven in the case of quadratic growth, i.e. p = 2. Further we introduce the quadratic approximation of the stress tensor  $\mathcal{S}(Du)$  which is done by the truncation of the generalized viscosity from above, i.e.  $\mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{\varepsilon}|) := \min\{\mu(|Du|), 1/\varepsilon\}$  for  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ . We prove the main result for the approximated problem and pass from the approximated problem to the original one at the end.

## 5.2 Quadratic potential

In this section we prove Theorem 5.1.2 for p = 2.

Step 1 recalls apriori estimates from the existence theory.

For  $f \in W^{1,2}(I, W^{-1,2}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$  with  $f(0) \in L^2(\Omega)$  and  $u_0 \in W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap W^{1,2}_{\sigma}(\Omega)$ we know the existence of a unique weak solution of (1.19)–(1.22) fulfilling

$$u \in L^{\infty}(I, L^{2}(\Omega)) \cap L^{2}(I, W^{1,2}_{\sigma}(\Omega)),$$
  

$$\partial_{t}u \in L^{\infty}(I, L^{2}(\Omega)) \cap L^{2}(I, W^{1,2}_{\sigma}(\Omega)),$$
  

$$\pi \in L^{2}(I, L^{2}(\Omega)).$$
(5.2)

It can be shown using Galerkin approximation. Let  $\{\omega^k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  be the orthogonal basis of  $L^2_{\sigma}(\Omega)$  and  $W^{1,2}_{\sigma}(\Omega)$  consisting of eigenvectors of the Stokes operator with perfect slip boundary conditions. Such basis can be easily constructed provided  $\Omega$  is non-circular domain. Set  $H^n = \operatorname{span}\{\omega_1, \ldots, \omega^N\}$  and define the continuous projection  $P^N : L^2_{\sigma}(\Omega) \to H^N$  as follows:

$$P^{N}u = \sum_{k=1}^{N} (u, \omega^{k})\omega^{k}.$$

Define  $u^N(t,x) = \sum_{k=1}^N c_k^N(t) \omega^k$  where  $c_k^N(t)$  solves the Galerkin system

$$\langle \partial_t u^N(t), \omega^k \rangle + \int_{\Omega} \mathcal{S}(Du^N) : D(\omega^k) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} (u^n \otimes u^n) : \nabla \omega^k \, \mathrm{d}x = \langle f, w^k \rangle,$$
  
$$u^N(0) = u_0^N = P^N u_0, \quad 1 \le k \le N.$$
(5.3)

After multiplying the Galerkin system (5.3) by  $c_k^N(t)$ , summing up, using Gronwall's and Korn's inequalities we derive the following apriori estimate

$$\sup_{t \in I} \|u^N(t)\|_2^2 + \int_I \|u^N(\tau)\|_{1,2}^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau \le C.$$

Further we apply the time derivative to (5.3), multiply it by  $\partial_t c_k^N(t)$  and sum up. Unlike the previous apriori estimates, before using Gronwall's inequality, the boundednes of  $\|\partial_t u^N(0)\|_2^2$  needs to be shown. This can be done easily, since  $P^N: W^{2,2}(\Omega) \cap W^{1,2}_{\sigma}(\Omega) \to H^N$  is bounded uniformly with respect to N (c. f. [67, Lemma 4.26] in case of periodic boundary conditions), we can use (5.3). Thus, after Gronwall's inequality we have

$$\sup_{t \in I} \|\partial_t u^N(t)\|_2^2 + \int_I \|\partial_t u^N(\tau)\|_{1,2}^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau \le C.$$

Passing to the limit with  $N \to \infty$  (where we use the Aubin-Lions' lemma to obtain the strong convergence of  $u^N$  in  $L^2(I, L^4(\Omega))$  and Minty's trick to identify the limit of  $\mathcal{S}(Du^N)$  with  $\mathcal{S}(Du)$ ) we get the first two relations in (5.2).

Since  $\partial_t u$ , div  $\mathcal{S}(Du)$ , div $(u \otimes u)$  and f lie in  $L^2(I, W^{-1,2}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$ , we can reconstruct the pressure  $\pi$  at almost every time level via De Rham's theorem (Theorem A.5.2) and Nečas' theorem on negative norms (Theorem A.5.1) and obtain  $\pi \in L^2(\Omega)$  for almost every  $t \in I$ .

#### Step 2 improves the regularity in space.

If we additionally assume  $f \in L^{\infty}(I, L^2(\Omega))$  we are able to show that

$$u \in L^{\infty}(I, W^{2,2}(\Omega)), \quad \pi \in L^{\infty}(I, W^{1,2}(\Omega)).$$
 (5.4)

From Step 1 we know that  $\partial_t u$  is regular enough in order to move it to the right hand side of (1.19). At almost every time level  $t \in I$  we can use the stationary theory. Boundary regularity in tangent direction is based on the difference quotient technique. In normal direction near the boundary the main tools are the operator curl and Nečas' theorem on negative norms. For details see Section 2.2. The information about the pressure comes from the fact that the right hand side of  $\nabla \pi = f + \operatorname{div} \mathcal{S} - \operatorname{div}(u \otimes u) - \partial_t u$  is in  $L^2(\Omega)$  for a. a.  $t \in I$ . Adding the assumption  $\int_{\Omega} \pi \, \mathrm{d}x = 0$  we get by Poincaré inequality the existence of  $\pi \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ at almost every time level  $t \in I$  together with a bound independent of t. **Step 3** improves the regularity in time using  $L^p$  theory for Stokes system.

If we moreover suppose that  $f \in L^{q_1}(I, W^{-1,q'_1}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$  for some  $q_1 > 2$  and  $u_0 \in W^{2+\beta,2}(\Omega)$  for  $\beta \in (0, 1/4)$  we are able to prove the existence of  $q_2 > 2$  such that the unique weak solution satisfies for all  $q \in (2, q_2)$ 

$$\partial_t u \in L^q(I, W^{1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega)) \cap BUC(I, B^{1-2/q}_{q,q,B,\sigma}(\Omega)).$$
(5.5)

Denoting  $w := \partial_t u$  and  $\tau := \partial_t \pi$  in the sense of distributions, we observe from (1.19) that  $(w, \tau)$  solves

$$\int_{I} \langle \partial_{t} w, \varphi \rangle \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{Q} \partial_{Du}^{2} \Phi(|Du|) : Dw \otimes D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{I} \langle \partial_{t} (f - (u \cdot \nabla)u), \varphi \rangle \, \mathrm{d}t$$
(5.6)

for all  $\varphi \in L^q(I, W^{1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$ . It is easy to see that  $\partial_t(u \cdot \nabla u) \in L^s(I, W^{-1,s}(\Omega))$  for all  $s \in [1, 4]$ .

In order to obtain (5.5) as a result of application of Lemma 4.5.1 for the system (5.6) we need to ensure that  $\|\partial_t u(0)\|_{B^{1-2/q}_{q,q,B,\sigma}(\Omega)}$  is bounded. Let  $\beta \in (0, 1/4)$  and  $\varphi \in W^{-\beta,2}(\Omega)$  with  $\|\varphi\|_{W^{-\beta,2}(\Omega)} \leq 1$  be arbitrary. We recall that the Helmholtz projection P enjoys the continuity properties as mentioned in Remark 4.3.3 Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle \partial_t u(0), \varphi \rangle| &= |\langle \partial_t u(0), P\varphi \rangle| \le |\langle \operatorname{div} S(Du_0) + (u_0 \cdot \nabla) u_0 - f(0), P\varphi \rangle| \\ &\le C(||u_0||_{W^{2+\beta,2}(\Omega)} + ||u_0||^2_{W^{2,2}(\Omega)} + ||f(0)||_{W^{\beta,2}(\Omega)}) \le C. \end{aligned}$$
(5.7)

Since  $W^{\beta,2}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow B^{1-2/q}_{q,q}(\Omega)$  if q is close enough to 2 we obtain

$$\left\|\partial_t u(0)\right\|_{B^{1-2/q}_{q,g,B,\sigma}(\Omega)} \le C$$

for all  $q \in (2, q_2)$  where  $q_2$  is sufficiently close to 2.

Moving second term on the left hand side of (5.6) to the right hand side and taking supremum over  $\varphi \in L^{q'}(I, W^{1,q'}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$  with norm less or equal to 1 we obtain

$$\partial_{tt} u \in L^q(I, W^{-1,q}_{\sigma}(\Omega)).$$
(5.8)

**Step 4** gives  $u \in L^{\infty}(I, W^{2,q}(\Omega))$  due to the stationary theory.

Previous step shows us that  $\partial_t u \in L^{\infty}(I, L^q(\Omega))$  for some q > 2. Therefore we are able to move  $\partial_t u$  to the right hand side of (1.19) and apply the stationary result [50, Theorem 3] for p = 2 which tells us that there exists a positive  $\varepsilon$ , such that  $u \in W^{2,2+\varepsilon}(\Omega)$  and  $\pi \in W^{1,2+\varepsilon}(\Omega)$  for a. a.  $t \in I$ .

**Step 5** improves the regularity of  $\pi$  in time.

There exists a q > 2 such that for all  $s \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ 

$$\pi \in W^{s,q}(I, L^q(\Omega)). \tag{5.9}$$

We closely follow the proof of [49, Lemma 3.4]. For a function g(t) defined on the time interval I and  $(t_1, t_2) \subset I$  set  $\delta^t g := g(t_2) - g(t_1)$ . The idea of the proof is based on subtracting the equation (1.19) in the time  $t_2$  from the same equation in time  $t_1$  which leads to

$$\int_{\Omega} \delta^{t} \pi \operatorname{div} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} [\delta^{t} (\partial_{t} u - f) \varphi - \delta^{t} (u \otimes u - \mathcal{S}(Du)) D\varphi] \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \text{for a.a.} \ t_{1}, t_{2} \in I,$$
(5.10)

which holds for all  $\varphi \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  with  $\varphi \cdot \nu = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ . From (5.5) and (5.8) one may easily show by interpolation that for all  $s \in (0, 1/2)$  there exists q > 2 such that  $u \in W^{s,q}(I, W^{1,q}(\Omega))$  and  $\partial_t u \in W^{s,q}(I, L^q(\Omega))$ . Together with the assumptions on the right hand side f we can notice that (5.10) holds also for all  $\varphi \in W^{1,q'}(\Omega)$  with  $\varphi = 0$  at  $\partial\Omega$ . Consider the problem

div 
$$\varphi^t = \delta^t \pi |\delta^t \pi|^{q-2} - \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} \delta^t \pi |\delta^t \pi|^{q-2} dx$$
 in  $\Omega$ ,  
 $\varphi^t = 0$  at  $\partial \Omega$ .
(5.11)

The right hand side of (5.11) has zero mean value over  $\Omega$  and belongs to  $L^{q'}(\Omega)$  due to (5.4), therefore Bogovskii's Lemma A.3.1 guaranties the existence of  $\varphi^t$  satisfying the estimate  $\|\varphi^t\|_{1,q'} \leq C \|\delta^t \pi\|_q^{q-1}$ . Taking  $\varphi^t$  as a test function in (5.10) leads to

$$\|\delta^t \pi\|_q^q \le \varepsilon \|\delta^t \pi\|_q^q + C_\varepsilon (\|\delta^t \partial_t u\|_q^q + \|\delta^t f\|_{-1,q}^q + \|\delta^t \nabla u\|_q^q).$$
(5.12)

Dividing (5.12) by  $|t_2 - t_1|^{1+sq}$  and integrating twice over I gives

$$\|\pi\|_{W^{s,q}(I,L^q(\Omega))}^q = \int_I \int_I \frac{\|\delta^t \pi\|_q^q}{|t_2 - t_1|^{1+sq}} \,\mathrm{d}t_1 \,\mathrm{d}t_2 \le C,$$

which concludes the proof of (5.9).

**Step 6** summarizes the result of this section and uses imbedding theorems to complete the proof.

Up to now we have shown

$$u \in L^{\infty}(I, W^{2,q}(\Omega)) \cap W^{1,q}(I, L^{q}(\Omega)), \quad \pi \in L^{\infty}(I, W^{1,q}(\Omega)) \cap W^{s,q}(I, L^{q}(\Omega)).$$

As we are in two dimensions, q > 2,  $s \in (\frac{1}{q}, \frac{1}{2})$ , following imbeddings hold

$$L^{\infty}(I, W^{1,q}(\Omega)) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{C}^{0,1-\frac{2}{q}}(\overline{\Omega})),$$
 (5.13)

$$W^{1,q}(I, L^q(\Omega)) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}^{1-\frac{1}{q}}(\overline{I}, L^q(\Omega)), \tag{5.14}$$

$$W^{s,q}(I, L^q(\Omega)) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{C}^{s-\frac{1}{q}}(\overline{I}, L^q(\Omega)).$$
 (5.15)

Now we are ready to apply

**Lemma 5.2.1** [49, Lemma 2.6] Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded  $\mathcal{C}^2$  domain. Let  $f \in L^{\infty}(I, \mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega}))$  and  $f \in \mathcal{C}^{0,\beta}(\overline{I}, L^s(\Omega))$  for some  $\alpha, \beta \in (0, 1)$  and s > 1. Then  $f \in \mathcal{C}^{0,\gamma}(\overline{I \times \Omega})$  with  $\gamma = \min\{\alpha, \frac{\alpha\beta s}{\alpha s + 2}\}.$ 

Using (5.13) and (5.14) together with Lemma 5.2.1 we obtain  $\nabla u \in \mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}(\overline{I \times \Omega})$ for certain  $\alpha > 0$ . (5.13), (5.15) with Lemma 5.2.1 gives us  $\pi \in \mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}(\overline{I \times \Omega})$  for some  $\alpha > 0$ , which concludes the proof of main results for p = 2.

## 5.3 Super-quadratic potential

In this section we prove Theorem 5.1.2 for p > 2. The proof consists of several steps.

#### Step 1 introduces quadratic approximations.

In a similar way like in Section 2.3 of Chapter 2 we are concerned with the regularized problem

$$\partial_t u^{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon}) + (u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla)u^{\varepsilon} + \nabla \pi^{\varepsilon} = f, \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\varepsilon} = 0 \text{ in } I \times \Omega, u^{\varepsilon}(0, \cdot) = u_0 \text{ in } \Omega,$$
(5.16)

where we consider quadratic approximation  $S^{\varepsilon}$  of S defined for  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  by the truncation of the viscosity  $\mu$  from above:

$$\mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{\varepsilon}|) := \min\left\{\mu(|Du|), \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right\}, \quad \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon}) := \mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{\varepsilon}|)Du^{\varepsilon}.$$
(5.17)

Scalar potential  $\Phi^{\varepsilon}$  to  $\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon})$  can be constructed in the following way

$$\Phi^{\varepsilon}(s) := \int_0^s \mu^{\varepsilon}(t) t \, \mathrm{d}t$$

and satisfies growth conditions (5.1) for p = 2, i.e. there exists  $C_1 > 0$  and  $C(\varepsilon)$  such that for all  $A, B \in \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}_{sum}$ 

$$C_1|B|^2 \le \partial_A^2 \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|A|) : B \otimes B \le C(\varepsilon)|B|^2.$$
(5.18)

The approximation (5.17) guarantees that for a fixed  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  the results of the previous section holds for  $u^{\varepsilon}$  and  $\pi^{\varepsilon}$  solving (5.16) equipped with the perfect slip boundary conditions.

#### **Step 2** gives growth conditions dependent on $\varepsilon$ .

Due to the results of the previous section we are able to use techniques which enable us to gain uniform estimates with respect to  $\varepsilon$ . At first we need a growth estimates of  $\Phi^{\varepsilon}$  with precise dependence on  $\varepsilon$ . In other words, the constant  $C(\varepsilon)$ in the estimate (5.18) needs to be specified. To this purpose we define the function  $\vartheta^{\varepsilon}$  by  $\vartheta^{\varepsilon}(s) := \min\{(1+s^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\}$ . Now, there exist constants  $0 < C_3 \leq C_4$  such that for all  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  and  $A, B \in \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}_{sym}$ 

$$C_3\vartheta^{\varepsilon}(|A|)^{p-2}|B|^2 \le \partial_A^2 \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|A|) : B \otimes B \le C_4\vartheta^{\varepsilon}(|A|)^{p-2}|B|^2.$$
(5.19)

As a corollary of (5.19) following estimates can be derived (see [68, Lemma 2.22] for the proof.)

$$C\vartheta^{\varepsilon}(|A|)^{p-2}|A|^2 \le \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(A) : A, \tag{5.20}$$

$$C|\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(A)| \le \vartheta^{\varepsilon}(|A|)^{p-2}|A|.$$
(5.21)

The lower estimate in (5.20) can be done independent of  $\varepsilon$ , since (5.18) holds:

$$C_5|A|^2 \le \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(A) : A. \tag{5.22}$$

At this point we would like to emphasize that from now all constants in following steps are independent of  $\varepsilon$ .

**Step 3** provides  $L^{\infty}(I, L^2(\Omega)) \cap L^2(I, W^{1,2}(\Omega))$  estimates of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  and  $\partial_t u^{\varepsilon}$ .

We recall estimates from the previous section which hold also for the approximated problem since the lower bound in (5.22) is independent on  $\varepsilon$ .

$$\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^{2}(\Omega))} + \|\nabla u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(Q)} \le C, \qquad (5.23)$$

$$\|\partial_t u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(I,L^2(\Omega))}^2 + \|\nabla \partial_t u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2(Q)} \le C.$$
(5.24)

The relation (5.23) is an apriori estimate obtained by taking solution as a test function (at the level of Galerkin approximation). Roughly speaking, the estimate (5.24) is performed by taking time derivative of the equation (5.16) and testing by time derivative of  $u^{\varepsilon}$ . More precisely, it is not applied directly to the equation (5.16), but still to the Galerkin system. In order to estimate the time derivative of the Galerkin approximation of  $u^{\varepsilon}$  at the time t = 0 we proceed in the same way like in (5.7).

Note that (5.23) and (5.24) give  $u^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(I, W^{1,2}(\Omega))$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla u^{\varepsilon}(s,\cdot)\|_{2}^{2} - \|\nabla u^{\varepsilon}(0,\cdot)\|_{2}^{2} &= \int_{\Omega} \int_{0}^{s} \partial_{t} |\nabla u^{\varepsilon}(t,\cdot)|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq 2 \|\nabla u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(I \times \Omega)} \|\partial_{t} \nabla u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(I \times \Omega)} \leq C. \end{aligned}$$

**Step 4** describes the boundary  $\partial \Omega$ .

In order to discuss boundary regularity in following steps, we need a suitable description of the boundary  $\partial\Omega$ . Let us denote  $x = (x_1, x_2)$ . We suppose that  $\Omega \in \mathcal{C}^3$ , therefore there exists  $c_0 > 0$  such that for all  $a_0 > 0$  there exists  $n_0$  points  $P \in \partial\Omega$ , r > 0 and open smooth set  $\Omega_0 \subset \subset \Omega$  that we have

$$\Omega \subset \Omega_0 \cup \bigcup_P B_r(P)$$

and for each point  $P \in \partial \Omega$  there exists local system of coordinates for which P = 0 and the boundary  $\partial \Omega$  is locally described by  $\mathcal{C}^3$  mapping  $a_P$  that for  $x_1 \in (-3r, 3r)$  fulfils

$$x \in \partial\Omega \Leftrightarrow x_2 = a_P(x_1), \quad B_{3r}(P) \cap \Omega = \{x \in B_r(P) \text{ and } x_2 > a_P(x_1)\} =: \Omega_{3r}^P, \\ \partial_1 a_P(0) = 0, \quad |\partial_1 a_P(x_1)| \le a_0, \quad |\partial_1^2 a_P(x_1)| + |\partial_1^3 a_P(x_1)| \le c_0.$$

Points P can be divided into k groups such that in each group  $\Omega_{3r}^P$  are disjoint and k depends only on dimension n. Let the cut-off function  $\xi_P(x) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(B_{3r}(P))$ and reaches values

$$\xi_P(x) \begin{cases} = 1 & x \in B_r(P), \\ \in (0,1) & x \in B_{2r}(P) \setminus B_r(P), \\ = 0 & x \in \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus B_{2r}(P). \end{cases}$$

Next, we assume that we work in the coordinate system corresponding to P. Particularly, P = 0. Let us fix P and drop for simplicity the index P. The tangent vector and the outer normal vector to  $\partial\Omega$  are defined as

$$\tau = (1, \partial_1 a(x_1)), \quad \nu = (\partial_1 a(x_1), -1),$$

tangent and normal derivatives as

$$\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} = \partial_1 + \partial_1 a(x_1)\partial_2, \quad \partial_{\nu} = -\partial_2 + \partial_1 a(x_1)\partial_1.$$

**Step 5** gives  $u^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(I, W^{2,2}(\Omega))$  uniformly in  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ .

From Step 3 we obtained that  $\partial_t u^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(I, L^2(\Omega))$ , therefore we can fix  $t \in I$ , move  $\partial_t u^{\varepsilon}$  to the right hand side of (5.16) and at almost every time level consider the stationary problem

$$-\operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon}) + (u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla)u^{\varepsilon} + \nabla\pi^{\varepsilon} = h, \quad \operatorname{div} u^{\varepsilon} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega,$$
$$u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nu = 0, \ [\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon})\nu] \cdot \tau = 0 \text{ at } \partial\Omega,$$
(5.25)

where  $h := f - \partial_t u^{\varepsilon} \in L^2(\Omega)$ . Section 5.2 provides  $u^{\varepsilon} \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$ ,  $\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon}) \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$  and  $\pi^{\varepsilon} \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ . Thus we can multiply (5.25) by a suitable test function which is at least in  $L^2(\Omega)$  and integrate over  $\Omega$ . We focus only on the boundary regularity and work in the local system of coordinates. Following [54, Lemma 4.2, Remark 4.9] we choose as a test function  $\varphi = (\varphi_1, \varphi_2)$ 

$$\varphi = (\partial_2 \Theta, -\partial_1 \Theta), \Theta := \partial_{\nu} (u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \tau) \xi^2 - u^{\varepsilon} \cdot (\partial_{\nu} \tau + \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu) \xi^2 - \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} (u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nu) \xi^2.$$

This test function is constructed in order to get rid of the pressure  $\pi^{\varepsilon}$  and to obtain optimal information from the elliptic term. These most difficult estimates, in which we extract from  $-\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon}) \cdot \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x$  boundedness of the term  $\int_{\Omega} \mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{\varepsilon}|)|\nabla^2 u^{\varepsilon}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x$ , are done in Chapter 2, Section 2.3, therefore we omit the calculations. It remains to estimate the convective term and the right hand side of (5.25). We start with the convective term.

$$\int_{\Omega} [(u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla)u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} \partial_2 \Theta(u_1^{\varepsilon} \partial_1 u_1^{\varepsilon} + u_2^{\varepsilon} \partial_2 u_1^{\varepsilon}) - \partial_1 \Theta(u_1^{\varepsilon} \partial_1 u_2^{\varepsilon} + u_2^{\varepsilon} \partial_2 u_2^{\varepsilon})] \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} \Theta(-u_1^{\varepsilon} \partial_2 \partial_1 u_1^{\varepsilon} - u_2^{\varepsilon} \partial_2^2 u_1^{\varepsilon} + u_1^{\varepsilon} \partial_1^2 u_2^{\varepsilon} + u_2^{\varepsilon} \partial_1 \partial_2 u_2^{\varepsilon}) \, \mathrm{d}x = \mathcal{J}_1,$$

where we used the fact that there arise no boundary terms while integrating by parts since  $\Theta = 0$  at  $\partial\Omega$ . Four terms in  $\mathcal{J}_1$  vanished due to  $\partial_1 u_1^{\varepsilon} = -\partial_2 u_2^{\varepsilon}$ . Now we put together terms containing  $u_1^{\varepsilon}$  and integrate by parts in the direction  $x_1$ , in other terms we integrate by parts in direction  $x_2$ . We get

$$\mathcal{J}_{1} = \int_{\Omega} \Theta(\partial_{1}u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - \partial_{1}u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{2}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - \partial_{2}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) \,\mathrm{d}x$$
$$+ \int_{\Omega} [\partial_{1}\Theta(u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) + \partial_{2}\Theta(u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon})] \,\mathrm{d}x = \mathcal{J}_{2} + \mathcal{J}_{3}.$$

One can easily see that  $\mathcal{J}_2 = 0$  since div  $u^{\varepsilon} = 0$ . Using

$$\Theta = (-\partial_2 u_1^\varepsilon + \partial_1 u_2^\varepsilon - 2a'' u_1^\varepsilon)\xi^2$$

we write out  $\mathcal{J}_3$  in the following way

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_{3} &= \int_{\Omega} \left[ (-\partial_{1}\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{1}^{2}u_{2}^{\varepsilon})(u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) \\ &+ (-\partial_{2}^{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{1}\partial_{2}u_{2}^{\varepsilon})(u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) \right] \xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \int_{\Omega} \left[ (-2a'''u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\xi^{2} - 2a''\partial_{1}u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\xi^{2} + (-\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon} - 2a''u_{1}^{\varepsilon})2\xi\partial_{1}\xi)(u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) \right] \xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &+ (-2a''\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\xi^{2} + (-\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon} - 2a''u_{1}^{\varepsilon})2\xi\partial_{2}\xi)(u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) \right] \xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &+ (-2a''\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\xi^{2} + (-\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon} - 2a''u_{1}^{\varepsilon})2\xi\partial_{2}\xi)(u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) \right] \xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &+ (-2a''\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\xi^{2} + (-\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon} - 2a''u_{1}^{\varepsilon})2\xi\partial_{2}\xi)(u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) \right] \xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &+ (-2a''\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\xi^{2} + (-\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon} - 2a''u_{1}^{\varepsilon})2\xi\partial_{2}\xi)(u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) \right] \xi^{2} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &+ (-2a''\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon}\xi^{2} + (-\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} + \partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon} - 2a''u_{1}^{\varepsilon})2\xi\partial_{2}\xi)(u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{2}u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - u_{2}^{\varepsilon}\partial_{1}u_{2}^{\varepsilon}) \right] \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &= \mathcal{J}_{4} + \mathcal{J}_{5}. \end{aligned}$$

The term  $\mathcal{J}_4$  can be rewritten in the following way:

$$\mathcal{J}_4 = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} [u_1 \partial_1 (\partial_1 u_2^{\varepsilon} - \partial_2 u_1^{\varepsilon})^2 + u_2^{\varepsilon} \partial_2 (\partial_1 u_2^{\varepsilon} - \partial_2 u_1^{\varepsilon})^2] \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} (\partial_1 u_1^{\varepsilon} + \partial_2 u_2^{\varepsilon}) (\partial_1 u_2^{\varepsilon} - \partial_2 u_1^{\varepsilon})^2 \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} (u_1^{\varepsilon} \xi \partial_1 \xi + u_2^{\varepsilon} \xi \partial_2 \xi) (\partial_1 u_2^{\varepsilon} - \partial_2 u_1^{\varepsilon})^2 \, \mathrm{d}x$$
  
$$+ \int_{\partial\Omega} (u_1^{\varepsilon} \nu_1 + u_2^{\varepsilon} \nu_2) (\partial_1 u_2^{\varepsilon} - \partial_2 u_1^{\varepsilon})^2 \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = \mathcal{J}_6 + \mathcal{J}_7 + \mathcal{J}_8.$$

One can see that  $\mathcal{J}_6 = 0$ , since div  $u^{\varepsilon} = 0$  and  $\mathcal{J}_8 = 0$ , because  $u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nu = 0$  at  $\partial \Omega$ . Thus,

$$|\mathcal{J}_5| + |\mathcal{J}_7| \le C \int_{\Omega} (|u^{\varepsilon}| |\nabla u^{\varepsilon}|^2 + |u^{\varepsilon}|^2 |\nabla u^{\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}x.$$
(5.26)

Using Hölder and Young inequalities,  $\|\cdot\|_4^2 \leq C \|\cdot\|_{1,2} \|\cdot\|_2$  and the information  $u^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(I, W^{1,2}(\Omega))$  we continue estimating (5.26):

$$C(\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{2}\|\nabla u^{\varepsilon}\|_{4}^{2} + \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{4}^{2}\|\nabla u^{\varepsilon}\|_{2}) \leq \varepsilon \|\nabla^{2}u^{\varepsilon}\|_{2}^{2} + C\|u\|_{1,2}^{2} + C\|\nabla u^{\varepsilon}\|_{2}^{2}\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{2}^{2}.$$

The right hand side of (5.25) is estimated easily:

$$\left|\int_{\Omega} h \cdot \varphi \,\mathrm{d}x\right| \le \int_{\Omega} |h| (|\nabla^2 u^{\varepsilon}| + |\nabla u^{\varepsilon}| + |u^{\varepsilon}|) \,\mathrm{d}x \le C \|h\|_2^2 + \varepsilon \|\nabla^2 u^{\varepsilon}\|_2^2 + C \|u\|_{1,2}^2.$$

Since  $\mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{\varepsilon}|) > 1$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$  can be chosen arbitrarily small, we obtain

$$\|\nabla^2 u^{\varepsilon}\|_2^2 \le \int_{\Omega} \mu^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^2 u^{\varepsilon}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \le C,\tag{5.27}$$

where C doesn't depend on  $\varepsilon$  and  $t \in I$ , therefore we have

$$u^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(I, W^{2,2}(\Omega)).$$
(5.28)

**Step 6** improves information about  $\partial_t u^{\varepsilon}$ .

In the same spirit as in Step 3 in Section 5.2 we denote  $w := \partial_t u^{\varepsilon}$  and  $\tau := \partial_t \pi^{\varepsilon}$  in the sense of distributions, which solves (5.6) where  $\Phi$  is replaced by  $\Phi^{\varepsilon}$ . The right hand side of (5.6) is bounded uniformly with respect to  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  in  $L^{q_0}(I, W^{-1,q'_0}_{\sigma}(\Omega))$  for some  $q_0 > 2$ , since from (5.23), (5.24) and (5.28) we have  $\partial_t[(u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla)u^{\varepsilon}] \in L^s(I, W^{-1,s}(\Omega))$  for all  $s \in [1, 4]$ .

Set  $V_{\varepsilon} := \sup_{Q} |\vartheta^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{\varepsilon}|)|$ . From (5.19) we have for all  $t \in I$ ,  $x \in \Omega$ , for all  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  and  $A, B \in \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}_{sym}$ 

$$c|B|^2 \leq \partial_A^2 \Phi^{\varepsilon}(|A|) : B \otimes B \leq CV_{\varepsilon}^{p-2}(|A|)|B|^2$$

From Lemma 4.5.1 we have the existence of positive constants K and L such that for all  $q \in (2, q_2]$ , where  $q_2 := 2 + L/V_{\varepsilon}^{p-2}$  holds

$$\|\nabla w\|_{L^{q}(I\times\Omega)} + V_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{2-p}{q}} \|w\|_{BUC(I,B^{1-2/q}_{q,q,B,\sigma}(\Omega))}$$
  
$$\leq K \Big( \|f\|_{L^{q}(I,W^{-1,q'}(\Omega))} + V_{\varepsilon}^{(p-2)(1-1/q)} \|\partial_{t}u_{0}\|_{B^{1-2/q}_{q,q,B,\sigma}(\Omega)} \Big).$$
(5.29)

Without loss of generality we may assume that  $q_2 < q_0$ . Thus, after estimating last norm on the right hand side of (5.29) in the same way like in Step 3 in Section 5.2 we have

$$\left\|\partial_t u^{\varepsilon}\right\|_{BUC(I,B^{1-2/q}_{q,q,B,\sigma}(\Omega))} \le C\left(V_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{p-2}{q}} + V_{\varepsilon}^{p-2}\right) \le CV_{\varepsilon}^{p-2}.$$

**Step 7** improves information about  $\nabla^2 u^{\varepsilon}$ .

In this step we obtain better space regularity. Up to now we have  $\vartheta^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(I, W^{1,2}(\Omega))$ . We are going to show that  $\vartheta^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(I, W^{1,q}(\Omega))$  for some q > 2.

We omit estimates of  $\nabla^2 u^{\varepsilon}$  in the interior of  $\Omega$  and we focus on estimates near the boundary. We start with the tangential direction. Localizing the problem, we work in  $\Omega_{3r}^P$ , where the boundary is locally described by the  $\mathcal{C}^3$  mapping  $a_p$ . For simplicity we drop the index P.

We multiply (5.25) by  $-\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}\varphi\xi$ , integrate over  $\Omega_{3r}$  and after similar steps as in [54, Lemma 4.6] we derive the identity

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon}) &: D\varphi\xi \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\Omega_{3r}} h \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}(\varphi\xi) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} (u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla) u^{\varepsilon} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \varphi\xi \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon}) : \left[ \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \varphi \otimes \nabla\xi - \nabla\varphi \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \xi + (\partial_{1}^{2}a, 0) \otimes \partial_{2} \varphi\xi \right] \\ &+ \nabla \left( \varphi \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu \frac{\nu}{|\nu|^{2}} \xi \right) dx + \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \mathrm{div} \, \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon}) \cdot \left[ (\varphi \cdot \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nu) \frac{\nu}{|\nu|^{2}} \xi - \varphi \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \xi \right] \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \int_{\Omega_{3r}} \partial_{1}^{2} a [h_{2} + (\mathrm{div} \, \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon}))_{2} - (u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla u^{\varepsilon})_{2}] \varphi_{1} \xi \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \int_{\Omega_{3r}} [h_{1} + \partial_{1} a h_{2} + \mathrm{div} \, \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon})_{1} + \partial_{1} a \, \mathrm{div} \, \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon})_{2} \\ &+ (u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla u^{\varepsilon})_{1} + \partial_{1} a (u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla u^{\varepsilon})_{2}] \varphi \nabla\xi \, \mathrm{d}x \end{aligned}$$
(5.30)

for all  $\varphi \in W^{1,q'}_{\sigma}(\Omega)$ , supp  $\varphi \subset \overline{\Omega_{3r}}$ . Terms on the right hand side of (5.30) comes at first from the fact that we add and subtract some lower order terms in order to let the boundary term vanish while integrating by parts. Second, tangent derivative doesn't commute with the gradient and we use  $\nabla \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \varphi = \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \nabla \varphi +$  $(\partial_1^2 a, 0) \otimes \partial_2 \varphi$ . Third, we use the equation (5.25) and replace  $\partial_2 \pi^{\varepsilon}$  by

 $h_2 + (\operatorname{div} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon}))_2 + (u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla u^{\varepsilon})_2$  and similarly for  $\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} \pi^{\varepsilon}$ .

We denote  $w := \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} u^{\varepsilon} \xi - (0, \partial_1^2 a u_1^{\varepsilon}) \xi + z$ , where z is the solution of

$$\operatorname{div} z = -\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla \xi - \partial_{1}^{2} a u_{1}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{2} \xi \qquad \text{in } \Omega_{3r}, \qquad (5.31)$$

$$z = 0 \qquad \qquad \text{on } \partial\Omega_{3r}. \tag{5.32}$$

The right hand side of (5.31) was obtained from div  $\left(-\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}u^{\varepsilon}\xi + (0,\partial_{1}^{2}au_{1}^{\varepsilon})\xi\right)$ using the fact that div  $u^{\varepsilon} = 0$ . The role of z is to ensure that div w = 0. On  $\partial\Omega$  it holds  $w \cdot \nu = 0$  since

$$w \cdot \nu = [\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nu + \partial_1^2 a u_1^{\varepsilon}]\xi + z \cdot \nu = \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} (u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nu)\xi = 0.$$

Thus, the compatibility condition holds

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} z \cdot \nu \, \mathrm{d}\sigma = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} z \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{div} (-\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} u^{\varepsilon} \xi + (0, \partial_{1}^{2} a u_{1}^{\varepsilon}) \xi) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= -\int_{\partial\Omega} \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} (u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nu) \xi \, \mathrm{d}\sigma = 0$$

and z solving (5.31) and (5.32) exists by Bogovskii's Lemma and enjoys the estimate  $||z||_{1,q} \leq C ||\nabla u^{\varepsilon}||_q$  for some C > 0.

Using the definition of w we get from (5.30)

$$\int_{\Omega} \partial_{Du^{\varepsilon}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon}) : Dw \otimes D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = \langle g, \varphi \rangle \quad \forall \varphi \in W^{1,q'}_{\sigma}(\Omega),$$

with

$$\langle g, \varphi \rangle = \text{RHS of} (5.30) + \int_{\Omega} \partial_{Du^{\varepsilon}} \mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon}) : [Dz + \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} u^{\varepsilon} \otimes \nabla \xi + (\partial_{1}^{2}a, 0) \otimes_{S} \partial_{2} u^{\varepsilon} \xi - D((0, \partial_{1}^{2}a, 0)\xi)] D\varphi \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Due to the assumption on f and results from Step 4 we have  $||g||_{-1,q'_2} \leq CV_{\varepsilon}^{p-2}$ and after application of Lemma 4.5.2 we obtain

$$\|\nabla \partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} u^{\varepsilon} \xi\|_{L^{q}(\Omega)} \le C V_{\varepsilon}^{p-2}.$$
(5.33)

We recall that q depends on  $\varepsilon$  by the relation  $q \in (2, 2 + L/V_{\varepsilon}^{p-2}]$ . In order to control whole  $\nabla^2 u^{\varepsilon}$  we need an estimate of type (5.33) in the normal direction which is locally  $x_2$ . Since  $\partial_2^2 u_2^{\varepsilon}$  can be expressed from the condition div  $u^{\varepsilon} = 0$ , we focus on  $\partial_2^2 u_1^{\varepsilon}$ . Following [51, Theorem 3.19] we can extract the desired estimate from the equation (5.25) after employment of the operator curl. Let us shorten  $\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}(Du^{\varepsilon})$  to  $\mathcal{S}^{\varepsilon}$  and  $\vartheta^{\varepsilon}(|Du^{\varepsilon}|)$  to  $\vartheta^{\varepsilon}$ . Denoting  $G := \partial_2 \mathcal{S}_{12}^{\varepsilon}$  we have due to (5.21) and (5.19)

$$\begin{aligned} \|\xi G\|_{-1,q} &\leq \|\mathcal{S}_{12}^{\varepsilon}\|_{q} \leq \|(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{p-2}Du^{\varepsilon}\|_{q}, \\ \|\partial_{1}(\xi G)\|_{-1,q} &\leq C \|(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{p-2}Du^{\varepsilon}\|_{q} + C'\|(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{p-2}\partial_{1}\nabla u^{\varepsilon}\|_{q}. \end{aligned}$$

From the equation (5.25) after application of curl we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_2(\xi G)\|_{-1,q} &\leq C(\|\partial_1(\mathcal{S}_{21}^{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{S}_{22}^{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{S}_{11}^{\varepsilon})\|_q + \|f\|_q + \|u^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla u^{\varepsilon}\|_q + \|\partial_t u^{\varepsilon}\|_q) \\ &\leq C\{\|(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{p-2}Du^{\varepsilon}\|_q + \|(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{p-2}\partial_1\nabla u^{\varepsilon}\|_q + V_{\varepsilon}^{p-2} + 1\} := H. \end{aligned}$$

Nečas' theorem on negative norms A.5.1 gives

$$\|\xi G\|_q \le C(\|\xi G\|_{-1,q} + \|\nabla(\xi G)\|_{-1,q}) \le H.$$

From definition of G and symmetry of Du we obtain

$$\partial_{12}\mathcal{S}_{12}^{\varepsilon}\partial_2 Du_{12}^{\varepsilon} = \frac{G}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{11}\mathcal{S}_{12}^{\varepsilon}\partial_2 Du_{11}^{\varepsilon} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{22}\mathcal{S}_{12}^{\varepsilon}\partial_2 Du_{22}^{\varepsilon}.$$

Using  $\partial_{12} \mathcal{S}_{12}^{\varepsilon} \geq C \vartheta^{\varepsilon p-2}$  and the condition div  $u^{\varepsilon} = 0$  we get that

$$\|\xi(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{p-2}\partial_2^2 u_1^{\varepsilon}\|_q \le H.$$

Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\xi(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{p-2}\nabla^{2}u^{\varepsilon}\|_{q} &\leq C \|\xi G\|_{q} + \|\xi(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{p-2}\nabla\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}u^{\varepsilon}\|_{q} \\ &+ \tilde{C}\sup_{x_{1}\in(-3r,3r)} |\partial_{1}a| \|\xi(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{p-2}\nabla^{2}u^{\varepsilon}\|_{q}, \end{aligned}$$
(5.34)

where  $\tilde{C}$  is absolute constant. Since we can choose r sufficiently small in order to  $\tilde{C} \max_{P \in \partial\Omega} \sup_{x_1 \in (-3r, 3r)} |\partial_1 a| \leq 1/2$ , the last term (5.34) can be absorbed into the left hand side. We have

$$\|\xi(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{p-2}\nabla^2 u^{\varepsilon}\|_{q_2} \le CV_{\varepsilon}^{p-2}V_{\varepsilon}^{p-2}.$$
(5.35)

From (5.27) the boundedness of the term  $\int_{\Omega} \mu^{\varepsilon} (|Du^{\varepsilon}|) |\nabla^2 u^{\varepsilon}|^2 dx$  is obtained, in other words  $\|(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{\frac{p-2}{2}} \nabla^2 u^{\varepsilon}\|_2 \leq C$ . Interpolation of this result with (5.35) gives for  $q \in (2, q_2)$ 

$$\|(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{\frac{p-2}{2}}\nabla^2 u^{\varepsilon}\|_q \le CV_{\varepsilon}^{\beta 2(p-2)},\tag{5.36}$$

where  $1/q = \beta/q_2 + (1-\beta)/2$ . Since it holds  $\|(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{p/2}\|_{1,q} \leq \|(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{p/2}\|_q + \|(\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{\frac{p-2}{2}} \nabla^2 u^{\varepsilon}\|_q$ , we want to use the following lemma for  $f = (\vartheta^{\varepsilon})^{p/2}$ .

**Lemma 5.3.1** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$  be a bounded  $\mathcal{C}^2$  domain and  $f \in W^{1,q}(\Omega)$  for some q > 2. Then  $f \in \mathcal{C}(\overline{\Omega})$  and there is C > 0 independent of q such that

$$\sup_{\Omega} |f| \le C \Big(\frac{q-1}{q-2}\Big)^{1-1/q} ||f||_{1,q}.$$
(5.37)

*Proof.* Follows from the proof of [90, Theorem 2.4.1]. The result holds also for  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ , with q > n and q - n instead of q - 2 in the denominator of (5.37).  $\Box$ 

Because  $\frac{q-1}{q-2} \leq CV^{p-2}$ , we obtain

$$V_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{p}{2}} \le CV^{(p-2)(1-\frac{1}{q})}V_{\varepsilon}^{\beta 2(p-2)}.$$
(5.38)

Note that  $(p-2)(1-1/q) \rightarrow p/2 - 1$  as  $q \rightarrow 2$  and the exponent containing the interpolation parameter  $\beta$  can be made arbitrarily small, therefore we can rewrite (5.38) as  $V_{\varepsilon} \leq \hat{C}$  for suitable  $\hat{C} > 0$ . This together with (5.36) gives

$$\sup_{t\in I} \|\nabla^2 u^\varepsilon\|_q \le C.$$

Step 8 passes from the regularized problem to the original one.

In the previous step we showed  $V_{\varepsilon} \leq \hat{C}$ , where  $V_{\varepsilon} = \sup_{I \times \Omega} |\vartheta_{\varepsilon}(|Du^{\varepsilon}|)|$ . Since  $\vartheta^{\varepsilon}(s) = \min\{(1+s^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\} \leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon}$ , it is sufficient to choose  $\varepsilon$  in order to have  $\hat{C} \leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon}$ . Thus,  $u^{\varepsilon} = u$  is the solution of the original problem (1.19)–(1.22) and it holds that  $\sup_{I \times \Omega} (1+|Du|^2)^{1/2} \leq C$  which leads to  $\sup_{t \in I} \|\nabla^2 u\|_q \leq C$ .

Since we passed from the regularized problem to the original one, the regularity of pressure  $\pi$  which we proved in Section 5.2 for quadratic potential holds also for the super-quadratic case.

## Conclusion

In presented work some results known for homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions were extended also for perfect slip boundary conditions. In Chapter 2, which is concerned with stationary generalized Stokes system, we were able to obtain optimal regularity results which are not known in case of homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions. Structure of the perfect slip boundary conditions allowed us to gain the information about normal part of the gradient of the function V, in case of homogeneous Dirichlet conditions there is a loss of regularity due to the absence of some special weighted version of Korn's inequality and the presence of pressure. The proof of the main theorem of Chapter 2 is more technical since we need to overcome new difficulties that bring perfect slip boundary conditions.

In Chapter 3 we showed  $L^q$  estimates up to the boundary. The proof is based on the paper [23], where the interior estimates are obtained. Here we consider different method than in Chapter 2. Instead of working directly on a general boundary, we extended a solution beyond a flat boundary and then went from the flat boundary to a general one.

In Chapter 4 we collect some known results about the classical Stokes operator which allow us to get an  $L^q$  theory result using the semigroup approach and interpolation-extrapolation scales. These results together with the results from Chapter 2 were applied in Chapter 5 to show Hölder continuity of solutions to the evolutionary generalized Navier-Stokes equations in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

Finally, let us mention some open problems which were mentioned only marginally or remained unsolved in spite of several attempts.

In particular, all the results obtained for perfect slip boundary conditions would be more interesting in case of Navier's slip boundary conditions that are from the point of application more useful. Although some parts of the proofs can be generalized easily, some technical steps relies on the structure of the perfect slip boundary conditions. Up to now, we don't know how to overcome these difficulties.

Results of Chapters 2 and 3 can be considered as a starting point in achieving *BMO* estimates for generalized Stokes system. In [24] *BMO* estimates for p-Laplace operator were obtained. These results were later extended in [25] for generalized Stokes system in the interior of  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ . Keeping at our disposal results from Chapters 2 and 3, we could try to extend these result up to the boundary for perfect slip boundary conditions. The question of Hölder continuity of velocity gradients and pressure in case of evolutionary planar flow would be interesting from the point of application in case of shear thinning fluids, i.e. the case  $p \leq 2$ .

Also for Dirichlet boundary conditions there is still space for new results. For instance optimal regularity for generalized stationary Stokes problem (Chapter 2) would allow us to cover the case  $p \in [4, \infty)$  in case of Hölder continuity of velocity gradients and pressure.

# Арреndix

## A.1 Description of the boundary and differences

In the following we use the notation  $x = (x', x_n)$ . Suppose<sup>1</sup> that  $\Omega \in \mathcal{C}^3$ , therefore there exists  $c_0 > 0$  such that for all  $a_0 > 0$  there exists  $n_0$  points  $P \in \partial\Omega$ ,  $R_0 > 0$ and open smooth set  $\Omega_0 \subset \subset \Omega$  that we have

$$\Omega \subset \Omega_0 \cup \bigcup_P B_{\frac{R_0}{4}}(P)$$

and for each point  $P \in \partial \Omega$  there exists local system of coordinates for which P = 0 and the boundary  $\partial \Omega$  is locally described by  $\mathcal{C}^3$  mapping  $a_P$  that for  $x' \in (-R_0, R_0)$  and  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$  fulfils

$$x \in \partial\Omega \Leftrightarrow x_n = a_P(x'),$$
  

$$\Omega_{R_0}^P := B_{R_0}(P) \cap \Omega = \{ (x', x_n) \in B_{R_0}(P) \text{ and } x_n > a_P(x') \},$$
  

$$\partial_{\alpha} a_P(0) = 0, \quad |\partial_{\alpha} a_P(x')| \le a_0, \quad |\partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} a_P(x')| + |\partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} \partial_{\gamma} a_P(x')| \le c_0. \quad (A.1)$$

Points P can be divided into k groups such that in each group  $\Omega_{R_0}^P$  are disjoint and k depends only on dimension n. By  $\nabla a_P(x')$  we denote the vector  $(\partial_1 a_P, \ldots, \partial_{n-1} a_P, 0)$ .

Let the cut-off function  $\xi_P(x) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(B_{R_0}(P))$  be defined via

$$\xi_P(x) \begin{cases} = 1 & x \in B_{\frac{R_0}{4}}(P), \\ \in (0,1) & x \in B_{\frac{R_0}{2}}(P) \setminus B_{\frac{R_0}{4}}(P), \\ = 0 & x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_{\frac{R_0}{2}}(P). \end{cases}$$

Let us fix P and drop for simplicity the index P. Next, assume that we work in the coordinate system anchored at P, i.e. P = 0. The tangent vector in the  $\alpha$  direction and the outer normal vector to  $\partial\Omega$  are defined as

$$\tau^{\alpha} = (0, \dots, 0, 1, 0, \dots, 0, \partial_{\alpha} a(x')), \quad \alpha = 1, \dots, n-1, \nu = (\partial_1 a(x'), \dots, \partial_{n-1} a(x'), -1),$$
(A.2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In some parts of the thesis lower regularity of the boundary is required, but the description would be analogical.

tangent and normal derivatives as

$$\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} = \partial_{\alpha} + \partial_{\alpha} a(x') \partial_{n}, \quad \alpha = 1, \dots, n-1,$$
  
$$\partial_{\nu} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \partial_{\alpha} a(x') \partial_{\alpha} - \partial_{n}.$$
 (A.3)

We need to work with  $\tau^{\alpha}$ ,  $\nu$ ,  $\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}$  and  $\partial_{\nu}$  not only on  $\partial\Omega$ , but on the whole  $\Omega_{R_0}$ . We can notice that (A.2) and (A.3) actually define  $\tau^{\alpha}$ ,  $\nu$ ,  $\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}$  and  $\partial_{\nu}$  on  $\Omega_{R_0}$ . Next, we assume that u is sufficiently smooth. It is easy to see, that  $\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}(u \cdot \nu) = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ .

**Remark A.1.1** There arises no boundary term from the tangent integration by parts, because if supp  $g \subset B_{\frac{R_0}{2}}$  or supp  $f \subset B_{\frac{R_0}{2}}$  then

$$\int_{\Omega} (\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} f) g \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} (\nabla f) \tau^{\alpha} g \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\Omega} f \nabla(\tau^{\alpha} g) + \int_{\partial\Omega} f \tau^{\alpha} g \nu \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= -\int_{\Omega} f (\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}} g + g \nabla \tau^{\alpha}) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Let  $e^{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha = 1, \ldots, n-1$  be the basis of the coordinate system in  $\mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ . For  $h \in (0, \frac{R_0}{2})$  we define the mapping  $T_{\alpha} : \Omega_{\frac{R_0}{2}} \mapsto \Omega_{R_0}$ :

$$T_{\alpha}: x \mapsto (x' + he^{\alpha}, x_n + a(x' + he^{\alpha}) - a(x')) = (y', y_n).$$
 (A.4)

Then the inverse mapping  $T_{\alpha}^{-1}$  is given by

$$T_{\alpha}^{-1}: y \mapsto (y' - he^{\alpha}, y_n + a(y' - he^{\alpha}) - a(y')) = (x', x_n).$$

One easily checks that both matrices  $(\partial_j(T_\alpha)_i(x))_{i,j=1}^n$  and  $(\partial_j(T_\alpha)_i^{-1}(y))_{i,j=1}^n$  have determinant equal to 1. Put

$$\delta^+_{\alpha}g(x) := g(T_{\alpha}x) - g(x),$$
  
$$\delta^-_{\alpha}g(x) := g(x) - g(T_{\alpha}^{-1}x).$$

For the tangential derivative of any vector function g holds in  $x \in \Omega_{\frac{R_0}{2}}$ 

$$\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}g(x) = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{\delta^+_{\alpha}g(x)}{h}.$$

The following lemma describes the relation between difference and gradient, respectively difference and the tangential derivative.

**Lemma A.1.2** [68, Section 3, 3.17-3.20] Let p > 1. Then for all  $g \in W^{1,p}_{\nu}(\Omega)^n$  it holds

$$\int_{\Omega_{\frac{R_0}{2}}} \left| \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^+ g}{h} \right|^p \mathrm{d}x \le c(a) \|\nabla g\|_p^p. \tag{A.5}$$

If  $g \in L^p(\Omega)$  and if for all  $h \in (0, \frac{R_0}{2})$  holds

$$\int_{\Omega_{\frac{R_0}{2}}} \left| \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^+ g}{h} \right|^p \mathrm{d}x \le C,\tag{A.6}$$

then  $\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}g$  exists in the sense of distribution

$$\int_{\Omega_{\frac{R_0}{2}}} |\partial_{\tau^{\alpha}}g|^p \,\mathrm{d}x \le C. \tag{A.7}$$

**Lemma A.1.3** [12, Lemma 2.1] Let supp  $u \subset \text{supp } \xi$ . Then

$$D(u(T_{\alpha}x)) = (D(u))(T_{\alpha}x) + (\partial_n u)(T_{\alpha}x) \otimes_S \delta_{\alpha}^+ \nabla a,$$

by the symbol  $u \otimes_S \nu$  we understand  $\frac{1}{2}(u \otimes \nu + (u \otimes \nu)^T)$ .

**Lemma A.1.4** Let a(x') be a  $C^3$  mapping locally describing  $\partial\Omega$  and  $x' \in \left(-\frac{R_0}{2}, \frac{R_0}{2}\right)$ . Then there exists  $C_n$  such that for all  $h \in \left(0, \frac{R_0}{2}\right)$  it holds:

$$\|a(x')\|_{3,\infty} + \left\|\frac{\delta_{\alpha}^{\pm}a(x')}{h}\right\|_{2,\infty} \le C_n,$$

*Proof.* Clear from (A.5) and properties of the function a(x').

### A.2 N-functions

In this section we focus on some basic properties of N-functions.

**Definition A.2.1** A real function  $\Phi : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+$  is called N-function if the derivative  $\Phi'(s)$  exists and is right continuous for  $s \ge 0$ , positive for s > 0, non-decreasing,  $\Phi'(0) = 0$  and  $\lim_{s\to\infty} \Phi'(s) = \infty$ .

**Definition A.2.2** N-function  $\Phi$  is said to satisfy the  $\Delta_2$ -condition, denoted  $\Phi \in \Delta_2$ , if there exists a positive constant C, such that  $\Phi(2s) \leq C\Phi(s)$  for s > 0. By  $\Delta_2(\Phi)$  we denote the smallest such constant C.

By  $(\Phi')^{-1} : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+$  we denote the function

$$(\Phi')^{-1}(s) := \sup\{t \in \mathbb{R}^+ : \Phi'(t) \le s\}.$$

The complementary function of  $\Phi$  is defined as

$$\Phi^*(s) := \int_0^s (\Phi')^{-1}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

It is again an N-function and for all  $\delta > 0$  there exists  $c(\delta) > 0$  such that for all  $s, t \ge 0$  holds so called Young's inequality

$$st \le \delta \Phi(s) + c(\delta)\Phi^*(t).$$
 (A.8)

For a measurable function f we can define gauge norm as

$$||f||_{\Phi} := \inf \left\{ \lambda > 0 : \int_{\Omega} \Phi\left(\frac{|f(x)|}{\lambda}\right) \mathrm{d}x \le 1 \right\}.$$

The Orlicz space  $L^{\Phi}(\Omega)$  is defined as the set  $\{f : ||f||_{\Phi,\Omega} < \infty\}$ .<sup>2</sup> Let  $f \in L^{\Phi}(\Omega), g \in L^{\Phi^*}(\Omega)$ . Then  $fg \in L^1(\Omega)$  and

$$\int_{\Omega} |fg| \, \mathrm{d}x \le 2 \|f\|_{\Phi} \|g\|_{\Phi^*}$$

In particular, for  $f = \chi_{\Omega}$  where  $\chi_{\Omega}$  is the characteristic function of  $\Omega$ 

$$\int_{\Omega} |g| \, \mathrm{d}x \le \frac{2}{\Phi^{-1}(|\Omega|^{-1})} \|g\|_{\Phi^*}.$$
(A.9)

It holds

$$\Phi^*(\Phi'(s)) \sim \Phi(s). \tag{A.10}$$

**Lemma A.2.3** [80, Section 2.3, Corollary 5]. If  $\Phi \in \Delta_2$  is an N-function, then  $\Phi(s) \leq Cs^{\alpha}$ ,  $s > s_0$  for some C > 0 and  $\alpha > 1$ . Its complementary function  $\Phi^*$  satisfies  $\Phi^*(t) \geq C't^{\beta}$ ,  $t > t_0 > 0$  for some C' > 0 and  $\beta > 1$ .

For  $a \geq 0$  we define shifted N-function  $\Phi_a$  by

$$\Phi'_a(s) := \Phi'(a+s)\frac{s}{a+s}.$$
(A.11)

This basically states that  $c\Phi_a''(s) \leq \Phi''(a+s) \leq C\Phi_a''(s)$  for some C, c > 0. Moreover,  $\Phi_a \in \Delta_2$  and  $\Phi_a^* \in \Delta_2$  uniformly in a, see [22, Appendix].

**Lemma A.2.4** (Shift change) [26, Lemma 5.15] Let  $\Phi$  fulfils Assumption 3.1.1. Then for any  $\delta > 0$  there exists  $c(\delta) > 1$  such that for all  $A, B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  and  $s \ge 0$ 

$$\Phi_{|A|}(s) \le c(\delta)\Phi_{|B|}(s) + \delta|V(A) - V(B)|^2.$$
(A.12)

**Lemma A.2.5** [22, Lemma 31] Let  $\Phi$  be an N-function with  $\Delta_2(\{\Phi^*, \Phi\}) < \infty$ . Then there exist  $\delta > 0$ , c > 0 which depend only on  $\Delta_2(\{\Phi^*, \Phi\})$  such that for all t > 0 and all  $s \in [0, 1]$ 

$$\Phi_a(st) \le cs^{1+\delta}\Phi_a(t)$$

**Lemma A.2.6** [23, Lemma 2.4] Let  $\Phi$  satisfy Assumption 3.1.1 and V be defined as in (5.38). Then for all  $P, Q \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  we have

$$(A(P) - A(Q)) : (P - Q) \sim |V(P) - V(Q)|^2 \sim \Phi_{|P|}(|P - Q|) \sim \Phi''(|P| + |Q|)|P - Q|^2$$

and

$$|A(P) - A(Q)| \le C\Phi_{|P|}(|P - Q|).$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In our case  $\Phi$  always fulfils  $\Delta_2$ -condition, therefore the following sets coincide:  $\{f; \exists \lambda > 0: \int_{\Omega} \Phi\left(\frac{|f(x)|}{\lambda}\right) \mathrm{d}x < \infty\}, \{f; \forall \lambda > 0: \int_{\Omega} \Phi\left(\frac{|f(x)|}{\lambda}\right) \mathrm{d}x < \infty\}, \{f; \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|f|) \mathrm{d}x < \infty\}.$ 

By Q we denote a cube in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with center  $x_0$ , sides parallel to the axis and one side equal to 2R, i.e.

$$Q = Q(x_0, R) = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n; \sup_i |x_i - (x_0)_i| < R \right\}.$$

For s > 0 the abbreviation sQ stands a cube with the same center as Q and one side 2sR, i.e.  $sQ = Q(x_0, sR)$ . By |Q| we mean the volume of Q. For  $f \in L^1(Q)$  we define

$$\langle f \rangle_Q = \oint_Q f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x := \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

**Lemma A.2.7** [23, Lemma 2.7] For all  $A \in L^{\Phi}(Q)^{n \times n}$  it holds

$$\int_{Q} |V(A) - V(\langle A \rangle_{Q})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \sim \int_{Q} |V(A) - \langle V(A) \rangle_{Q}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

**Lemma A.2.8** (Sobolev - Poincaré) [22, Lemma 7] Let  $\Phi$  be an N-function,  $\Delta_2(\{\Phi^*, \Phi\}) < \infty$ . Then there exist  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  and c > 0 such that the following holds. If  $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is some cube and  $f \in W^{1,\Phi}(Q)$ , then<sup>3</sup>

$$\oint_{Q} \Phi\left(\frac{|f - \langle f \rangle_{Q}|}{\operatorname{diam} Q}\right) \, \mathrm{d}x \le c \left(\oint_{Q} \Phi^{\theta}(|\nabla f|) \, \mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{\theta}}.$$
(A.13)

## A.3 Bogovskiĭ-type lemmata

**Lemma A.3.1** (Bogovskii's Lemma for Sobolev spaces) [5, Lemma 3.3, Corollary 3.4] Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded  $\mathcal{C}^{0,1}$  domain. Let  $r \in (1, \infty)$  and  $g \in W^{1,r}(\Omega)^n$ fulfils the compatibility condition

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} g \cdot \nu \, \mathrm{d}x = 0.$$

Then there exists  $u \in W_0^{1,r}(\Omega)^n$  solving

$$\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} g \quad in \ \Omega,$$
$$u = 0 \quad on \ \partial\Omega.$$

Moreover, there exists C > 0 such that

$$\|u\|_r \le C \|g\|_r.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>If we have a cube Q with one side equal to 2R, the general definition diam  $Q = \sup\{|x - y|, x, y \in Q\}$  leads to diam  $R = 2\sqrt{nR}$ .

**Lemma A.3.2** (Bogovskii's Lemma for Orlicz spaces, case 1) Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded  $\mathcal{C}^{0,1}$  domain. Let  $\Phi$  be N-function with  $\Phi \in \Delta_2$  and  $\Phi^* \in \Delta_2$ ,  $g \in L_0^{\Phi}(\Omega) := \{g \in L^{\Phi}(\Omega); \int_{\Omega} g \, \mathrm{d}x = 0\}$ . Then there exists  $z \in W_0^{1,\Phi}(\Omega)^n$ solving

$$\operatorname{div} z = g \quad in \ \Omega, \tag{A.14}$$

$$z = 0 \quad on \ \partial\Omega. \tag{A.15}$$

Moreover, there exists C > 0 depending only on  $\Delta_2(\Phi)$  and  $\Delta_2(\Phi^*)$  such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|z|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla z|) \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|g|) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Let  $\Omega \in \mathcal{C}^{1,1}$ . There is a constant C > 0 depending only on  $\Delta_2(\{\Phi, \Phi^*\})$  such that if additionally  $g \in W^{1,\Phi}(\Omega)$ , then there is a solution  $z \in W^{2,\Phi}(\Omega)^n \cap W_0^{1,\Phi}(\Omega)^n$  solving (A.17), (A.18) and the following estimate holds

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2} \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla^{j} z|) \,\mathrm{d}x \le C \sum_{j=0}^{1} \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla^{j} g|) \,\mathrm{d}x. \tag{A.16}$$

If, moreover, for some r > 0, supp  $g \subset \overline{\Omega_r}$ , we can assume that supp  $z \subset \overline{\Omega_{2r}}$ .

*Proof.* The first part of the theorem follows from [27, Theorem 6.6]. Now we proceed to the situation when  $g \in W^{1,\Phi}(\Omega)^n$ . It consist of 5 steps.

#### Step 1

We notice that from the fact that  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi^*$  satisfy  $\Delta_2$  condition follows the existence of  $1 such that <math>\Phi(t) = t^p h(t^{q-p})$  and h is pseudoconcave, i.e. there is a C > 0 such that  $h(\lambda t) \leq C \max(1, \lambda)h(t)$ , c.f. [75, Section 5]. Constants p and q are determined by  $\Delta_2(\{\Phi, \Phi^*\})$ .

According to [75, Section 5] a bounded linear operator  $T \in \mathcal{L}(L^p(\Omega), L^p(\Omega)) \cap \mathcal{L}(L^q(\Omega), L^q(\Omega))$  with norm bounded by M > 0 belongs to  $\mathcal{L}(L^{\Phi}(\Omega), L^{\Phi}(\Omega))$  and there is a C > 0 depending only on p and q such that the following modular estimate holds:

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi\left(\frac{|Tg|}{M}\right) \mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|g|) \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

The proof of this estimate is based on *L*-functional and can be directly repeated also for  $T \in \mathcal{L}(L^p(\Omega)^{n+1}, L^p(\Omega)) \cap \mathcal{L}(L^q(\Omega)^{n+1}, L^q(\Omega))$ . The corresponding estimate then looks as follows

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi\left(\frac{|Tg|}{M}\right) \mathrm{d}x \le C \sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|g_k|) \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

#### Step 2

Now, we define the canonical linear isometry of Sobolev spaces

$$\mathcal{J}: W^{1,r}(\Omega) \to L^r(\Omega)^{n+1}, \quad \mathcal{J}g = (g, \partial_1 g, \dots, \partial_n g).$$

If  $\Omega \in \mathcal{C}^{1,1}$  the subspace  $\mathcal{J}(W^{1,r}(\Omega))$  of  $L^r(\Omega)^{n+1}$  is closed and complemented. This is equivalent to the continuity of the solution operator for the problem

$$-\Delta u + u = f + \operatorname{div} F \quad \text{in } \Omega$$

with homogeneous Neumann boundary condition from  $L^r(\Omega)^{n+1}$  to  $W^{1,r}(\Omega)$ . The result can be found for  $r \ge 2$  in [86, Theorem 3.16], for r < 2 it follows by the duality argument. The required projection is then the solution operator.

The subspace  $W^{1,r}(\Omega) \cap L_0^r(\Omega)$  is complemented in  $W^{1,r}(\Omega)$ . The projection is defined as  $P(g) = g - \int_{\Omega} g \, dx$  and it is continuous by embedding theorem. Consequently, there is a projection  $Q: L^r(\Omega)^{n+1} \xrightarrow{onto} \mathcal{J}(W^{1,r}(\Omega) \cap L_0^r(\Omega))$  which is continuous for all r > 1, Q is independent of r.

#### Step 3

In [5, Corollary 3.8] it is possible to find that the problem (A.17), (A.18) is solvable if  $g \in W^{1,r}(\Omega) \cap L_0^r(\Omega)$  for r > 1. In fact analyzing the proof itself it is possible to construct a continuous solution operator  $R: W^{1,r}(\Omega) \cap L_0^r(\Omega) \to W^{2,r}(\Omega)^n \cap W_0^{1,r}(\Omega)^n$ . This operator is independent of r > 1.

#### Step 4

Next, we identify  $W^{1,r}(\Omega) \cap L_0^r(\Omega)$  with  $\mathcal{J}(W^{1,r}(\Omega) \cap L_0^r(\Omega))$  and fix  $\alpha \in (\mathbb{N} \cup \{0\})^n$  with  $|\alpha| \leq 2, k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ . We define  $S : L^r(\Omega)^{n+1} \to L^r(\Omega)$  by  $S(G) = D^{\alpha}[R_k \circ \mathcal{J}_{-1} \circ P(G)]$ . This mapping is continuous for any r > 1 by Step 2 and Step 3. It is possible to interpolate it by Step 1. Restricting the operator S to  $\mathcal{J}(W^{1,\Phi}(\Omega) \cap L_0^{\Phi}(\Omega))$  and defining  $g = \mathcal{J}_{-1}(G)$  we obtain for  $g \in W^{1,\Phi}(\Omega) \cap L_0^{\Phi}(\Omega)$  the modular estimate

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|D^{\alpha}[R_k(g)]|) \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \Big( \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|g|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \sum_{k=1}^n \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\partial_k g|) \, \mathrm{d}x \Big).$$

Since  $\alpha$  was arbitrary, the estimate (A.16) follows by properties of  $\Phi$ .

#### Step 5

It remains to find z with supp  $z \subset \overline{\Omega_{2r}}$  for g with supp  $g \subset \overline{\Omega_r}$ . We find a solution to (A.17) and (A.18), take a smooth cut-off function  $\eta$  such that  $\chi_{\Omega_r} \leq \eta \leq \chi_{\Omega_{2r}}$ . Compute  $\operatorname{div}(z\eta) = (\operatorname{div} z)\eta + z \cdot \nabla \eta = g\eta + z \cdot \nabla \eta$ . It is enough to find a correction  $v \in W_0^{2,\Phi}(\Omega_{2r})^n$ , the solution of the problem  $\operatorname{div} v = z \cdot \nabla \eta$ . Since  $z \cdot \nabla \eta \in W_0^{1,\Phi}(\Omega_{2r}) \cap L_0^{\Phi}(\Omega_{2r})$ , this is possible by the same methods used to prove (A.16). The solution operator R from Step 3 satisfies  $R : W_0^{1,r}(\Omega_{2r}) \cap L_0^r(\Omega_{2r}) \to W_0^{2,r}(\Omega_{2r})^n$ , cf. [34, Theorem III.3.2].

**Lemma A.3.3** (Bogovskii's Lemma for Orlicz spaces, case 2) Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a rectangle. Let  $\Phi$  be an N-function with  $\Delta_2(\{\Phi^*, \Phi\}) < \infty$ ,  $g \in L^{\Phi}(\Omega)$ ,  $h \in W^{1,\Phi}(\Omega)^n$  and  $\Gamma$  be one side of  $\Omega$ . Then there exists a linear mapping  $B : (g,h) \to z$ , where  $z \in W^{1,\Phi}(\Omega)^n$  solves

$$\operatorname{div} z = g \quad in \ \Omega, \tag{A.17}$$

$$z \cdot \nu = h \cdot \nu \quad on \ \Gamma, \tag{A.18}$$

Moreover,

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla z|) \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \left( \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|g|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla h|) \, \mathrm{d}x \right), \tag{A.19}$$

where the positive constant C depends only on  $\Delta_2(\{\Phi, \Phi^*\})$ .

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $\Gamma$  is a part of a hyperplane  $\{x; x_n = 0\}$ . It is enough to consider equation

$$\operatorname{div} \tilde{z} = g - \operatorname{div} h - \int_{\Omega} (g - \operatorname{div} h) \, \mathrm{d}x \text{ in } \Omega,$$
  
$$\tilde{z} = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega.$$

Furthermore, we define an affine function  $b: \Omega \mapsto \mathbb{R}^3$  as follows

$$b_i(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } i \in \{1, \dots, n-1\} \text{ and } x \in \Omega, \\ 0 & \text{for } i = n \text{ and } x \in \Gamma, \\ x_n \oint_\Omega (g - \operatorname{div} h) \, \mathrm{d}x & \text{for } i = n \text{ and } x \in \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Then  $z = \tilde{z} + h + b$  solves (A.17) and (A.18). According to [27, Theorem 6.6] there exists a positive constant c independent of diam $\Omega$  such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla \tilde{z}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \le c \int_{\Omega} \Phi\left( \left| g - \operatorname{div} h - f_{\Omega}(g - \operatorname{div} h) \, \mathrm{d}x \right| \right) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

The estimate (A.19) follows easily.

## A.4 Korn-type Inequalities

**Lemma A.4.1** [68, Lemma 6.5] Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a  $\mathcal{C}^1$  domain,  $u \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)^n$  and  $\xi \in \mathcal{D}(\Omega)$ . Then there are positive constants  $C_3$  and  $C_4$  such that

$$C_3 \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \le \int_{\Omega} |Du|^2 \xi^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + C_4 \int_{\Omega} |u|^2 (|\nabla \xi|^2 + \xi^2) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

**Lemma A.4.2** (Korn's inequality for Orlicz spaces, case 1) Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded non-axisymmetric  $\mathcal{C}^{0,1}$  domain. Let  $\Phi$  be N-function with  $\Delta_2(\{\Phi^*, \Phi\}) < \infty$ . Then for all  $u \in W^{1,\Phi}_{\nu}(\Omega)^n$  it holds that

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|u|) \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla u|) \,\mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|Du|) \,\mathrm{d}x, \tag{A.20}$$

where  $C = C(\Omega, \Delta_2(\{\Phi^*, \Phi\})).$ 

For the proof of this version of Korn's inequality two propositions will be needed.

**Proposition A.4.3** Let  $q \in (1, 1 + \varepsilon)$  for some suitably small  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Then function h(s) defined as  $h(s) := \Phi(s^{\frac{1}{q}})$  is convex.

Proof.

$$h''(s) = \left(\Phi'(s^{\frac{1}{q}})\frac{1}{q}s^{\frac{1}{q}-1}\right)' = \Phi''(s^{\frac{1}{q}})\left(\frac{1}{q}s^{\frac{1}{q}-1}\right)^2 + \Phi'(s^{\frac{1}{q}})\frac{1}{q}\left(\frac{1}{q}-1\right)s^{\frac{1}{q}-2}$$
  
$$\geq C\Phi''(s^{\frac{1}{q}})\left(s^{\frac{1}{q}-1}\right)^2\frac{1}{q}\left(\frac{2}{q}-1\right) > 0,$$

where we used  $\Phi''(s^{\frac{1}{q}})s^{\frac{1}{q}} \leq C\Phi'(s^{\frac{1}{q}}).$ 

**Proposition A.4.4** [34, Exercise 4.5] Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded  $C^1$  domain,  $u \in W^{1,q}(\Omega)$ ,  $1 \leq q < \infty$  and  $u \cdot \nu = 0$  at  $\partial \Omega$ . Then

 $||u||_q \le C ||\nabla u||_q, \quad C \le \delta(\Omega)(|q-2|+n+1).$ 

Proof of Lemma A.4.2. Using Korn's inequality [27, Theorem 6.13], which tells us

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla u - \langle \nabla u \rangle|) \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|Du - \langle Du \rangle|) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|Du - \langle Du \rangle|) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

and convexity of  $\Phi$  we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla u|) \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\nabla u - \langle \nabla u \rangle|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\langle \nabla u \rangle|) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\leq C \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|Du - \langle Du \rangle|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\langle \nabla u \rangle|) \, \mathrm{d}x \qquad (A.21)$$
$$\leq C \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|Du|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\langle \nabla u \rangle|) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

We also used convexity of  $\Phi$ ,  $\Delta_2$ -condition and Jensen's inequality in the last estimate in (A.21). It remains to estimate the last term in (A.21).

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\langle \nabla u \rangle|) \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \int_{\Omega} \Phi\left(\frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u| \, \mathrm{d}x\right) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\leq C(\Omega, \Delta_2(\Phi)) \int_{\Omega} \Phi\left(\left[\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^q \, \mathrm{d}x\right]^{\frac{1}{q}}\right) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\leq C \int_{\Omega} \Phi\left(\left[\int_{\Omega} |Du|^q \, \mathrm{d}x\right]^{\frac{1}{q}}\right) \, \mathrm{d}x =: \mathcal{J},$$

where we used Hölder's inequality,  $\Delta_2$ -condition and Korn's inequality for Lebesgue spaces (see cf. [43] and [44]).

To estimate the term  $\mathcal{J}$  we use the definition of the function h(s), Jensen's inequality and the fact, that  $h(t^q) = \Phi(t)$  and therefore  $t = \Phi[h_{-1}^{\frac{1}{q}}(t)]$ , which follows from implication below

$$t = \Phi \Phi_{-1}(t) = h(\Phi_{-1}^{q}(t)) \Rightarrow h_{-1}(t) = \Phi_{-1}^{q}(t) \Rightarrow \Phi[h_{-1}^{\frac{1}{q}}(t)] = t.$$

Thus,

$$\mathcal{J} = C \int_{\Omega} \Phi\left(\left[h_{-1}h \int_{\Omega} |Du|^{q} \,\mathrm{d}x\right]^{\frac{1}{q}}\right) \mathrm{d}x$$
  
$$\leq C \int_{\Omega} \Phi\left(\left[h_{-1}\left(\int_{\Omega} h(|Du|^{q}) \,\mathrm{d}x\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{q}}\right) \mathrm{d}x$$
  
$$= C \int_{\Omega} \Phi\left(\left[h_{-1}\left(\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|Du|) \,\mathrm{d}x\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{q}}\right) \mathrm{d}x$$
  
$$= C \int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|Du|) \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}x \leq C(\Omega) \int_{\Omega} \Phi(|Du|) \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

The first term on the left hand side of (A.20) can be estimated after adding and subtracting the average of u, Poincaré inequality [27, Theorem 6.5] and  $\Delta_2$ -condition. To estimate  $\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\langle u \rangle|)$  we use Proposition A.4.4 and then follow in the same way like in the estimate of  $\int_{\Omega} \Phi(|\langle \nabla u \rangle|)$ .

This version of Korn's inequality differs from more standard versions which have an additional term on the right hand side. If we considered boundary conditions u = 0 on  $\partial\Omega$ , we could admit an arbitrary shape of the domain  $\Omega$ . Only because of the boundary conditions  $u \cdot \nu = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$  the restriction on the shape of the domain  $\Omega$  is necessary. We need to know that Du = 0 a.e. in  $\Omega$  and  $u \cdot \nu = 0$ on  $\partial\Omega$  together imply u = 0 a.e. in  $\Omega$ . It holds when  $\Omega$  is not axisymmetric (see for example [43, 44] if n = 3). The constant in (A.20) could be used to quantify the deviation of  $\Omega$  from axisymmetry. In [20, Theorem 3] the authors obtained fully explicit upper bounds for the constant C in terms of the geometrical information about  $\Omega$  in the case when there is an  $L^2$ -norm instead of the modular norm in (A.20).

**Lemma A.4.5** (Korn's inequalities for Orlicz spaces, case 2) Let  $\Phi$  be an N-function with  $\Delta_2(\{\Phi, \Phi^*\}) < \infty$ . There exists a positive constant C such that for any cube  $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  and function  $u \in W^{1,\Phi}(Q)^n$  it holds that

$$\int_{Q} \Phi(|\nabla u|) \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \left( \int_{Q} \Phi(|Du|) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{Q} \Phi\left(\frac{|u|}{\operatorname{diam} Q}\right) \, \mathrm{d}x \right), \quad (A.22)$$

$$\int_{Q} \Phi_{a}(|\nabla u - \langle \nabla u \rangle_{Q}|) \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \oint_{Q} \Phi_{a}(|Du - \langle Du \rangle_{Q}|) \, \mathrm{d}x, \qquad (A.23)$$

where a is a positive constant or |Du|. Moreover, if  $u|_{\partial Q} = 0$ , it holds that

$$\int_{Q} \Phi(|\nabla u|) \,\mathrm{d}x \le c \int_{Q} \Phi(|Du|) \,\mathrm{d}x. \tag{A.24}$$

*Proof.* The inequality (A.22) follows from [27]. Namely, one should focus on Lemma 5.17, Proposition 6.1 and Theorem 6.13 given there. The inequality (A.23) for a = |Du| is proven in [23, Lemma 2.9] and in [27]. For the proof of (A.24) see Theorem 6.10 in [27].

## A.5 Miscellaneous

In the following two theorems we deal with the standard Sobolev space  $W^{m,r}(\Omega)$  defined for  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $r \in (1, \infty)$  as follows

$$W^{m,r}(\Omega) = \{ f \in L^r(\Omega); \, \forall k \in \mathbb{N}^n, \, 1 \le |k| \le m, \, \partial_k f \in L^r(\Omega) \}.$$

By  $W_0^{m,r}(\Omega)$  we mean the closure of  $\mathcal{C}_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  in  $W^{m,r}(\Omega)$ . The dual space of  $W_0^{m,r}(\Omega)$  is denoted by  $W^{-m,r'}(\Omega)$ , and this extends the definition of  $W^{m,r}(\Omega)$  to all negative integer values of m.

**Theorem A.5.1** (Nečas' theorem on negative norms) [5, Theorem 2.3] Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded  $\mathcal{C}^{0,1}$  domain,  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $r \in (1, \infty)$ . Then there exists a positive constant C depending only on  $\Omega$ , m and r such that for all  $f \in W^{m,r}(\Omega)^n$  it holds

 $||f||_{m,r} \le C (||\nabla f||_{m-1,r} + ||f||_{m-1,r}).$ 

**Theorem A.5.2** (De Rham-type theorem) [5, Theorem 2.8] Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bounded  $\mathcal{C}^{0,1}$  domain, m a non-negative integer, and  $r \in (1,\infty)$ . Let  $f \in W^{-m,r}(\Omega)^n$  satisfy

$$\langle f, \varphi \rangle = 0, \quad \forall \varphi \in \mathcal{C}_0^\infty(\Omega)^n \text{ with } \operatorname{div} \varphi = 0.$$

Then there exists  $\pi \in W^{-m+1,r}(\Omega)$  such that  $f = \nabla \pi$ . If in addition the domain  $\Omega$  is connected, then  $\pi$  is defined uniquely, up to an additive constant, by f and there exists a positive constant C independent of f, such that the following estimate holds:

 $\|\pi - \langle \pi \rangle_{\Omega}\|_{W^{-m+1,r}(\Omega)^n} \le C \|f\|_{W^{-m,r}(\Omega)^n}.$ 

We would like to remark that classical De Rham's theorem is usually formulated for distributions, c.f. [5, Theorem 2.1]. Our version can be considered as a combination of the classical version with Nečas' theorem.

**Lemma A.5.3** (Reverse Hölder inequality) [35, Proposition V.1.1] Let  $Q_0$  be a cube in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Suppose

$$\int_{Q'} f^p \, \mathrm{d}x \le K \left( \int_{2Q'} f \, \mathrm{d}x \right)^p + \theta \int_{2Q'} f^p \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{2Q'} g^p \, \mathrm{d}x$$

holds for any  $Q' = Q(x_0, R') \subset Q_0$  with  $x_0 \in Q_0$  and  $R' < \min\{\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{dist}(x_0, \partial Q_0), R_0\}$ , where  $R_0 > 0$ , K > 1,  $\theta \in [0, 1)$  are given constants. Then there exists q > psuch that  $f \in L^q_{loc}(Q_0)$  and

$$\left(\oint_{Q} f^{q} \,\mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \leq C \left(\oint_{2Q} f^{p} \,\mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} + C \left(\oint_{2Q} g^{q} \,\mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \tag{A.25}$$

holds for  $2Q \subset Q_0$ , where side of Q is less than  $2R_0$  and  $C, \varepsilon$  are positive constants depending only on  $K, \theta, p, n$ .

For a dyadic sub-cube  $Q_k$  of Q we denote its predecessor by  $Q_k$ .

**Lemma A.5.4** Let  $\mathcal{O} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $1 \leq p < q < s < \infty$ ,  $f \in L^{q/p}(\mathcal{O})$ ,  $g \in L^{q/p}(\mathcal{O})$ and  $w \in L^p(\mathcal{O})^n$ . Further, let  $Q \subset \mathcal{O}$  be a cube and  $Q_k$  be dyadic cubes obtained from Q. Then there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  independent of Q and  $\mathcal{O}$  such that the following implication holds:

If for every dyadic sub-cube  $Q_k \subset Q$  there exists  $w_a \in L^p(4\tilde{Q}_k \cap \mathcal{O})^n$  with following properties:

$$\left(\int_{2\tilde{Q}_k\cap\mathcal{O}} |w_a|^s \,\mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{s}} \leq \frac{C}{2} \left(\int_{4\tilde{Q}_k\cap\mathcal{O}} |w_a|^p \,\mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{p}},\tag{A.26}$$

$$\int_{4\tilde{Q}_k\cap\mathcal{O}} |w_a|^p \,\mathrm{d}x \leq C f_{4\tilde{Q}_k\cap\mathcal{O}} |w|^p \,\mathrm{d}x + C f_{4\tilde{Q}_k\cap\mathcal{O}} |g| \,\mathrm{d}x, \qquad (A.27)$$

$$\int_{4\tilde{Q}_k\cap\mathcal{O}} |w - w_a|^p \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \varepsilon f_{4\tilde{Q}_k\cap\mathcal{O}} |w|^p \,\mathrm{d}x + C f_{4\tilde{Q}_k\cap\mathcal{O}} |f| \,\mathrm{d}x, \qquad (A.28)$$

then  $w \in L^q(Q)^n$ . Positive constants C and  $\varepsilon$  are independent of  $Q_k$ ,  $w_a$  and w. Furthermore, there exists a positive constant c independent of f, g and w such that

$$\oint_{Q} |w|^{q} \,\mathrm{d}x \le c \left( \oint_{4Q\cap\mathcal{O}} |f|^{\frac{q}{p}} \,\mathrm{d}x + \oint_{4Q\cap\mathcal{O}} |g|^{\frac{q}{p}} \,\mathrm{d}x + \left( \oint_{4Q\cap\mathcal{O}} |w|^{p} \,\mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{q}{p}} \right).$$
(A.29)

The proof itself is based on nonlinear Calderón–Zygmund theory and the considerations presented in [18]. L. A. Caffarelli and I. Peral proved Lemma A.5.4 in [18, Theorem A] in case f, g = 0. This lemma was later used by L. Diening and P. Kaplický in [23] for  $f \neq 0$ , however, authors did not provide any proof.

Throughout the proof we suppose that the functions  $w_a$ , w, f and g are extended by zero outside the domain  $\mathcal{O}$ . Since volume of  $4\tilde{Q}_k \cap \mathcal{O}$  is proportional to  $4\tilde{Q}_k$ , the estimates (A.26), (A.27) and (A.28) still hold true for slightly changed constants when we replace  $4\tilde{Q}_k \cap \mathcal{O}$  with  $4\tilde{Q}_k$  and  $2\tilde{Q}_k \cap \mathcal{O}$  with  $2\tilde{Q}_k$ .

We introduce Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator

$$M(f)(x) = \sup \left\{ \oint_{P} |f(y)| \, \mathrm{d}y, P \subset 4Q \text{ is a cube containing } x \right.$$
  
with sides parallel to axes  $\left. \right\},$ 

which satisfies the weak type (1,1) inequality on 4Q and strong (r,r) estimate on 4Q if  $r \in (1,\infty)$ . In order to prove Lemma A.5.4 we present the following observation

**Lemma A.5.5** There exists  $K_0 > 2^{n(p+1)}$  such that for all  $K > K_0$  and for every  $\delta \in (0, 1)$  there exists  $L \in (0, \frac{K_0}{2})$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that for every  $\lambda > 0$ , for  $A = \{x \in Q, M(|w|^p) > K\lambda, M(|f|) + M(|g|) \le L\lambda\}$  and  $B = \{x \in Q, M(|w|^p) > \lambda\}$  it holds, that if (A.26), (A.27) and (A.28) hold with  $\varepsilon$ , then following implication is true

$$|Q_k \cap A| > (\delta + C_B K^{-s/p})|Q_k| \Rightarrow Q_k \subset B,$$

where  $C_B$  is a constant coming from (A.26), (A.27) and from strong type (r, r) estimate for Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator.

Proof. We proceed in a similar way like in [18]. We suppose, for contradiction, that  $|Q_k \cap A| > (\delta + C_B K^{-s/p})|Q_k|$  and it is not true that  $\tilde{Q}_k \subset B$  for  $K_0$ arbitrarily large and  $K > K_0$ ,  $\delta \in (0, 1)$  and  $\varepsilon, L$  arbitrarily small. Thus there are points  $x_0 \in \tilde{Q}_k$  and  $x_1 \in (Q_k \cap A) \subset \tilde{Q}_k$  such that

$$M(|w|^p)(x_0) \le \lambda \text{ and } M(|f|)(x_1) + M(|g|)(x_1) \le L\lambda.$$
 (A.30)

Then  $\int_{4\tilde{Q}_k} |w_a|^p dx \leq C\lambda$  due to (A.27) and (A.30). From (A.26), (A.28) and (A.30) we get

$$\int_{2\tilde{Q}_k} |w_a|^s \,\mathrm{d}x \le C' \lambda^{s/p}, \qquad \int_{4\tilde{Q}_k} |w - w_a|^p \,\mathrm{d}x \le (\varepsilon + L)C\lambda. \tag{A.31}$$

We define an operator  $M^*$  as follows:

$$M^*(f)(x) = \sup\left\{ \oint_P f(y) \, \mathrm{d}y, P \text{ is a cube containing } x, P \subset 2\tilde{Q}_k \right\}.$$
(A.32)

Due to (A.30), it holds for every  $x \in Q_k$  that  $M(|w|^p)(x) \le \max \{M^*(|w|^p), 2^n\lambda\}$ . For  $K > 2^n$  it follows that

$$M(|w|^p) > K\lambda \Rightarrow M^*(|w|^p) > K\lambda.$$
(A.33)

We use (A.31), Tchebyshev inequality and a strong type  $\left(\frac{s}{p}, \frac{s}{p}\right)$  estimate for  $M^*$  in order to obtain the following estimate

$$\left| \left\{ x \in Q_k, M^*(|w_a|^p) > \frac{K}{2^{p+1}} \lambda \right\} \right| = \left| \left\{ x \in Q_k, M^*(|w_a|^p)^{s/p} > \left(\frac{K}{2^{p+1}} \lambda\right)^{s/p} \right\} \right|$$
  
$$\leq 2^{s+s/p} (\lambda K)^{-s/p} ||w_a|^p ||_{s/p}^{s/p} = 2^{s+s/p} (\lambda K)^{-s/p} |2\tilde{Q}_k| \oint_{2\tilde{Q}_k} |w_a|^s \, \mathrm{d}x \leq C_B K^{-s/p} |Q_k|.$$
  
(A.34)

Using weak type (1, 1) estimate and (A.31), we get

$$\left| \left\{ x \in Q_k, M^*(|w - w_a|^p) > \frac{K}{2^{p+1}} \lambda, M(|f|) + M(|g|) \le L\lambda \right\} \right|$$
$$\le C \frac{2^{p+1}}{K\lambda} \int_{4\bar{Q}_k} |w - w_a|^p \, \mathrm{d}x \le C \frac{2^{p+1}}{K} \left(\varepsilon + L\right) |Q_k|. \quad (A.35)$$

Due to (A.33)

$$|\{x \in Q_k, M(|w|^p) > K\lambda, M(|f|) + M(|g|) \le L\lambda\}|$$
  
 
$$\le |\{x \in Q_k, M^*(|w|^p) > K\lambda, M(|f|) + M(|g|) \le L\lambda\}|$$

and, further, using (A.34) and (A.35)

$$\begin{split} |\{x \in Q_k, M^*(|w|^p) > K\lambda, M(|f|) + M(|g|) \le L\lambda\}| \\ &\le \left| \left\{ x \in Q_k, M^*(|w - w_a|^p) + M^*(|w_a|^p) > \frac{K}{2^p}\lambda, M(|f|) + M(|g|) \le L\lambda \right\} \right| \\ &\le \left| \left\{ x \in Q_k, M^*(|w - w_a|^p) > \frac{K}{2^{p+1}}\lambda, M(|f|) + M(|g|) \le L\lambda) \right\} \right| \\ &+ \left| \left\{ x \in Q_k, M^*(|w_a|^p) \ge \frac{K}{2^{p+1}}\lambda \right\} \right| \le C \frac{2^{p+1}}{K} (\varepsilon + L) |Q_k| + C_B K^{-s/p} |Q_k|. \end{split}$$

By a suitable choice of constants L and  $\varepsilon$  we get the contradiction with the very first assumption of this proof.

We will need the following consequence of Calderón-Zygmund decomposition proved in [18, Lemma 1.2]:

**Lemma A.5.6** Let Q be a bounded cube in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Assume that A and B are measurable sets,  $A \subset B \subset Q$  and that there exists a  $\delta > 0$  such that

(i) 
$$|A| < \delta |Q|$$
 and

(ii) for each dyadic sub-cube  $Q_k$  such that  $|A \cap Q_k| > \delta |Q_k|$ , its predecessor  $\tilde{Q}_k$  is contained in B.

Then  $|A| < \delta |B|$ .

**Corollary A.5.7** Let A and B be defined as in Lemma A.5.5. Let K > 1 be so large and  $\delta \in (0,1)$  so small, that  $K^{\frac{q}{p}}C_K < 1$  where  $C_K := (\delta + C_B K^{-\frac{s}{p}})$ , moreover, let  $\lambda_0 > 0$  be so large that

$$\frac{C_1}{\lambda_0} \int_Q |w|^p = \delta |Q|, \tag{A.36}$$

where  $C_1$  depends only on the dimension. Then for all  $\lambda > \lambda_0$  holds  $|A| < C_K |B|$ . Proof. From (A.36) follows for all  $\lambda > \lambda_0$ 

$$A \le |\{x \in Q, M(|w|^p) > K\lambda\}| \le \frac{C_1}{K\lambda} \int_Q |w|^p < \delta|Q|, \tag{A.37}$$

which provides the first assumption of Lemma A.5.6. The second one is given by Lemma A.5.5. Hence, we conclude the proof by application of Lemma A.5.6.  $\Box$ 

Proof of Lemma A.5.4. We set h = M(|f|) + M(|g|) and  $l = M(|w|^p)$ . By  $\mu_h$  we denote the distribution function of a function h:

$$\mu_h(s) = |\{x \in Q : |h(x)| > s\}|, \quad s \ge 0.$$

Suppose that constants  $K, \delta$  and  $\lambda_0$  are fixed as in Corollary A.5.7. Therefore for any  $\lambda > \lambda_0$  one may derive

$$\mu_l(K\lambda) - \mu_h(L\lambda) \le C_K \mu_l(\lambda). \tag{A.38}$$
By arguments of a measure theory it is true that  $l \in L^{q/p}(Q)$  if and only if

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} K^{k\frac{q}{p}} \mu_l(K^k \lambda) < \infty.$$

Setting  $\lambda = K^{k-1}\lambda_0$  in (A.38) we get  $\mu_l(K^k\lambda_0) \leq C_K\mu_l(K^{k-1}\lambda_0) + \mu_h(LK^{k-1}\lambda_0)$ for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Thus,

$$\mu_l(K^k \lambda_0) \le C_K^k \mu_l(\lambda_0) + \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} C_K^j \mu_h(LK^{k-1-j} \lambda_0).$$

Consequently,

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} K^{k\frac{q}{p}} \mu_l(K^k \lambda_0) \leq \mu_l(\lambda_0) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} K^{k\frac{q}{p}} C_K^k + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} K^{k\frac{q}{p}} \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} C_K^j \mu_h(LK^{k-1-j}\lambda_0)$$
$$\leq \mu_l(\lambda_0) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left( K^{q/p} C_K \right)^k + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} K^{k\frac{q}{p}} \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} C_K^j \mu_h(LK^{k-1-j}\lambda_0). \quad (A.39)$$

We point out that  $\delta$  and K were chosen in order to  $K^{q/p}C_K < 1$ . Thus,

$$\mu_l(\lambda_0) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left( K^{q/p} C_K \right)^k < \infty.$$

It holds that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} K^{k\frac{q}{p}} \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} C_{K}^{j} \mu_{h}(LK^{k-1-j}\lambda_{0}) &= \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} C_{K}^{j} \sum_{k=j+1}^{\infty} K^{k\frac{q}{p}} \mu_{h}(LK^{k-1-j}\lambda_{0}) \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mu_{h}(LK^{j}\lambda_{0}) \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (K^{\frac{q}{p}})^{j+i+1} C_{K}^{i} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (K^{q/p})^{j} \mu_{h}(LK^{j}\lambda_{0}) K^{\frac{q}{p}} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (K^{q/p}C_{K})^{i} \\ &= \frac{K^{q/p}}{1 - K^{q/p}C_{K}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (K^{q/p})^{j} \mu_{h}(K^{j}L\lambda_{0}) < \infty, \end{split}$$

provided  $h \in L^{\frac{q}{p}}(Q)$ . Thus from (A.39) we have  $l \in L^{\frac{q}{p}}(Q)$  and, consequently,  $w \in L^{q}(Q)^{n}$ .

Further,

$$\int_{Q} |w|^{q} dx = \int_{Q} (|w|^{p})^{q/p} dx \leq \int_{Q} (M(|w|^{p}))^{q/p} dx = \int_{0}^{\infty} \underbrace{\frac{q}{p} t^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \mu_{l}(t)}_{=:\nu(t)} dt$$
$$= \int_{0}^{K\lambda_{0}} \nu(t) dt + \int_{K\lambda_{0}}^{\infty} \nu(t) dt = \mathcal{J}_{1} + \mathcal{J}_{2}. \quad (A.40)$$

To estimate  $\mathcal{J}_1$  we use weak 1-1 inequality for  $|w|^p$ . We get

$$\mathcal{J}_{1} = \int_{0}^{K\lambda_{0}} \frac{q}{p} t^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \mu_{l}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \le C \int_{0}^{K\lambda_{0}} \frac{q}{p} t^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \frac{1}{t} \int_{4Q} |w|^{p} \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t \le C\lambda_{0}^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \int_{4Q} |w|^{p} \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

In  $\mathcal{J}_2$  we use the substitution t = Ks at first, further we increase the domain of integration and apply (A.38).

$$\mathcal{J}_{2} = \int_{\lambda_{0}}^{\infty} \frac{q}{p} (Ks)^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \mu_{l}(Ks) K \, \mathrm{d}s \le K^{\frac{q}{p}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{q}{p} s^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \left( C_{K} \mu_{l}(s) + \mu_{h}(Ls) \right) \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$\le K^{\frac{q}{p}} C_{K} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{q}{p} s^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \mu_{l}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + C \int_{Q} \left( M(f)^{\frac{q}{p}} + M(g)^{\frac{q}{p}} \right) \, \mathrm{d}x. \quad (A.41)$$

The first term on the right hand side of (A.41) can be subsumed in the term  $\int_0^\infty \nu(t) dt$  in (A.40), because  $K^{\frac{q}{p}}C_K < 1$ . We put estimates of  $\mathcal{J}_1$  and  $\mathcal{J}_2$  into (A.40) and, after application of a strong-type  $\left(\frac{q}{p}, \frac{q}{p}\right)$  estimate for the maximal operator, we get

$$\int_{Q} |w|^{q} \,\mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{4Q} \left( |f|^{\frac{q}{p}} + |g|^{\frac{q}{p}} \right) \,\mathrm{d}x + C\lambda_{0}^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \int_{4Q} |w|^{p} \,\mathrm{d}x, \tag{A.42}$$

From (A.37) we know that  $\lambda_0 = \frac{C}{\delta} f_Q |w|^p dx$ . Dividing (A.42) by |Q| leads to

$$\oint_{Q} |w|^{q} \,\mathrm{d}x \leq C \left( \oint_{4Q} |f|^{\frac{q}{p}} \,\mathrm{d}x + \oint_{4Q} |g|^{\frac{q}{p}} \,\mathrm{d}x + \left( \oint_{4Q} |w|^{p} \,\mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{q}{p}} \right),$$

which concludes the proof.

We would like to apply the Calderón-Zygmund theory not only on cubes, but on a image of diadic subdivision of Q under sufficiently regular mapping T. Therefore we formulate following corollary.

**Corollary A.5.8** Let  $Q \subset \mathcal{O}$  be a cube and  $Q_k$  diadic subcubes obtained from Q. Let  $T: Q \to \mathbb{R}^n$  be a bi-Lipschitz mapping and let assumptions of Lemma A.5.4 hold on  $T(4\tilde{Q}_k \cap \mathcal{O})$ , resp.  $T(2\tilde{Q}_k \cap \mathcal{O})$  instead of  $4\tilde{Q}_k \cap \mathcal{O}$ , resp.  $2\tilde{Q}_k \cap \mathcal{O}$ . Then the claim of Lemma A.5.4 holds for T(Q), resp.  $T(4Q \cap \mathcal{O})$ .

*Proof.* The corollary follows easily from the substitution y = Tx and properties of the mapping T.

## List of Notations

bounded domain
derivative in tangent direction
derivative in normal direction
difference quotient in space
difference quotient in time
symmetric part of the gradient, i.e. $Df = \frac{1}{2} [\nabla f + (\nabla f)^{\top}] \dots 9$
mapping locally describing the boundary $\partial \Omega \dots 87$
cut-off function
cube in $\mathbb{R}^n$ with sides parallel to the axis
avarage integral over $Q$
avarage integral over $Q$
boundary of the domain $\Omega$
extra stress tensor
regularized extra stress tensor with scalar potential $\Phi^{\varepsilon} \dots 25$
generalized viscosity
truncated generalized viscosity25
N-function, scalar potential to $\mathcal{S}$
complementary function of $\Phi$
N-function $\Phi$ satisfying delta two condition
the smallest constant such that $\Phi$ satisfies $\Delta_2$ -condition89

V	function expressing differentiability properties with a scalar potential $\Psi$
Р	Helmholtz projection
$B_r(x_0)$	ball with the diameter $r$ and the center at $x_0 \ldots \ldots 87$
A	Stokes operator
M(f)(x)	Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator
$M^*(f)(x)$	restricted Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator
$[\cdot,\cdot]_{ heta}$	complex interpolation functor
$(\cdot,\cdot)_{ heta,q}$	real interpolation functor
$[(E_{\alpha}, A_{\alpha}); \alpha \in \mathbb{R}]$	interpolation-extrapolation scale
$\mathcal{D}(A)$	domain of the operator $A$
$\sigma(A)$	spectrum of the operator $A$
$\varrho(A)$	resolvent set of the operator A63
$\mathcal{H}(E_1, E_0)$	infinitesimal generators of a strongly continuous analytic semi- group on $E_0$
$\Omega_r$	intersection of the ball $B_r(x_0)$ with $\Omega \dots 87$
$\mathcal{P}(E)$	positive operators
$\mathcal{BIP}(E)$	operators with bounded imaginary powers
BUC	bounded uniformly continuous functions
$\mathcal{C}^k$	k-times continuously differentiable functions 10
$\mathcal{C}^{k,lpha}$	Hölder continuous functions10
$L^p(\Omega)$	Lebesgue spaces
$L^q_\sigma(\Omega)$	functions form Lebesgue spaces which are divergence-free and have zero normal component on $\partial\Omega$
$L^{\Phi}(\Omega)$	Orlicz spaces
$W^{k,p}(\Omega)$	Sobolev spaces
$W^{s,q}(\Omega)$	Sobolev-Slobodeckiĭ spaces
Ι	finite time interval

$W^{1,\Phi}_{\sigma}(\Omega)$	functions from Orlicz spaces which are divergence-free and have zero normal component on $\partial\Omega$ 10
$W^{1,\Phi}_{\nu}(\Omega)^n$	functions from Orlicz spaces which have zero normal component on $\partial\Omega$
$B^s_{p,q}(\Omega)$	Besov spaces
$H^s_q(\Omega)$	Bessel potential spaces
$L^q(I, E)$	Bochner spaces
$W^{\alpha,q}(I,E)$	Bochner spaces
$\langle\cdot,\cdot angle$	duality pairing62
$I\times \Omega$	time space cylinder
$\chi_{\Omega}$	characteristic function of $\Omega$
ν	outward normal vector to $\partial \Omega$
au	tangent vector to $\partial\Omega$

## Bibliography

- ABELS, H., TERASAWA, Y.: On Stokes operators with variable viscosity in bounded and unbounded domains, Math. Ann. 344 (2009), no. 2, 381-429.
- [2] ACERBI, E., MINGIONE, G.: Gradient estimates for a class of parabolic systems, Duke Math. J. **136** (2007), no. 2, 285–320.
- [3] AMANN, H.: Linear and quasilinear parabolic problems, Volume I: Abstract Linear Theory, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1995.
- [4] AMANN, H.: On the strong solvability of the Navier-Stokes Equations, J. Math. Fluid Mech. 2 (2000), 16–98.
- [5] AMROUCHE, C., GIRAULT, V.: Decomposition of vector spaces and application to the Stokes problem in arbitrary dimension, Czechoslovak Math. J. 44 (1994), no. 119, 109–140.
- [6] ARADA, N.: Optimal control of shear-thinning fluids, SIAM J. Control Optim. 50 (2012), no. 4, 2515—2542.
- [7] ARADA, N.: Optimal control of shear-thickening flows, SIAM J. Control Optim. 51 (2013), no. 3, 1940–1961.
- [8] BEIRÃO DA VEIGA, H.: On the regularity of flows with Ladyzhenskaya shear-dependent viscosity and slip or nonslip boundary conditions, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 58 (2005), no. 4, 552–557.
- [9] BEIRÃO DA VEIGA, H.: Navier-Stokes equations with shear-thickening viscosity: Regularity up to the boundary, J. Math. Fluid Mech. 11 (2009), no. 2, 233–257.
- [10] BEIRÃO DA VEIGA, H.: Navier-Stokes equations with shear-thinning viscosity: Regularity up to the boundary, J. Math. Fluid Mech. 11 (2009), no. 2, 258–273.
- [11] BEIRÃO DA VEIGA, H.: On the Ladyzhenskaya-Smagorinsky turbulence model of the Navier-Stokes equations in smooth domains. The Regularity Problem, J. Eur. Math. Soc. 11 (2009), no. 1, 127–167.

- [12] BEIRÃO DA VEIGA, H., KAPLICKÝ, P., RŮŽIČKA, M.: Boundary regularity of shear thickening flows, J. Math. Fluid Mech. 13 (2011), no. 3, 387–404.
- [13] BERGH, J., LÖFSTRÖM, J.: Interpolation spaces, an introduction. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1976, x + 204 pp.
- [14] BULÍČEK, M., GWIAZDA, P., MÁLEK, J., RAJAGOPAL, K. R. AND ŚWIERCZEVSKA-GWIAZDA, A.: On flows of fluids described by an implicit constitutive equation characterized by a maximal monotone graph, London Mathematical Society Lecture Notes Series (No. 402), Cambridge University Press, 26–56, 2012.
- [15] BULÍČEK, M., GWIAZDA, P., MÁLEK, J. AND ŚWIERCZEVSKA-GWIAZDA, A.: On unsteady flows of implicitly constituted incompressible fluids, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 44 (2012), No. 4, 2756–2801.
- [16] BULÍČEK, M., MÁLEK, J. AND RAJAGOPAL, K. R.: Mathematical analysis of unsteady flows of fluids with pressure, shear-rate and temperature dependent moduli, that slip at solid boundaries, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 41 (2009), No. 2, 665–707.
- [17] CAFFARELLI, L., A.: Interior a priori estimates for solutions of fully nonlinear equations, Ann. of Math 130 (1989), no. 2, 189–213.
- [18] CAFFARELLI, L., A., PERAL, I.: On W<sup>1,p</sup> Estimates of elliptic equation in divergence form, Comm. Pure and Appl. Math., 51 (1998), 1–21.
- [19] DENK, R., HIEBER, M., PRÜSS, J.: *R-Boundedness, Fourier multipliers* and problems of elliptic and parabolic type, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 166 (2003), no. 788, viii+114 pp.
- [20] DESVILLETTES, L., VILLANI, C.: On a variant of Korn's inequality arising in statistical mechanics, ESIAM: Control, Optimisation and Calculus of Variations 8 (2002), 603–619.
- [21] DIENING, L.: Theoretical and numerical results for electrorheological fluids, Freiburg: Albert-Ludwigs-Universität 2002, Ph.D. Thesis.
- [22] DIENING, L., ETTWEIN, F.: Fractional estimates for non-differentiable elliptic system with general growth, Forum Mathematicum 20 (2008), no. 3, 523–556.
- [23] DIENING, L., KAPLICKÝ, P.: L<sup>q</sup> theory for a generalized Stokes system, Manuscripta Mathematica 141 (2013), no. 1-2, 336–361.
- [24] DIENING, L., KAPLICKÝ, P., SCHWARZACHER, S.: BMO estimates for the p-Laplacean, Nonlinear Analysis 75 (2012) 637–650.

- [25] DIENING, L., KAPLICKÝ, P., SCHWARZACHER, S.: Campanato estimates for the generalized Stokes system, Annali di Matematica, published online: 20 July 2013.
- [26] DIENING, L., RŮŽIČKA, M.: Interpolation operators in Orlicz Sobolev spaces, Num. Math. 107 (2007), no. 1, 107–129.
- [27] DIENING, L., RŮŽIČKA, M., SCHUMACHER, K.: A decomposition technique for John domains, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math. 35 (2010), no. 1, 87–114.
- [28] DORE, G., VENNI, A.: On the closedness of the sum of two closed operators, Math. Z. 196 (1987), 189–201.
- [29] EBMEYER, C.: Regularity in Sobolev spaces of steady flows of fluids with shear-dependent viscosity, Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences, 29, no. 14, 1687–1707.
- [30] ENGEL, K.-J., NAGEL, R.: One-parameter semigroups of linear evolution equations, With contributions by S. Brendle, M. Campiti, T. Hahn, G. Metafune, G. Nickel, D. Pallara, C. Perazzoli, A. Rhandi, S. Romanelli and R. Schnaubelt. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 194. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2000. xxii+586 pp.
- [31] FREHSE, J., MÁLEK, J. AND STEINHAUER, M. An existence result for fluids with shear dependent viscosity - steady flows, Non. Anal. Theory Meth. Appl. **30** (1997), 3041–3049.
- [32] FREHSE, J., MÁLEK, J. AND STEINHAUER, M. On existence result for fluids with shear dependent viscosity - unsteady flows, Partial Differential Equations, Chapman and Hall, 2000, 121–129.
- [33] FRESE, J., SEREGIN, G.: Full regularity for a class of degenerated parabolic systems in two spatial variables, Manuscripta Math. **99** (1999), 517–539.
- [34] GALDI, G.P.: An introduction to the mathematical theory of the Navier-Stokes equations I, Springer Tracts in Natural Philosophy, Vol. 38, Springer Verlag, New York, 1994.
- [35] GIAQUINTA, M.: Multiple integral in the calculus of variations and nonlinear elliptic systems, Annals of Mathematics Studies n. 105, Princeton University Press, 1983, 1–296.
- [36] GIGA, Y.: Domains of fractional powers of the Stokes operator in  $L_r$  spaces, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. **89** (1985), 251–265.
- [37] GIGA, M., GIGA, Y., SOHR, H.: L<sup>p</sup> estimates for the Stokes system, Functional analysis and related topics, 1991 (Kyoto), vol. 1540 of Lecture Notes in Math., Springer, Berlin, 1993, 55–67.

- [38] GIGA, Y., SOHR, H.: On the Stokes operator in exterior domains, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo, Sec. IA 36, (1989), 103–130.
- [39] GIGA, Y., SOHR, H.: Abstract L<sup>p</sup> estimates for the Cauchy problem with applications to the Navier-Stokes equations in exterior domains, J. Func. Anal. **102** (1991), 72–94.
- [40] GURTIN, M. E.: An introduction to continuum mechanics, Academic Press, New York, 1981.
- [41] HAASE, M.: The functional calculus for sectorial operators, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, 169. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2006. xiv+392 pp.
- [42] HABERMANN, J.: Calderón-Zygmund estimates for higher order systems with p(x) growth, Math. Z. **258**(2) (2008), 427–462.
- [43] HLAVÁČEK, I., NEČAS, J.: On ineq. of Korn's type, Arch. Ratl. Mech. Anal. 36 (1970), 305–311.
- [44] HLAVÁČEK, I., NEČAS, J.: On ineq. of Korn's type II, Arch. Ratl. Mech. Anal. 36 (1970), 312–334.
- [45] HOPF, E.: Über die Angangswertaufgabe für die Hydrodynamischen Gleichungen, Math. Nachrichten 4 (1951) 213–231.
- [46] IWANIEC, T.: On L<sup>p</sup>-integrability in PDEs and quasiregular mappings for large exponents, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Ser. A I Math. 7(2) (1982), 301–322.
- [47] IWANIEC, T.: Projection onto gradient fields and  $L^p$ -estimates for degenerated elliptic operators, Studia Math. **75**(3) (1983), 293–312.
- [48] KAPLICKÝ, P.: Regularity of flow of anisotropic fluid, J. Math. Fluid Mech. 10 (2008), 71–88.
- [49] KAPLICKÝ, P.: Regularity of flows of a non-Newtonian fluid subject to Dirichlet boundary conditions, Journal for Analysis and its Applications, 24, (2005), no. 3, 467–486.
- [50] KAPLICKÝ, P., MÁLEK, J. AND STARÁ, J.: On Global existence of smooth two-dimensional steady flows for a class of non-Newtonian fluids under various boundary conditions, Applied Nonlinear Analysis, New York, Kluwer/Plenum, 1999, 213–229.
- [51] ΚΑΡLICKÝ, P., MÁLEK, J. AND STARÁ, J.: C<sup>1,α</sup>-solutions to a class of nonlinear fluids in two dimensions - stationary Dirichlet problem, Zap. Nauchn. Sem. S.-Peterburg. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (POMI) **259** (1999), 89–121.

- [52] KAPLICKÝ, P., MÁLEK, J. AND STARÁ, J.: Global-in-time Hölder continuity of the velocity gradients for fluids with shear-dependent viscosities, NoDEA Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl. 9 (2002), 175–195.
- [53] KAPLICKÝ, P., PRAŽÁK, D.: Differentiability of the solution operator and the dimension of the attractor for certain power-law fluids, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **326** (2007), no. 1, 75–87.
- [54] KAPLICKÝ, P., TICHÝ, J.: Boundary regularity of flows under perfect slip boundary conditions, Cent. Eur. J. Math., 11(7) (2013), 1243–1263.
- [55] KRASNOSEL'SKIĬ, M. A., RUTICKIĬ, Y. B.: Convex functions and Orlicz spaces, (Russian) Gosudarstv. Izdat. Fiz.-Mat. Lit., Moscow. 1958. English transl.: P. Noordhoff, Groningen, 1961.
- [56] KRISTENSEN, J., MINGIONE, G.: The singular set of minima of integral functionals, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 180 (2006), no. 3, 331–398.
- [57] KRISTENSEN, K., MINGIONE, G.: Boundary regularity in variational problems, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 198 (2010), no. 2, 369–455.
- [58] KUNSTMANN, P., WEIS, L.: Maximal L<sup>p</sup> regularity for parabolic equations, Fourier multiplier theorems and H<sup>∞</sup>− functional calculus, Functional analytic methods for evolution equations, Lecture Notes in Math., 1855, Springer, Berlin, (2004) 65—311.
- [59] LADYZHENSKAYA, O. A.: New equations for the description of the motions of viscous incompressible fluids, and global solvability for their boundary value problems, Proc. Stek. Inst. Math. **102** (1967), 95–118.
- [60] LADYZHENSKAYA, O. A.: On some new equations describing dynamics of incompressible fluids and on global solvability of boundary value problems to these equations, Proc. Stek. Inst. Math. 102 (1967), 85–104.
- [61] LADYZHENSKAYA, O. A.: On some modifications of the Navier-Stokes equations for large gradients of velocity, Zapiski Naukhnych Seminarov LOMI 7 (1968), 126–154.
- [62] LADYZHENSKAYA, O. A.: The mathematical theory of viscous incompressible flow, New York London Paris: Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, 1969.
- [63] LERAY, J.: Étude de diverses équations intégrales non linéaires et de quelques problemes de l'hydrodynamique, Journ. de Math. 12, No. 2 (1933) 1–82.
- [64] LERAY, J.: Sur le mouvement d'un liquide visqueux emplissant l'espace, Acta Math., 63 (1934) 193–248.

- [65] LIONS, J.-L.: Quelques méthodes de résolution des problemes aux limites non linéaires, Etudes mathématiques, Paris: Dunod; Paris: Gauthier-Villars, 1969.
- [66] MÁCHA, V., TICHÝ, J.: Higher integrability of generalized Stokes system under perfect slip boundary conditions, submitted to J. Math. Fluid Mech.
- [67] MÁLEK, J., NEČAS, J., ROKYTA, M. AND RŮŽIČKA, M.: Weak and measure-valued solutions to evolutionary PDEs, Vol. 13 of Applied Mathematics and Mathematical Computation. Chapman & Hall, London, 1996.
- [68] MÁLEK, J., NEČAS, J. AND RŮŽIČKA, M.: On a weak solution to a class of non-Newtonian incompressible fluids in bounded three-dimensional domains: the case  $p \ge 2$ , Adv. Differential Equations 6 (2001), 257–302.
- [69] MÁLEK, J., PRAŽÁK, D. AND STEINHAUER, M.: On the existence and regularity of solutions for degenerate viscosity power-law fluids, Differential Integral Equations 19 (2006), 449–462.
- [70] MÁLEK, J., RAJAGOPAL, K. R.: Mathematical issues concerning the Navier-Stokes equations and some of its generalization, In Evolutionary equations. Voll II, Handb. Differ. Equ. Elsevier/North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2005, 371-459.
- [71] NAVIER, C. L. M. H. Mémoire sur les lois du mouvement des fluides, Mem. Acad. R. Sci. Paris, 1823, 389–416.
- [72] NEČAS, J., ŠVERÁK, V.: On regularity of solutions of nonlinear parabolic systems, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. 18 (1991)(4), 1–11.
- [73] OSEEN, C. W.: Neuere Methoden in der Hydrodynamik, Leipzig, Akad. Verlagsgesellschaft M.B.H., 1927.
- [74] NEWTON, I.: Philosophiae naturalis principia mathematica, J. Societatis Regiae ac Typis J. Streater, London, 1687.
- [75] PEETRE, J.: A new approach in interpolation spaces, Studia Math. **34** (1970), 23–42.
- [76] POKORNÝ, M.: Navier-Stokes Equations, teaching electronic text of Charles University in Prague, Faculty of Mathematics and Physics, http://www.karlin.mff.cuni.cz/~ pokorny/NavierandStokes\_eng.pdf
- [77] RAJAGOPAL, K. R.: On implicit constitutive theories, Appl. Math. 48 (2003), 279–319.
- [78] RAJAGOPAL, K. R.: On implicit constitutive theories for fluids, J. Fluid. Mech., 550 (2006), 243–249.

- [79] RAJAGOPAL, K. R., SRINIVASA, A. R. : On the thermodynamics of fluid defined by implicit constitutive relations, Z. Angew. Math. Phys., 29 (2008), 715–729.
- [80] RAO, M. M., REN, Z. D.: Theory of Orlicz Spaces, Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics, vol. 146, Marcel Dekker Inc., New York, 1991.
- [81] SHIBATA, Y., SHIMADA, R.: On a generalized resolvent estimate for the Stokes system with Robin boundary condition, J. Math. Soc. Japan 59(2) (2007), 469–519.
- [82] SHIMADA, R.: On the  $L_p L_q$  maximal regularity for Stokes equations with Robin boundary condition in a bounded domain, Math. Methods Appl. Sci. **30** (2007), no. 3, 257–289.
- [83] STEIGER, O.: Navier-Stokes equations with first order boundary conditions, J. Math. Fluid Mech. 8 (2006), no. 4, 456—481.
- [84] STOKES, G. G.: On the theories of the internal friction of fluids in motion, and of the equilibrium and motions of elastic solids, Trans. Cambridge Phil. Soc., 1845, 287–305.
- [85] TICHÝ, J.: Regularity of planar flows for shear-thickening fluids under perfect slip boundary conditions, Electron. J. Diff. Equ., Vol. 2014 (2014), No. 70, pp. 1–20.
- [86] TROIANIELLO, G.M.: Elliptic differential equations and obstacle problems, Plenum Press, New York, 1987.
- [87] WACHSMUTH, D., ROUBÍČEK, T.: Optimal control of planar flow of incompressible non-Newtonian fluids, Z. Anal. Anwend. 29 (2010), no. 3, 351—376.
- [88] VERDE, A.: Calderón-Zygmund estimates for systems of φ-growth, J. Convex Anal. 18, (2011), 67–84.
- [89] WOLF, J.: Interior C<sup>1,α</sup>-regularity of weak solutions to the equations of stationary motion to certain non-Newtonian fluids in two dimensions, Boll. U.M.I. 8 (2007) no. 10-B, 317–340.
- [90] ZIEMER, W.P.: Weakly differentiable functions, Sobolev spaces and functions of bounded variation, vol. 120 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. New York: Springer 1989.